# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): December 15, 2015

# RESTORGENEX CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

**Delaware** (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

**000-24477** (Commission File Number) **30-0645032** (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

2150 East Lake Cook Road, Suite 750 Buffalo Grove, Illinois (Address of principal executive offices)

**60089** (Zip Code)

(847) 777-8092 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

## **Not Applicable**

(Former name or former address, if changed since last report)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following

orov	visions:
	Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b))
	Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c))

#### Item 1.01. Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Agreement and Plan of Merger

On December 15, 2015, RestorGenex Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("RestorGenex" or the "Company"), entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the "Merger Agreement") with Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC, a Virginia limited liability company ("Diffusion"), and Arco Merger Sub, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company ("Merger Sub"). The Merger Agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into Diffusion (the "Merger"), with Diffusion continuing as the surviving company and a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.

At the effective time of the Merger (the "Effective Time"), each outstanding unit of membership interest of Diffusion (the "Diffusion Units") and each convertible promissory note convertible into Diffusion Units (the "Diffusion Convertible Notes") will be converted into the right to receive a number of shares of RestorGenex common stock as determined pursuant to the exchange ratio described in the Merger Agreement (the "Exchange Ratio"). In addition, at the effective time and as a result of the Merger, all outstanding options to purchase Diffusion Units will be converted into and become options to purchase RestorGenex common stock on terms substantially identical to those in effect prior to the Effective Time, except for adjustments to the underlying number of shares and the exercise price based on the Exchange Ratio. No fractional shares of RestorGenex common stock will be issued in connection with the Merger, and holders of Diffusion Units and Diffusion Convertible Notes will be entitled to receive cash in lieu thereof.

Following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, the current equity holders of Diffusion are expected to own approximately 83% of the common stock of the combined company, and current stockholders of RestorGenex are expected to own approximately 17% of the common stock of the combined company, in each case, on a fully-diluted basis (subject to certain exceptions and adjustments) and calculated in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement. The Exchange Ratio is subject to potential adjustment as described in the Merger Agreement depending upon the amount of "net cash" of RestorGenex, as defined in the Merger Agreement and generally consisting of RestorGenex's cash and cash equivalents less certain expenses and liabilities, as of the Effective Time. The Merger is intended to qualify as an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, as of the Effective Time: (i) the board of directors of the combined company will consist of each of the current members of the board of directors of Diffusion and (ii) the current executive officers of Diffusion will become the executive officers of the combined company. Each of RestorGenex's current directors and executive officers will resign immediately prior to the Effective Time.

Consummation of the Merger is subject to a number of conditions, including (i) the adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby by Diffusion's members; (ii) the filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and delivery to RestorGenex's stockholders of an information statement on Schedule 14f-1 related to the change in the majority of the board of directors of RestorGenex in connection with the Merger; (iii) that each of the current directors and executive officers of RestorGenex and Diffusion enter into a voting and lock-up agreement pursuant to which such persons will agree, for six months after the Merger, to vote all of their respective shares of RestorGenex common stock owned after the Merger for such proposals that are reasonably presented by the combined company's board of directors and to not sell, pledge, encumber or take certain other actions with respect to such shares; and (iv) other customary closing conditions. In addition, the obligation of Diffusion to effect the Merger is subject to a condition that RestorGenex's net cash, as calculated pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, be no less than \$6.5 million at the Effective Time.

Each of RestorGenex and Diffusion have made customary representations, warranties and covenants in the Merger Agreement, including among others, covenants that (i) each party will conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice during the interim period between the execution of the Merger Agreement and the consummation of the Merger; (ii) each party will not engage in certain kinds of transactions or take certain actions during such period; and (iii) Diffusion will seek the written consent of its members for the purpose of considering the adoption and approval of the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby and the board of directors of Diffusion will recommend that its members adopt and approve the Merger Agreement, subject to certain exceptions. Each of RestorGenex and Diffusion also has agreed not to solicit proposals relating to alternative business combination transactions or enter into discussions or an agreement concerning any proposals for alternative business combination transactions, subject to exceptions for RestorGenex in the event of its receipt of a "superior proposal."

The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights in favor of each of Diffusion and RestorGenex in certain circumstances. If the Merger Agreement is terminated due to certain triggering events specified in the Merger Agreement, each of RestorGenex and Diffusion may be required to reimburse the other party up to \$400,000 for that party's expenses incurred in connection with the transaction.

The foregoing description of the Merger Agreement does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the full text of the Merger Agreement, which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this current report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference. The Merger Agreement and related description are intended to provide you with information regarding the terms of the Merger Agreement and are not intended to modify or supplement any factual disclosures about Diffusion. In particular, the Merger Agreement and related description are not intended to be, and should not be relied upon as, disclosures regarding any facts and circumstances relating to RestorGenex or Diffusion. The assertions embodied in the representations and warranties made by Diffusion and RestorGenex in the Merger Agreement are qualified by the information contained in confidential disclosure schedules that Diffusion and RestorGenex have delivered to each other in connection with the signing of the Merger Agreement. The representations and warranties also may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from those generally applicable under the securities laws. Stockholders of RestorGenex and equity holders Diffusion are not third-party beneficiaries under the Merger Agreement and should not rely on the representations, warranties and covenants or any descriptions thereof as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of RestorGenex, Diffusion or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties may change after the date of the Merger Agreement.

#### Contingent Value Rights Agreement

RestorGenex has the right in its sole discretion to issue contingent value rights (each, a "CVR" and collectively, the "CVRs") to existing RestorGenex stockholders immediately prior to the completion of the Merger. RestorGenex expects that one CVR will be issued for each share of RestorGenex common stock outstanding as of the record date to be set at a date prior to the completion of the Merger. However, the CVRs will not be certificated and will not be attached to the shares of RestorGenex common stock. Each CVR will be a non-transferable (subject to certain limited exceptions) right to potentially receive certain cash payments in the event RestorGenex receives net cash payments during the five-year period after the distribution of the CVR's as a result of the sale, transfer, license or similar transaction relating to RestorGenex's product currently known as RES-440, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in a contingent value rights agreement to be entered into between RestorGenex and Computershare, Inc. or one of its affiliates, as rights agent (the "CVR Agreement"). The aggregate cash payments to be distributed to the holders of the CVRs, if any, will be equal to the amount of net cash payments received by RestorGenex as a result of the sale, transfer, license or similar transaction relating to RES-440, as determined pursuant to the CVR Agreement, but will not exceed \$50 million in the aggregate. Any current RestorGenex option or warrant holder would, at the time of exercise, be entitled to receive one CVR for each share of RestorGenex common stock issued upon exercise of the option and warrant, which would entitle the holder to a pro rata portion of any CVR payments made.

The foregoing description of the CVR Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the CVR Agreement, which will be finalized by the parties thereto prior to the Effective Time.

### Item 7.01. Regulation FD Disclosure.

On December 15, 2015, RestorGenex and Diffusion announced the execution of the Merger Agreement described in Item 1.01 above. A copy of the joint news release is furnished as Exhibit 99.1 to this current report on Form 8-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

The information contained in this Item 7.01 and Exhibit 99.1 to this report shall not be deemed to be "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and shall not be incorporated by reference into any filings made by RestorGenex under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except as may be expressly set forth by specific reference in such filing.

# Item Financial Statements and Exhibits. 9.01.

## (d) Exhibits:

Exhibit No.	Description
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 15, 2015 by and among RestorGenex Corporation, Arco Merger Sub, LLC and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC* (filed herewith)
99.1	Joint News Release issued by RestorGenex Corporation and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC on December 15, 2015 (furnished herewith)

<sup>\*</sup> All exhibits and schedules to the Agreement and Plan of Merger have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. RestorGenex will furnish the omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon request by the SEC.

#### **Forward-Looking Statements**

This current report on Form 8-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this report that address activities, events or developments that RestorGenex expects, believes or anticipates will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements including, in particular, statements about the proposed Merger between RestorGenex and Diffusion, the terms, timing, conditions to and anticipated completion of the proposed Merger, the expected ownership of the combined company and the composition of the combined company's board of directors and management team; the anticipated distribution to RestorGenex's stockholders of CVRs immediately prior to the Merger and the terms, timing and value of such CVRs, the potential benefits of the proposed Merger to RestorGenex's stockholders and Diffusion's members, and the combined company's plans, objectives, expectations and intentions with respect to future operations and products. RestorGenex has identified some of these forward-looking statements with words like "intends," "anticipates," "expects," "plans," "will," "may," "believes," "could," "would," "continue," other words of similar meaning, derivations of such words and the use of future dates. These forward-looking statements are based on RestorGenex's current expectations about future events and are subject to a number of assumptions, risks and uncertainties, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond RestorGenex's control and could cause actual results to differ materially from those matters expressed or implied by RestorGenex's forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are only predictions or statements of current plans and can be affected by inaccurate assumptions RestorGenex might make or by known or unknown risks and uncertainties, including, among others, the failure of Diffusions's members to approve the transaction, the risk that RestorGenex's net cash at closing will be lower than currently anticipated or the failure of either party to meet the other conditions to the closing of the Merger; delays in completing the Merger and the risk that the Merger may not be completed at all; the failure to realize the anticipated benefits from the Merger or delay in realization thereof; the businesses of RestorGenex and Diffusion may not be combined successfully, or such combination may take longer, be more difficult, time-consuming or costly to accomplish than expected; operating costs and business disruption during the pendency of and following the Merger, including adverse effects on employee retention and on business relationships with third parties; the risk that the CVRs may not be distributed prior to the completion of the Merger or at all or may not be paid out or result in any value to RestorGenex's stockholders; the combined company's need for and ability to obtain additional financing; the difficulty of developing pharmaceutical products, obtaining regulatory and other approvals and achieving market acceptance; the marketing success of RestorGenex's and the combined company's licensees or sublicensees; and general business and economic conditions. For more information regarding these and other uncertainties and factors that could cause RestorGenex's actual results to differ materially from what RestorGenex has anticipated in its forward-looking statements or otherwise could materially adversely affect the Merger and RestorGenex's business, financial condition or operating results, see "Part I — Item 1A. Risk Factors" of RestorGenex's annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. The risks and uncertainties described in such report are not exclusive and further information concerning RestorGenex and its business, including factors that potentially could materially affect its financial results or condition, may emerge from time to time. RestorGenex assumes no obligation to update, amend or clarify forward-looking statements to reflect actual results or changes in factors or assumptions affecting such forward-looking statements, except as otherwise required by law. RestorGenex advises you, however, to consult any further disclosures RestorGenex makes on related subjects in its future annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K that RestorGenex files with or furnishes to the SEC.

## **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Dated: December 15, 2015 RESTORGENEX CORPORATION

By: /s/ Stephen M. Simes

Name: Stephen M. Simes
Title: Chief Executive Officer

# RESTORGENEX CORPORATION CURRENT REPORT ON FORM 8-K

## EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.	Description	Method of Filing
2.1	Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 15, 2015 by and among	Filed herewith
	RestorGenex Corporation, Arco Merger Sub, LLC and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC*	
99.1	Joint News Release issued by RestorGenex Corporation and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC on December 15, 2015	Furnished herewith

<sup>\*</sup> All exhibits and schedules to the Agreement and Plan of Merger have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. RestorGenex will furnish the omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon request by the SEC.

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

BY AND AMONG

RESTORGENEX CORPORATION,

ARCO MERGER SUB, LLC

AND

DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS LLC

DATED AS OF DECEMBER 15, 2015

# **Table of Contents**

ARTI	CLE I	The Merger	2
	Section 1.1	The Merger	2
	Section 1.2	Closing	2
	Section 1.3	Effective Time	2
	Section 1.4	Effects of the Merger	2
	Section 1.5	Organizational Documents	2
	Section 1.6	Officers and Directors	3
ARTI	CLE II	Effect on Diffusion Units and Merger Sub Membership Interests; Exchange of Documentation	3
	Section 2.1	Effect on Diffusion Units and Merger Sub Membership Interests	3
	Section 2.2	Exchange of Documentation	5
	Section 2.3	Treatment of Diffusion Unit Options.	8
	Section 2.4	Further Assurances	9
ARTI	CLE III	Representations And Warranties Of Parent And Merger Sub	9
	Section 3.1	Corporate Organization	10
	Section 3.2	Capitalization	11
	Section 3.3	Corporate Authorization	12
	Section 3.4	Governmental Authorization	13
	Section 3.5	Non-Contravention	13
	Section 3.6	Parent SEC Filings	14
	Section 3.7	Parent Financial Statements	15
	Section 3.8	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	15
	Section 3.9	Undisclosed Liabilities	15
	Section	Compliance with Laws	15
	3.10	•	
	Section	Litigation	17
	3.11		
	Section	Title to Properties; Absence of Liens	17
	3.12		
	Section	Opinion of Financial Advisor	17
	3.13		
	Section	Taxes.	17
	3.14		
	Section	Employee Benefit Plans.	19
	3.15		
	Section	Employees; Labor Matters	21
	3.16		
	Section	Environmental Matters	21
	3.17		
	Section	Intellectual Property.	22
	3.18		

	Section 3.19	Parent Material Contracts	25
	Section 3.20	Brokers' and Finders' Fees	26
	Section 3.21	Takeover Laws	26
	Section 3.22	Affiliate Transactions	26
	Section 3.23	Regulatory Matters.	26
	Section 3.24	Insurance	28
	Section 3.25	Disclosure	28
ARTI	CLE IV Repre	esentations and Warranties of Diffusion	29
	Section 4.1	Corporate Organization	29
	Section 4.2	Capitalization	29
	Section 4.3	Company Authorization	30
	Section 4.4	Governmental Authorization	31
	Section 4.5	Non-Contravention	31
	Section 4.6	Diffusion Financial Statements	32
	Section 4.7	Insurance	32
	Section 4.8	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	32
	Section 4.9	Undisclosed Liabilities	32
	Section 4.10	Compliance with Laws	33
	Section 4.11	Litigation	34
	Section 4.12	Title to Properties; Absence of Liens	34
	Section 4.13	Taxes.	34
	Section 4.14	Employee Benefit Plans.	36
	Section 4.15	Employees; Labor Matters	37
	Section 4.16	Environmental Matters	38
	Section 4.17	Intellectual Property.	39
	Section 4.18	Diffusion Material Contracts	41
	Section 4.19	Brokers' and Finders' Fees	42
	Section 4.20	Takeover Laws	43
	Section 4.21	Affiliate Transactions	43
	Section 4.22	Regulatory Matters	43
	Section 4.23	Disclosure	44

ARTICLE V	Covenants Relating to Conduct of Business	45
Section 5.1	Conduct of Businesses Prior to the Effective Time	45
Section 5.2	Parent Forbearances	45
Section 5.3	Diffusion Forbearances	48
Section 5.4	Control of Other Party's Business	50
Section 5.5	Solicitation	51
Section 5.6	Fees and Expenses; Transfer Taxes	54
ARTICLE VI	Additional Agreements	56
Section 6.1	Issuance of Merger Consideration	56
Section 6.2	Access to Information; Confidentiality	56
Section 6.3	Required Actions	57
Section 6.4	Indemnification and Directors and Officers Insurance	59
Section 6.5	Transaction Litigation	61
Section 6.6	Governance Matters	62
Section 6.7	Public Announcements	62
Section 6.8	Contingent Value Rights	62
Section 6.9	Certain Tax Matters	63
Section	FIRPTA Certificate	64
6.10		
Section	Diffusion Registration Rights	64
6.11		
Section	Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount; Post-Closing Adjustment	66
6.12		
ARTICLE VII	Conditions	67
Section 7.1	Conditions to Each party's Obligation to Effect the Merger	67
Section 7.2	Conditions to Obligations of Parent	68
Section 7.3	Conditions to Obligations of Diffusion	68
Section 7.4	Frustration of Closing Conditions	69
ARTICLE VIII	Termination	70
Section 8.1	Termination	70
Section 8.2	Effect of Termination	71
ARTICLE IX	Miscellaneous	71
Section 9.1	No Survival of Representations and Warranties	71
Section 9.2	Amendment or Supplement	72
Section 9.3	Extension of Time; Waiver	72
Section 9.4	Assignment	72

Section 9.5	Counterparts	72
Section 9.6	Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries	72
Section 9.7	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial	72
Section 9.8	Specific Performance	73
Section 9.9	Notices	74
Section 9.10	Severability	75
Section 9.11	Definitions	75
Section 9.12	Waiver of Conflict Regarding Representation	85
Section 9.13	Interpretation	86

# **Exhibits**

Exhibit A	Form of Articles of Merger
Exhibit B	Amended and Restated Operating Agreement of the Surviving Company
Exhibit C	Form of Letter of Transmittal
Exhibit D	Governance Matters
Exhibit E	Form of Accredited Investor Questionnaire
Exhibit F	Form of Contingent Value Rights Agreement
Exhibit G	Form of Parent Board Resignation
Exhibit H	Form of Voting and Lock-Up Agreement

# **Index of Defined Terms**

Accredited Holders	75	Diffusion Permits	77
Acquisition Proposal	51	Diffusion Real Property Leases	34
Affiliate	75	Diffusion Related Parties	77
Agreement	1	Diffusion Rollover Option	8
Articles of Merger	2	Diffusion Tail Policy	60
Bankruptcy and Equity Exception	12	Diffusion Unit	3
Benefit Plan	75	Diffusion Units	3
Business Day	75	Diffusion Units Option	77
Certificates	5	Dispute	66
Change in Diffusion Board Recommendation	52	Dispute Notice	66
Change in Parent Board Recommendation	53	Disputed Items	66
Closing	2	Effective Time	2
Closing Date	2	Environmental Law	77
Closing Diffusion Share Amount	82	Equity Equivalents	77
Code	1	ERISA	77
Contract	76	Estimated Net Cash Schedule	66
Control	64	Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount	66
Copyrights	79	Estimated Per Share Exchange Ratio	77
Current Representation	86	Estimated Per Share Number	77
CVR	62	Exchange Act	77
CVR Agreement	76	Exchange Fund	5
CVRs	62	Existing Diffusion Articles	2
Delaware Law	26	Existing Diffusion Operating Agreement	2
Designated Person	86	Existing Parent Bylaws	10
Diffusion	1	FCPA	16
Diffusion Award Plans	76	Final Parent Net Cash Amount	67
Diffusion Benefit Plan	76	FIRPTA Compliance Certificate	64
Diffusion Board	1	Forfeitures and Cashless Settlements	78
Diffusion Board Recommendation	1	Former Diffusion Holder	78
Diffusion Confidentiality Agreement	57	GAAP	78
Diffusion Convertible Notes	76	Good Clinical Practices	27
Diffusion Disclosure Schedule	29	Good Laboratory Practices	27
Diffusion Financial Statements	32	Good Manufacturing Practices	27
Diffusion Fully Diluted Share Amount	83	Governmental Entity	78
Diffusion Indemnified Party	60	Grant Date	78
Diffusion Information Statement	57	Hazardous Substance	22
Diffusion IPR	76	Health Laws	78
Diffusion IPR Agreements	39	HSR Act	78
Diffusion Leased Real Properties	34	Independent Accountant	78
Diffusion Lock-Up Parties	85	Injunction	78
Diffusion Material Adverse Effect	76	Intellectual Property Rights	78
Diffusion Material Contract	41	Interim Period	50
Diffusion Maximum Premium	61	Investment Company	64
Diffusion Pension Plan	36	IRS	79

Knowledge of Diffusion	79	Knowledge	79
Knowledge of Parent	79	Parent Tail Policy	59
Law	79	Parent Warrants	82
Letter of Transmittal	5	Parent Working Capital Liability Amount	82
Liens	10	Participating Stockholder	65
Merger	2	Patents	79
Merger Consideration	4	Per Share Exchange Ratio	82
Merger Sub	1	Per Share Number	82
Most Recent Audit Date	15	Per Unit Merger Consideration	4
Order	79	Permitted Liens	83
Organizational Documents	79	Person	83
Other Parties	55	Proceeding	16
Outside Date	70	Program	28
Parent	1	Reconstituted Parent Board	62
Parent Benefit Plan	79	Reference Date	13
Parent Board	1	Registrable Securities	83
Parent Board Recommendation	1	Registration Expenses	84
Parent Board Resignations	80	Registration Statement	84
Parent Bonus Payment Amount	80	Release	84
Parent Certificate of Incorporation	10	Representatives	50
Parent Common Stock	4	Required Diffusion Consent	1
Parent Disclosure Schedule	9	Requisite Regulatory Approvals	67
Parent Fully Diluted Share Amount	82	Revised Diffusion Operating Agreement	2
Parent Indebtedness Amount	80	Rights Agent	84
Parent Indemnified Party	59	Schedule 14f-1	57
Parent IPR	80	SEC	84
Parent IPR Agreements	22	Securities Act	84
Parent Leased Real Properties	17	Software	79
Parent Lock-Up Parties	85	Subsidiary	84
Parent Material Adverse Effect	80	Superior Proposal	85
Parent Material Contract	25	Surviving Company	2
Parent Maximum Premium	60	Tax	85
Parent Net Cash Amount	81	Tax Return	85
Parent Notice	53	Taxing Authority	85
Parent Other Liability Amount	81	Total Post-Closing Share Amount	83
Parent Pension Plan	19	Trade Secrets	79
Parent Percentage	83	Trademarks	79
Parent Permits	81	Transaction Expenses	54
Parent Preferred Stock	10	Transfer Taxes	54
Parent Real Property Leases	17	Treasury Regulations	85
Parent Registration	64	Unsurrendered Certificate	6
Parent SEC Documents	13	VA Commission	2
Parent Stock	81	VA LLC Act	1
Parent Stock Option	81	Voting and Lock-Up Agreements	85
Parent Stock Plans	81		
Parent Subsidiaries	82		

#### AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of December 15, 2015, is by and among RestorGenex Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("<u>Parent</u>"), Arco Merger Sub, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent ("<u>Merger Sub</u>"), and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC, a Virginia limited liability company ("<u>Diffusion</u>").

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Parent (the "Parent Board") and the sole member of Merger Sub deem it advisable and in the best interests of each company and its respective stockholders and members that Parent and Merger Sub engage in a business combination;

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of Diffusion (the "<u>Diffusion Board</u>") deems it advisable and in the best interests of the company and its members that Diffusion engages in a business combination;

WHEREAS, the Parent Board, the Diffusion Board and the sole member of Merger Sub have determined that such business combination shall be effected pursuant to the terms of this Agreement through the Merger in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Virginia Limited Liability Company Act, as amended (the "VA LLC Act"), and other applicable Law;

WHEREAS, the respective Boards of Directors of Parent (the "<u>Parent Board Recommendation</u>") and Diffusion (the "<u>Diffusion Board Recommendation</u>") and the sole member of Merger Sub have approved and declared advisable this Agreement and the Merger, and determined that the terms of this Agreement and the Merger are in the respective best interests of Parent, Merger Sub or Diffusion, as the case may be, and the stockholders and members of Parent, Merger Sub and Diffusion, as applicable;

WHEREAS, promptly following the execution of this Agreement, as an inducement to Parent and Merger Sub to enter into this Agreement, Diffusion has agreed to endeavor to obtain and deliver to Parent an executed action by written consent of the members of Diffusion adopting this Agreement, executed by Diffusion members holding at least a majority of the Diffusion Units entitled to vote on such action, all of whom shall be Accredited Holders (the "Required Diffusion Consent");

WHEREAS, Parent, Merger Sub and Diffusion desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger; and

WHEREAS, the parties intend that the Merger will constitute an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE I

#### THE MERGER

Section 1.1 <u>The Merger</u>. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the VA LLC Act, on the Closing Date, Merger Sub shall be merged with and into Diffusion (the "<u>Merger</u>"). At the Effective Time, the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and Diffusion shall continue as the surviving company in the Merger (the "<u>Surviving Company</u>"). As a result of the Merger, Diffusion shall become a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent.

Section 1.2 <u>Closing</u>. The closing (the "<u>Closing</u>") of the Merger shall take place at the offices of Dechert LLP, 1095 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10036, at 10:00 a.m., Eastern time, as promptly as practicable (but in no event later than the third Business Day) following the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver by the party or parties entitled to the benefits thereof of the conditions set forth in <u>Article VII</u> (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver of those conditions), or at such other place, time and date as shall be agreed in writing between Parent and Diffusion. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the "<u>Closing Date</u>."

Section 1.3 <u>Effective Time</u>. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, as soon as practicable on the Closing Date, the parties shall file with the State Corporation Commission of the Commonwealth of Virginia (the "<u>VA Commission</u>") the articles of merger relating to the Merger substantially in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "<u>Articles of Merger</u>"). The Merger shall become effective at the time that the Articles of Merger has been duly filed with the VA Commission (the time the Merger becomes effective being the "<u>Effective Time</u>").

Section 1.4 <u>Effects of the Merger</u>. The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement, the Articles of Merger and the applicable provisions of the VA LLC Act. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all of the property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises of Merger Sub and Diffusion shall be vested in Diffusion as the Surviving Company and all debts, liabilities and duties of Merger Sub and Diffusion as the Surviving Company.

#### Section 1.5 Organizational Documents.

(a) <u>Surviving Company</u>. The articles of organization of Diffusion as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (the "<u>Existing Diffusion Articles</u>") shall be the articles of organization of the Surviving Company until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law. The operating agreement of Diffusion as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time (the "<u>Existing Diffusion Operating Agreement</u>") shall be amended and restated at the Effective Time to read in the form of <u>Exhibit B</u> (the "<u>Revised Diffusion Operating Agreement</u>") and, as so amended and restated, the Revised Diffusion Operating Agreement shall be the operating agreement of the Surviving Company until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

(b) <u>Parent</u>. The Parent Certificate of Incorporation and bylaws of Parent (each as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time) shall be the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of Parent following the Effective Time until thereafter changed or amended as provided therein or by applicable Law.

#### Section 1.6 Officers and Directors.

- (a) Each of the directors of Diffusion immediately prior to the Effective Time shall tender his or her resignation from such position in accordance with Section 5.04 of the Existing Diffusion Operating Agreement, such resignation to be effective as of the Effective Time and conditional upon the consummation of the Merger. As of the Effective Time, the sole member of the Surviving Company shall be Parent.
- (b) The officers of Diffusion immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial officers of the Surviving Company until their respective successors are duly appointed and qualified or upon their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the Organizational Documents of the Surviving Company.

#### ARTICLE II

EFFECT ON DIFFUSION UNITS AND MERGER SUB MEMBERSHIP INTERESTS; EXCHANGE OF DOCUMENTATION

#### Section 2.1 Effect on Diffusion Units and Merger Sub Membership Interests.

- (a) At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent, Diffusion, Merger Sub or the holder of any Diffusion Units (as defined below) or any membership interests of Merger Sub:
- (i) <u>Membership Interests of Merger Sub</u>. Each issued and outstanding membership interest of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one (1) validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable membership interest of the Surviving Company at the Effective Time, and shall constitute the only outstanding membership interests of the Surviving Company. From and after the Effective Time, all certificates representing membership interests of Merger Sub shall be deemed for all purposes to represent the number of membership interests of the Surviving Company into which they were converted in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.
- (ii) <u>Cancellation of Certain Diffusion Units</u>. Each Membership Unit (as defined in the Existing Diffusion Operating Agreement) (each a "<u>Diffusion Unit</u>" and collectively the "<u>Diffusion Units</u>") issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time that is owned by Diffusion, Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(iii) Conversion of Diffusion Units. Subject to Section 2.2(f), each Diffusion Unit issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than Diffusion Units to be canceled in accordance with Section 2.1(a)(ii)) shall be converted into the right to receive the Per Share Number of validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable shares of common stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of Parent ("Parent Common Stock" and, such shares of Parent Common Stock into which each Diffusion Unit is converted pursuant to this Section 2.1(a)(iii), together with any cash paid in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.2(f), the "Per Unit Merger Consideration," and in the aggregate, the "Merger Consideration"). All Diffusion Units converted pursuant to this Section 2.1(a)(iii), when so converted, shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each member of Diffusion holding documentation representing such Diffusion Unit that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, represented a membership interest in Diffusion shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration that such holder has the right to receive under this Section 2.1 and any dividends or other distributions to which holders become entitled upon the surrender of such Diffusion Units in accordance with Section 2.2(d), in each case without interest.

Conversion of Diffusion Convertible Notes. Subject to Section 2.2(f), with respect to each Diffusion Convertible Note issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, the rights of the holders of the Diffusion Convertible Notes to convert such Diffusion Convertible Notes into Diffusion Units pursuant to the terms thereof shall be converted into the right to receive the Per Unit Merger Consideration in respect of each Diffusion Unit that such Diffusion Convertible Note would have otherwise been convertible into pursuant to its terms as of the Effective Time; provided, that, with respect to any such Merger Consideration comprised of Parent Common Stock, if, subsequent to the Effective Time, the number of shares of Parent Common Stock issued and outstanding shall have been changed into a different number of shares or a different class by reason of the occurrence or record date of any dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, split-up, distribution, combination, exchange of stock or similar transaction, the number of shares of Parent Common Stock comprising such Merger Consideration shall be equitably adjusted to reflect fully the effect of such dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, split-up, distribution, combination, exchange of stock or similar transaction, and to provide the holders of Diffusion Convertible Notes the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event. All Diffusion Convertible Notes converted pursuant to this Section 2.1(a)(iv), when so converted, shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist, and each holder of Diffusion Convertible Notes holding documentation representing such Diffusion Convertible Note that, immediately prior to the Effective Time, represented, among other things, the right to receive a certain number of membership interests in Diffusion shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive the Merger Consideration that such holder has the right to receive under this Section 2.1 and any dividends or other distributions to which holders become entitled upon the surrender of such Diffusion Convertible Notes in accordance with Section 2.2(d), in each case without interest.

(b) Adjustments. Notwithstanding any provision of this Article II to the contrary (but without in any way limiting the covenants in Article V), if between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time the number of outstanding shares of capital stock of Parent or the number of outstanding Diffusion Units shall have been changed into a different number of shares or a different class by reason of the occurrence or record date of any dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, split-up, distribution, combination, exchange of stock or similar transaction, the Per Share Number shall be equitably adjusted to reflect fully the effect of such dividend, subdivision, reclassification, recapitalization, split, split-up, distribution, combination, exchange of stock or similar transaction, and to provide the holders of Diffusion Units the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event.

#### Section 2.2 <u>Exchange of Documentation</u>.

- (a) Letter of Transmittal. Prior to the Effective Time, Diffusion shall deliver to each holder of Diffusion Units and Diffusion Convertible Notes a letter of transmittal in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C (the "Letter of Transmittal"), which (i) specifies that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Diffusion Units (or, in the case of holders of Diffusion Convertible Notes, Diffusion Units into which such Diffusion Convertible Notes are convertible) shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the certificates or other instruments evidencing such Diffusion Units or Diffusion Convertible Notes held by such holder (the "Certificates"), if any, to Parent, (ii) includes instructions for use in effecting the surrender of such Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration associated with the Diffusion Units evidenced by the Certificates and (iii) provides for a release of any claims such holder may have against Parent, Diffusion, the Surviving Company or otherwise, in each case, in connection with the Merger. For the avoidance of doubt, the Merger Consideration is in consideration for and based upon the expectation of the enforceability of the obligations contained in the Letters of Transmittal and each Former Diffusion Holder will be required to submit its Letter of Transmittal agreeing to the obligations therein as a condition to receiving the Merger Consideration (other than former holders of Diffusion Unit Options and holders of Diffusion Convertible Notes that do not exercise such options or convert such notes prior to the Effective Time).
- (b) Exchange Fund. Parent shall deliver, or shall cause to be delivered, to Diffusion at the Effective Time, evidence of Parent Common Stock in book-entry form issuable pursuant to Section 2.1 (and/or certificates representing such shares, at Parent's election). Parent shall make available from time to time after the Effective Time as necessary, cash in an amount sufficient to pay any dividends or distributions to which holders of Diffusion Units may be entitled pursuant to Section 2.2(d). All such shares of Parent Common Stock, together with an amount of cash sufficient for payment in lieu of any such fractional shares of Parent Common Stock pursuant to Section 2.2(f), are hereinafter referred to as the "Exchange Fund."

- (c) <u>Exchange Procedures</u>. If a holder of Diffusion Units surrenders to Parent any Certificates, together with a properly executed Letter of Transmittal, prior to the Closing Date, and such holder is the record holder of such Certificate(s) as of the Closing Date, then the holder of such Certificate(s) shall be entitled to receive on the Closing Date (i) shares of Parent Common Stock representing that number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock that such holder has the right to receive in respect of the aggregate number of Diffusion Units previously represented by such Certificate(s) pursuant to Section 2.1(a)(iii) and (ii) a check representing cash in lieu of fractional shares that the holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 2.2(f) and in respect of any dividends or other distributions that the holder has the right to receive pursuant to Section 2.2(d), and such Certificate(s) shall forthwith be canceled. If a holder of Diffusion Units surrenders to Parent any Certificates, together with a properly executed Letter of Transmittal at any time on or after the Closing Date, and such holder is the record holder of such Diffusion Units as of the Closing Date, then the holder of such Certificate shall be entitled to receive as soon as reasonably practicable following the Closing Date in exchange therefor the consideration described in clauses (i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence, and such Certificate(s) shall forthwith be canceled. If payment is to be made to a Person other than the Person in whose name the Certificate surrendered is registered, it shall be a condition of payment that the Certificate so surrendered shall be properly endorsed or otherwise in proper form for transfer and delivered to Parent with all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer and that the Person requesting such payment pay any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of the payment to a Person other than the registered holder of the Certificate surrendered or establish to the satisfaction of Parent that such Tax has been paid or is not applicable. Until surrendered as contemplated by this Section 2.2, each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive, upon such surrender, the Merger Consideration that the holder of such Certificate has the right to receive in respect thereof pursuant to Section 2.1 (and cash in respect of any dividends or other distributions pursuant to Section 2.2(d)). No interest shall be paid or shall accrue on the cash payable upon surrender of any Certificate.
- (d) <u>Treatment of Unexchanged Shares</u>. No dividends or other distributions declared or made with respect to Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any Certificate that was not surrendered prior to the Effective Time (an "<u>Unsurrendered Certificate</u>," and no cash payment in lieu of fractional shares shall be paid to any such holder pursuant to <u>Section 2.2(f)</u>, in each case, until the surrender of such Unsurrendered Certificate in accordance with this <u>Article II</u>. Subject to escheat or other applicable Law, following surrender of any such Unsurrendered Certificate, there shall be paid to the holder thereof, without interest, (i) at the time of such surrender, (x) the amount of any cash that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to <u>Section 2.2(f)</u> and (y) the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time theretofore paid with respect to the number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in exchange for such Unsurrendered Certificate under <u>Section 2.1</u> and (ii) at the appropriate payment date, the amount of dividends or other distributions with a record date after the Effective Time but prior to such surrender and a payment date subsequent to such surrender payable with respect to the number of whole shares of Parent Common Stock issuable in exchange for such Unsurrendered Certificate under <u>Section 2.1</u>.

- (e) No Further Ownership Rights in Diffusion Units. The Parent Common Stock delivered and cash paid in accordance with the terms of this Article II upon conversion of any Diffusion Units shall be deemed to have been delivered and paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Diffusion Units. From and after the Effective Time, (i) all holders of Certificates shall cease to have any rights as members of Diffusion other than the right to receive the Merger Consideration that such holder has the right to receive under Section 2.1 and any dividends or other distributions that holders have the right to receive upon the surrender of such Certificate in accordance with Section 2.2(d), without interest, and (ii) the transfer books of Diffusion shall be closed with respect to all Diffusion Units (and any other membership interests) outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. From and after the Effective Time, there shall be no further registration of transfers on the transfer books of the Surviving Company of Diffusion Units that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, any Certificates formerly representing Diffusion Units are presented to the Surviving Company or Parent for any reason, such Certificates shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this Article II.
- (f) No Fractional Shares. No fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be issued in connection with the Merger, no certificates or scrip representing fractional shares of Parent Common Stock shall be delivered upon the conversion of Diffusion Units pursuant to Section 2.1, and such fractional share interests shall not entitle the owner thereof to vote or to any other rights of a holder of Parent Common Stock. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each holder of Diffusion Units converted pursuant to the Merger who would otherwise have been entitled to receive a fraction of a share of Parent Common Stock (after aggregating all shares represented by the Certificates delivered by such holder) shall receive, in lieu thereof and upon surrender thereof, cash (without interest) in an amount equal to such fractional amount multiplied by the closing price of a share of Parent Common Stock on the OTCQX market on the Closing Date as reported at http://www.otcmarkets.com/stock/RESX/quote or, if not reported therein, in another authoritative source mutually selected by Parent and Diffusion.
- (g) No Liability. None of Parent, Diffusion or Merger Sub shall be liable to any Person in respect of any portion of the Exchange Fund or the Merger Consideration delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, any portion of the Merger Consideration or the cash to be paid in accordance with this Article II that remains undistributed to the holders of Certificates as of the second anniversary of the Effective Time (or immediately prior to such earlier date on which the Merger Consideration or such cash would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Entity), shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of Parent, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.
- (h) <u>Lost Certificates</u>. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent) of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, Parent shall deliver, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger Consideration and any dividends and distributions deliverable in respect thereof pursuant to this Agreement.

(i) Exemption from Registration. The parties agree and acknowledge that the shares of Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are intended to be issued in a transaction exempt from registration under the Securities Act by reason of Section 4(a)(2) thereof and/or Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act and may not be re-offered or resold other than in conformity with the registration requirements of the Securities Act and such other applicable rules and regulations or pursuant to an exemption therefrom. Until the resale by the Former Diffusion Holders of their shares of Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to the terms of this Agreement has become registered (including pursuant to the Parent Registration contemplated by Section 6.11) under the Securities Act, or otherwise transferable pursuant to an exemption from such registration otherwise required thereunder, the shares of Parent Common Stock issued to the Former Diffusion Holders hereunder shall be characterized as "restricted securities" under the Securities Act and, if certificated, shall bear the following legend (or if held in book entry form, will be noted with a similar restriction):

"THE SHARES OF STOCK REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT PURPOSES ONLY, AND THE RESALE OF SUCH SHARES HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR ANY STATE SECURITIES OR BLUE SKY LAWS. SUCH SHARES MAY NOT BE RESOLD OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION WITHOUT AN EXEMPTION UNDER SUCH ACT OR LAWS."

(j) <u>Post-Closing Adjustment</u>. In the event it is finally determined pursuant to <u>Section 6.12(b)</u> that the Final Parent Net Cash Amount is less than the Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount, as soon as reasonably practicable following such determination, Parent shall cause each Former Diffusion Holder that has previously complied with the exchange procedures set forth in <u>Section 2.2(c)</u> and received the Merger Consideration that such Former Diffusion Holder has the right to receive under <u>Section 2.1</u> based upon such Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount to receive (A) a number of additional shares of Parent Common Stock equal to the nearest whole number, rounding down, to the product of (x) the Per Share Number <u>less</u> the Estimated Per Share Number <u>multiplied by</u> (y) the aggregate number of Diffusion Units previously represented by such Former Diffusion Holder's Certificates and (B) a check representing cash in lieu of fractional shares that the holder has the right to receive pursuant to <u>Section 2.2(f)</u> and in respect of any dividends or other distributions that the holder has the right to receive pursuant to <u>Section 2.2(d)</u>.

## Section 2.3 <u>Treatment of Diffusion Unit Options</u>.

(a) Prior to the Effective Time, the Diffusion Board shall adopt such resolutions or take such other actions as may be required to adjust the terms of all outstanding Diffusion Unit Options to provide that, at the Effective Time, each Diffusion Unit Option outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, whether vested or unvested, shall be deemed to constitute an option to acquire, on the same terms and conditions as were applicable under such Diffusion Unit Option (including any vesting or forfeiture provisions or repurchase rights, but taking into account any acceleration thereof provided for in the relevant Diffusion Award Plan or in the related award document by reason of the transactions contemplated hereby), a number of shares of Parent Common Stock (rounded down to the nearest whole share) equal to the product of (x) the number of Diffusion Units subject to such Diffusion Unit Option multiplied by (y) the Per Share Exchange Ratio, at an exercise price per share of Parent Common Stock (rounded up to the nearest whole cent) equal to the quotient of (x) the exercise price per Diffusion Unit subject to such Diffusion Unit Option divided by (y) the Per Share Exchange Ratio (each, a "Diffusion Rollover Option"); provided, however, that such adjustment shall in all events comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code.

- (b) At the Effective Time, and subject to compliance by Diffusion with Section 2.3(a), Parent shall assume all the obligations of Diffusion under the Diffusion Award Plans and each outstanding Diffusion Unit Option and the agreements evidencing the grants thereof. As soon as practicable after the final determination of the Final Parent Net Cash Amount pursuant to Section 6.12(b), Parent shall deliver to the holders of the Diffusion Rollover Options notices explaining the adjustments being made to such Diffusion Rollover Options in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Section 2.3, and the agreements evidencing the grants of such Diffusion Rollover Options shall continue in effect on the same terms and conditions (subject to the adjustments required by this Section 2.3 after giving effect to the Merger).
- (c) Parent shall take all corporate action necessary (including any action required under the applicable Parent Stock Plan and/or Parent Benefit Plan) to reserve for issuance a sufficient number of shares of Parent Common Stock for delivery upon exercise of the Diffusion Rollover Options assumed in accordance with this Section 2.3. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall file a registration statement on Form S-8 (or any successor or other appropriate form) with respect to the shares of Parent Common Stock subject to such Diffusion Rollover Options and shall use its reasonable best efforts to maintain the effectiveness of such registration statement or registration statements (and maintain the current status of the prospectus or prospectuses contained therein) for so long as Parent is subject to the reporting requirements pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act and such Diffusion Rollover Options remain outstanding.

Section 2.4 <u>Further Assurances</u>. If, at any time before or after the Effective Time, Parent or the Surviving Company reasonably believes or is advised that any further instruments, deeds, assignments or assurances are reasonably necessary or desirable to consummate the Merger or to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement at or after the Effective Time, then Parent and the Surviving Company and their respective officers and directors shall execute and deliver all such proper instruments, deeds, assignments or assurances and do all other things reasonably necessary or desirable to consummate the Merger and to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE III

#### Representations And Warranties Of Parent And Merger Sub

Except as set forth in the disclosure letter delivered by Parent to Diffusion concurrently with this Agreement (the "<u>Parent Disclosure Schedule</u>"), Parent and Merger Sub, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to Diffusion as set forth in this <u>Article III</u>. For purposes of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained herein, disclosure in any section of the Parent Disclosure Schedule of any facts or circumstances shall be deemed to be disclosure of such facts or circumstances with respect to all representations or warranties by Parent to which the relevance of such disclosure to the applicable representation and warranty is reasonably apparent on the face thereof. The inclusion of any information in the Parent Disclosure Schedule or other document delivered by Parent pursuant to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be an admission or evidence of the materiality of such item, nor shall it establish a standard of materiality for any purpose whatsoever.

#### Section 3.1 <u>Corporate Organization</u>.

### (a) Parent.

- (i) Parent (x) is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, (y) has all requisite corporate power and authority to own or lease its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now conducted and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted and (z) is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for such variances from the matters set forth in any of clauses (y) or (z) as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (ii) True and complete copies of the Certificate of Incorporation of Parent, as amended through, and as in effect as of, the date of this Agreement (the "Parent Certificate of Incorporation"), and the Bylaws of Parent, as amended through, and as in effect as of, the date of this Agreement (the "Existing Parent Bylaws"), have previously been made available to Diffusion.
- (iii) The Parent Subsidiaries are the only Subsidiaries of Parent. Each Parent Subsidiary (x) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its state of formation or incorporation (which, in each case, is set forth opposite such Subsidiary's name on Section 3.1(a)(iii) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, (y) has all organizational powers and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted, and (z) is duly qualified to do business as a foreign company in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for such variances from the matters set forth in any of clauses (y) or (z) as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

### (b) Merger Sub.

- (i) True and complete copies of the certificate of formation of Merger Sub, as amended through, and as in effect as of, the date of this Agreement, and the operating agreement of Merger Sub, as amended through, and as in effect as of, the date of this Agreement, have previously been made available to Diffusion.
- (ii) Except as contemplated by this Agreement, Merger Sub does not hold and has not held any assets or incurred any liabilities, and has not carried on any business activities other than in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. All of the membership interests of Merger Sub are owned by Parent, free and clear of any liens, pledges, charges and security interests and similar encumbrances ("Liens").

#### Section 3.2 <u>Capitalization</u>.

- (a) As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized capital stock of Parent consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.001, of Parent (the "Parent Preferred Stock"). As of December 14, 2015, (i) 18,614,968 shares of Parent Common Stock and no shares of Parent Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding, (ii) no shares of Parent Stock were held in treasury, (iii) 3,011,498 shares of Parent Common Stock were subject to outstanding Parent Stock Options (of which Parent Stock Options to purchase an aggregate of 1,615,999 shares of Parent Common Stock were exercisable), (iv) 4,785,324 shares of Parent Common Stock were subject to Parent Warrants and (v) 2,495,350 shares of Parent Common Stock were reserved for issuance under the Parent Benefit Plans. Section 3.2 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and correct list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each outstanding Parent Stock Option and Parent Warrant, including, as applicable, the holder, date of grant, exercise price (to the extent applicable), vesting schedule and number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject thereto and each Parent Stock Plan. The shares of Parent Common Stock to be issued pursuant to or as specifically contemplated by this Agreement, when issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, will be duly authorized, validly issued, non-assessable and fully paid.
- As of the date of this Agreement, except for this Agreement, the Parent Stock Options and the Parent Warrants, there are not issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding, and there are not any outstanding obligations of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any Equity Equivalents of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary. Except for Forfeitures and Cashless Settlements in connection with the Parent Stock Options or the Parent Warrants, there are not any outstanding obligations of Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries to directly or indirectly redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock or voting securities of, other equity interests in or Equity Equivalents of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary. Neither Parent nor any of the Parent Subsidiaries is a party to any voting agreement with respect to the voting of any capital stock or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, Parent. All outstanding shares of capital stock of Parent have been, and all shares that may be issued pursuant to any employee stock option or other compensation plan or arrangement or warrant will be, when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued, non-assessable and fully paid, and have been, or will be, issued in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Securities Act and any other applicable securities Laws. The consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby or taken in contemplation of this Agreement will not, as of the Effective Time, trigger any preemptive rights of any Person with respect to the capital stock of Parent, whether by law or otherwise. With respect to the Parent Stock Options, each grant of a Parent Stock Option was duly authorized no later than the Grant Date by all necessary corporate action, including, as applicable, approval by the Parent Board, or a committee thereof, or a duly authorized delegate thereof, and any required approval by the stockholders of Parent by the necessary number of votes or written consents, and the award agreement governing such grant, if any, was duly executed and delivered by each party thereto within a reasonable time following the Grant Date and each such grant was made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Parent Stock Plan and all other applicable Law.
- (c) No bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of Parent having the right to vote on any matters on which stockholders may vote are issued or outstanding.

(d) All of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock or other equity ownership interests of each Subsidiary of Parent are owned by Parent, directly or indirectly, free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens, and free of any restriction on the right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other equity ownership interest (other than restrictions under applicable securities Laws), and all of such shares or equity ownership interests are duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid, non-assessable and free of preemptive rights. Except for the capital stock or other equity ownership interests of the Parent Subsidiaries, as of the date of this Agreement, Parent does not beneficially own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock, membership interest, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity interest in any Person.

### Section 3.3 Corporate Authorization.

- (a) Parent has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Parent of this Agreement and the consummation by Parent of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by the Parent Board. The Parent Board has, by resolutions duly adopted, unanimously determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby are in the best interests of Parent and its stockholders, has approved and adopted this Agreement and the plan of merger herein providing for the Merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, approved the execution, delivery and performance by Parent of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein. No other corporate proceedings on the part of Parent or any other vote by the holders of any class or series of capital stock of Parent are necessary to approve or adopt this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (except for the filing of the Articles of Merger, as required by applicable Law). The stockholders of Parent have no dissenters' or appraisal rights in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby.
- (b) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and, assuming due power and authority of, and due execution and delivery by, the other parties hereto, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Parent, enforceable against Parent in accordance with its terms, subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws affecting the rights of creditors generally and the availability of equitable remedies (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law) (together, the "Bankruptcy and Equity Exception").
- (c) Merger Sub has all necessary power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Merger Sub of this Agreement and the consummation by Merger Sub of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by the sole member of Merger Sub. The sole member of Merger Sub has determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby are in the best interests of Merger Sub. No other company proceeding on the part of Merger Sub is necessary to approve or adopt this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (except for the filing of the Articles of Merger, as required by applicable Law). This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Merger Sub and, assuming due power and authority of, and due execution and delivery by, the other parties hereto, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Merger Sub, enforceable against Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception.

Section 3.4 Governmental Authorization. The execution, delivery and performance by each of Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement and the consummation by each of Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby require at or prior to the Closing no consent or approval by, or filing with, or notification to any Governmental Entity, other than (a) the filing of the Articles of Merger with the VA Commission and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which Parent is qualified to do business, (b) the filing with the SEC and mailing to Parent's stockholders of the Schedule 14f-1 at least ten (10) days prior to the Closing, (c) compliance with any applicable requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any other applicable U.S. federal or state securities Laws or "blue sky" Laws, and any foreign securities Laws and (d) any other consents, approvals or filings the failure of which to be obtained or made would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 3.5 Non-Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by each of Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement do not, and the consummation of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby will not, (a) violate or conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational Documents of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries; (b) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 3.4 and Section 4.4 (and assuming the accuracy and completeness of Section 4.4), violate or conflict with any provision of any applicable Law; (c) violate or conflict with or result in any breach or constitute a default, or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, or cause the termination, cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is entitled, or require consent by any Person under, any loan or credit agreement, note, mortgage, indenture, lease, Parent Benefit Plan, or Parent Material Contract; or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on any asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, except in the case of clause (b), (c) or (d), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

#### Section 3.6 Parent SEC Filings.

- (a) Parent has timely filed all reports, schedules, forms, registration statements and other documents required to be filed by Parent with the SEC since November 1, 2013 (the "Reference Date") (together with any documents furnished during such period by Parent to the SEC on a voluntary basis on Current Reports on Form 8-K and any reports, schedules, forms, registration statements and other documents filed with the SEC subsequent to the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time, collectively, the "Parent SEC Documents"). Each of the Parent SEC Documents, as amended prior to the date of this Agreement, complied (and each Parent SEC Document filed subsequent to the date hereof will comply) in all material respects with, to the extent in effect at the time of filing or furnishing, the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act applicable to such Parent SEC Documents, and none of the Parent SEC Documents when filed or furnished or, if amended prior to the date of this Agreement, as of the date of such amendment, contained, or with respect to Parent SEC Documents filed subsequent to the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time, will contain, any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. There are no unresolved comments received from the SEC staff with respect to the Parent SEC Documents on or prior to the date hereof. To the Knowledge of Parent, none of the Parent SEC Documents filed on or prior to the date hereof is subject to ongoing SEC review or investigation.
- (b) Parent maintains a system of internal control over financial reporting (within the meaning of Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Parent (i) maintains disclosure controls and procedures (within the meaning of Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by Parent in the reports that it files and submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, including that information required to be disclosed by Parent in the reports that it files and submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management of Parent, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure, and (ii) has disclosed, based upon the most recent (prior to the date of this Agreement) evaluation by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer of Parent of Parent's internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any material weaknesses in the design or operation of Parent's internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any material respect its ability to record, process, summarize and report financial data and (B) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in Parent's internal control over financial reporting. Parent has made available to Diffusion true and complete copies of any such disclosure contemplated by clauses (A) and (B) made by management to Parent's independent auditors and the audit committee of the Parent Board since the Reference Date.
- (c) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to, any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership or any similar Contract (including any Contract relating to any transaction or relationship between or among Parent and any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any unconsolidated Affiliate, including any structured finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity, on the other hand, or any "off-balance sheet arrangement" (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act)), where the result, purpose or intended effect of such Contract is to avoid disclosure of any transaction involving, or liabilities of, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in the Parent SEC Documents.

(d) Parent is in compliance in all material respects with the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended.

Section 3.7 <u>Parent Financial Statements</u>. The consolidated financial statements (including all related notes thereto) included in the Parent SEC Documents (if amended, as of the date of the last such amendment) comply as to form in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto, fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries, as at the respective dates thereof, and the consolidated results of their operations, the changes in stockholder's equity and their consolidated cash flows for the respective periods then ended (subject, in the case of the unaudited statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments and to the absence of information or notes not required by GAAP to be included in interim financial statements) and were prepared, in accordance with, and complied, in all material respects with, GAAP during the periods involved (except, in the case of the unaudited statements, for the absence of footnotes and year-end adjustments) applied on a consistent basis (except as may be indicated therein or in the notes thereto).

#### Section 3.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events.

- (a) Since December 31, 2014 (the "Most Recent Audit Date"), no event or events or development or developments have occurred that have had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Except in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, from the Most Recent Audit Date through the date of this Agreement, Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries have carried on their respective businesses in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

Section 3.9 <u>Undisclosed Liabilities</u>. There are no material liabilities or obligations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any nature, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined, determinable or otherwise, whether or not required by GAAP to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of Parent and its Subsidiaries other than: (a) liabilities or obligations reflected or reserved against in Parent's consolidated balance sheet as of the Most Recent Audit Date included in the Parent SEC Documents or in the notes thereto, (b) liabilities or obligations that were incurred since the Most Recent Audit Date in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (c) liabilities or obligations under Contracts to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, other than liabilities or obligations with regard to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has breached or is in default and (d) liabilities that have not resulted in and would not reasonably be expected to result in, individually or in the aggregate, a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 3.10 Compliance with Laws.

(a) Since the Reference Date, the business and operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries have been conducted in compliance with all applicable Laws (including Health Laws and Environmental Laws) except where the failure to so conduct such business and operations or comply with such Laws would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

- (b) All of the Parent Permits are in full force and effect in accordance with their terms and there is no proceeding or investigation to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is subject before a Governmental Entity (including the FDA) that is pending or threatened in writing that would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, failure to renew or suspension of, or placement of a restriction on, any such Parent Permits, except where the failure to be in full force and effect in accordance with their terms, revocation, failure to renew, suspension or restriction would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (c) There is no proceeding to which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is subject before any Governmental Entity pending or threatened in writing regarding whether Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries has violated any applicable Laws (including Health Laws and Environmental Laws), nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, any investigation by any Governmental Entity (including the FDA) pending or threatened in writing with respect to possible violations of any applicable Laws, which, if determined or resolved adversely against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary, nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, any director, officer, agent, employee or Affiliate of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary is aware of any action, or any allegation made by any Governmental Entity of any action, or has taken any action, directly or indirectly, (i) that would constitute a violation by such Persons of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder (the "FCPA"), including making use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay or authorization of the payment of any money, or other property, gift, promise to give, or authorization of the giving of anything of value to any "foreign official" (as such term is defined in the FCPA) or any foreign political party or official thereof or any candidate for foreign political office, in contravention of the FCPA, or (ii) that would constitute an offer to pay, a promise to pay or a payment of money or anything else of value, or an authorization of such offer, promise or payment, directly or indirectly, to any employee, agent or representative of another company or entity in the course of their business dealings with Parent or any Parent Subsidiary, in order to unlawfully induce such person to act against the interest of his or her employer or principal. There is no current, pending, or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened charges, proceedings, investigations, audits, or complaints against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge of Parent, any director, officer, agent, employee or Affiliate of Parent with respect to the FCPA or any other anti-corruption Law or regulation.

Section 3.11 <u>Litigation</u>. There is no action, suit, investigation, claim, complaint, demand, summons, cease and desist letter, subpoena, Injunction, notice of violation or other proceeding (any such proceeding, a "<u>Proceeding</u>") pending or threatened in writing against Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries (or pending against or threatened in writing against any present or former officer, director or employee of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary in connection with which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary has an indemnification obligation) before any Governmental Entity (including the FDA), which, if determined or resolved adversely in accordance with the plaintiff's or claimant's demands, would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to Parent and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole or would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect. There is no Order outstanding against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or would reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.12 <u>Title to Properties</u>; <u>Absence of Liens</u>. Section 3.12 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete description (including address, and for each lease, sublease and license, all amendments, extensions, renewals, guaranties, modifications, supplements or other agreements, if any, with respect thereto) of all real property leased, subleased or licensed by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, the "<u>Parent Real Property Leases</u>"). Parent has delivered or otherwise made available to Diffusion true, correct and complete copies of the Parent Real Property Leases, together with all amendments, extensions, renewals, guaranties, modifications, supplements or other agreements, if any, with respect thereto. Each of the Parent Real Property Leases is in full force and effect. Parent or one of its Subsidiaries has a valid, binding and enforceable leasehold or subleasehold interest (or license, as applicable) in each Parent Leased Real Property, in each case as to such leasehold or subleasehold interest (or license, as applicable), free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens). Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries, nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, any other party thereto is in material default or breach under the terms of any Parent Real Property Lease. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries owns any real property or owns any interests (other than Parent Real Property Leases) in real property. No consents or approvals are necessary under the terms of the Parent Real Property Leases in connection with the Merger.

Section 3.13 Opinion of Financial Advisor. The Parent Board has received an opinion from Raymond James & Associates, Inc., dated as of the date of this Agreement and addressed to the Parent Board to the effect that, as of the date hereof and based upon and subject to the limitations, qualifications and assumptions set forth therein, the Per Share Exchange Ratio is fair, from a financial point of view, to Parent and the holders of Parent Common Stock.

#### Section 3.14 Taxes.

(a) All material Tax Returns required by applicable Law to be filed with any Taxing Authority by, or on behalf of, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries have been duly filed when due (including extensions) in accordance with all applicable Laws, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects.

- (b) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has duly and timely paid or has duly and timely withheld and remitted to the appropriate Taxing Authority all material Taxes due and payable, or, where payment is not yet due, has established in accordance with the applicable accounting standard an adequate accrual for all material Taxes on the most recent financial statements contained in the Parent SEC Documents.
- (c) There is no claim, audit, action, suit, request for written ruling, proceeding or investigation pending or threatened in writing against or with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Tax or Tax Return which (except in the case of a request for a written ruling) if determined adversely would, individually or in the aggregate, be expected to result in a material Tax deficiency, and there are no Liens for Taxes (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of the assets of the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (d) Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has withheld all amounts required to have been withheld by it in connection with amounts paid or owed to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or any other third party; such withheld amounts were either duly paid to the appropriate Taxing Authority or set aside in accounts for such purpose. Parent and each of its Subsidiaries has reported such withheld amounts to the appropriate Taxing Authority and to each such employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or any other third party, as required under applicable Law.
- (e) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is liable for any Taxes of any Person (other than Parent and its Subsidiaries) as a result of being (i) a transferee or successor of such Person, (ii) a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary group that includes such Person as a member or (iii) a party to a tax sharing, tax indemnity or tax allocation agreement or any other agreement to indemnify such Person.
- (f) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date, as a result of (1) any change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date under Section 481 of the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Law), (2) "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (3) intercompany transaction or excess loss account described in Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law), (4) installment sale or open transaction made on or prior to the Closing Date, (5) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date or (6) election under Section 108(i) of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law).
- (g) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has participated or engaged in any "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law). Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any understanding or arrangement described in Section 6662(d)(2)(C)(ii) of the Code or Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b) or is a material advisor as defined in Section 6111(b) of the Code.
- (h) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has (a) been informed by any Taxing Authority in any jurisdiction in which it does not file a Tax Return that it may be required to file a Tax Return in such jurisdiction, or (b) consented to extend the time in which any Tax may be assessed or collected by any taxing authority.

- (i) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has distributed stock of another corporation, or has had its stock distributed by another corporation, in a transaction that was governed, or purported or intended to be governed or described, in whole or in part, by Section 355 or Section 368(a) (1)(D) of the Code.
- (j) As of the date hereof, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken or agreed to take any action, nor does Parent have knowledge of any fact or circumstance, that would prevent the Merger from qualifying as an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Code.
- (k) At all times since its formation, Merger Sub shall have been treated as an entity disregarded as separate from its owner under Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3(b)(1)(ii), and no election for Merger Sub to be treated as a corporation pursuant to Treasury Section 301.7701-3(c) shall have been made.

#### Section 3.15 Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) Set forth on Section 3.15(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule is a true and complete list of each Parent Benefit Plan.
- (b) As applicable with respect to each Parent Benefit Plan, Parent has delivered or made available to Diffusion, true and complete copies of (i) each Parent Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto, and in the case of an unwritten Parent Benefit Plan, a written description thereof, (ii) all current trust documents, investment management contracts, custodial agreements and insurance contracts relating thereto, (iii) the current summary plan description and each summary of material modifications thereto, (iv) the most recently filed annual reports with any Governmental Entity (e.g., Form 5500 and all schedules thereto), (v) the most recent IRS determination, opinion or advisory letter, (vi) the most recent summary annual reports, actuarial reports, financial statements and trustee reports and (vii) all records, notices and filings concerning audits or investigations by any Governmental Entity (e.g., the IRS or U.S. Department of Labor) or "prohibited transactions" within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.
- (c) Each Parent Benefit Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance in all material respects with its terms and any related documents or agreements and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and all other applicable Laws. The Parent Benefit Plans which are "employee pension benefit plans" within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA and which are intended to meet the qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code (each, a "Parent Pension Plan") have received a current determination, opinion or advisory letter from the IRS on which they may rely to the effect that such plans and the relates trusts are qualified and exempt from federal income taxes under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code, respectively, and nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the qualification or tax exempt status of such Parent Pension Plans or the related trusts.

- (d) Neither Parent nor any Subsidiary thereof maintains, contributes to, is required to contribute to, or has any liability or obligation with respect to, any plan, program, contract, agreement or arrangement that is (i) subject to Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a "multiemployer plan" (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), (iii) a "multiple employer plan" (within the meaning of Section 413 of the Code or (iv) a "multiple employer welfare arrangement" (within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA).
- (e) There are no pending audits or investigations by any Governmental Entity involving any Parent Benefit Plan, and no pending, or to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened claims (except for individual claims for benefits payable in the normal operation of the Parent Benefit Plans), suits or proceedings involving any Parent Benefit Plan, any fiduciary thereof or service provider thereto.
- (f) No Parent Benefit Plan provides benefits, including death or medical benefits, beyond termination of service or retirement other than (A) coverage mandated by law or (B) death or retirement benefits under a Parent Benefit Plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code or other Law, and neither Parent nor any Subsidiary thereof has made a written or oral representation to any Person promising the same.
- (g) Except as set forth in Section 3.15(g) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, Parent's execution of, and performance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not either alone or in connection with any other event(s) (i) result in any payment or benefit becoming due to (or increase the amount of payments or benefits owed to) any current or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of Parent or any Subsidiary thereof or (ii) result in the acceleration of the time of payment, funding or vesting of any benefits under any Parent Benefit Plan.
- (h) No payment or benefit which is or may be made by, from or with respect to any Parent Benefit Plan or otherwise to any "disqualified individual" (within the meaning of Code Section 280G and the regulations thereunder) of Parent or any Subsidiary thereof and that is treated as being "contingent" on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under Code Section 280G and the regulations thereunder will or could reasonably be characterized as a "parachute payment" under Section 280G of the Code.
- (i) Parent and each Subsidiary thereof have, for purposes of each Parent Benefit Plan and for all other purposes, correctly classified all individuals performing services for Parent and its Subsidiaries as common law employees, leased employees or independent contractors, as applicable.
- (j) Each Parent Benefit Plan primarily benefitting Persons outside of the United States that provides retirement, termination, long-service or other similar benefits is either fully funded, or the liability for such benefits is fully reflected in the Parent Financial Statements (determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and valuation techniques in the jurisdiction in which such Parent Benefit Plan is maintained).

#### Section 3.16 <u>Employees</u>; <u>Labor Matters</u>.

- (a) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, and there are no labor unions or other labor organizations representing, purporting to represent or, to the Knowledge of Parent, attempting to represent any employees of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in their capacity as such.
- (b) Since the Reference Date, there has not occurred or been threatened in writing any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor activity with respect to any employees of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge of Parent, no labor union or other labor organization is engaged in any organizing campaign with respect to the employment by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any employees of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, and to the Knowledge of Parent, no such organizing activity is threatened. There are no unfair labor practice charges or complaints, labor grievances or labor arbitrations pending or threatened in writing against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, and there is no representation petition or demand for recognition pending or threatened in writing with respect to employment by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries of any employee of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any plant closing or employee layoff activities since the Reference Date that would violate or give rise to an obligation to provide any notice under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or any similar state or local Law.
- (c) Parent and its Subsidiaries have been in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to employment and labor, including all applicable Laws relating to wages, hours, collective bargaining, employment discrimination, civil rights, safety and health, workers' compensation, pay equity, classification of employees, and the collection and payment of withholding and/or social security Taxes, except where noncompliance would not reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Section 3.16(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule lists each employee of Parent and each of its Subsidiaries who was terminated or laid off for any reason other than for cause, or whose hours were reduced by more than 50%, during the ninety (90) days preceding the date of this Agreement, and for each such employee, sets forth: (i) the date of such termination, layoff or reduction in hours; and (ii) the location to which the employee was assigned. No later than the Closing Date, Parent shall update Section 3.16(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule to reflect any employment terminations, layoffs, or reduction in hours by more than 50% effected by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries between the date hereof and the Closing Date.

Section 3.17 Environmental Matters. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, (a) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice, demand, request for information, citation, summons or Order, and no complaint has been filed, no penalty has been assessed, no liability has been incurred, and no investigation, action, written claim, suit or proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, has been threatened in writing by any Governmental Entity or other Person with respect to or arising out of any applicable Environmental Law; (b) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries or predecessors in interest has had a Release of a hazardous or toxic substance, material or waste, pollutant or contaminant, including petroleum, petroleum constituents, infectious materials, medical waste and radioactive materials ("Hazardous Substance") or exposed any Person to any Hazardous Substances at, on, under or from any properties currently or, (at the time owned, leased or operated by Parent, any Parent Subsidiary or any of their respective predecessors in interest), properties formerly owned, leased, or operated by Parent, any Parent Subsidiary or any of their respective predecessors in interest that are reasonably likely to result in any cost, liability or obligation of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary under any applicable Environmental Law; (c) neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has transported, stored, treated, recycled or disposed, or arranged for the transportation, storage, treatment, recycling or disposal, of any Hazardous Substances at any off-site location that is reasonably likely to result in any cost, liability or obligation to remediate by the Parent or any of its Subsidiaries under any applicable Environmental Laws; and (d) neither Parent nor any Subsidiary has expressly assumed by contract or operation of law the environmental liabilities of any other Person.

#### Section 3.18 <u>Intellectual Property</u>.

- (a) Section 3.18(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all (i) Patents, (ii) registered Trademarks, (iii) registered Copyrights and (iv) domain names owned or co-owned by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, specifying as to each such item, as applicable, the owner of record (and co-owner, where applicable), jurisdiction of application and/or registration, the application and/or registration number, the date of application or registration, and the status of application or registration, including without limitation any deadlines for renewals, maintenance fees or other required filings.
- (b) Section 3.18(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all material agreements under which: (i) Parent or any of its Subsidiaries uses or has the right to use any Intellectual Property Rights owned by a third party (other than off-the-shelf software licensed under shrink wrap agreements); (ii) Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has granted a license or sublicense to any third party to use any Intellectual Property Rights; and (iii) any Intellectual Property Right is or have been developed for Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, assigned to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or assigned by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries to a third party (the agreements listed in subsections (i) through (iii) above, the "Parent IPR Agreements").
  - (c) Except as set forth on Section 3.18(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule:
- (i) To the Knowledge of Parent, the Parent IPR, together with the Intellectual Property Rights licensed to Parent under the Parent IPR Agreements, constitutes all of the Intellectual Property Rights necessary to conduct and operate the businesses of the Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.
- (ii) Parent holds the exclusive right, title and interest to the Parent IPR, free and clear of all Liens (other than the Parent IPR Agreements, or non-exclusive licenses granted by Parent or its Subsidiaries (expressly or implicitly) in the ordinary course of business in connection with the sale, lease or transfer of products), adverse claims or other restrictions, or any requirement of any past, present or future royalty payments. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not result in a loss or impairment of, require payment of any amounts with respect to, nor require the consent of any other Person in respect of Parent's and its Subsidiaries' right to own, use or hold for use by Parent or its Subsidiaries, any of the Parent IPR or to use any Intellectual Property Rights licensed under the Parent IPR Agreements in the conduct and operation of the businesses of Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted or conducted within the previous two fiscal years in all material respects.

- (iii) None of the Parent IPR is or has been involved in any opposition, cancellation, interference, reissue or, except as set forth in Section 3.18(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, reexamination proceeding; no material Software owned or co-owned by Parent, or any other Parent IPR, has been placed in escrow; and no Parent IPR is the subject of any Order (excluding rejections, orders or rulings issues in the context of the application for registration of Parent IPR) or any Proceeding. Except for the license agreements listed in Section 3.18(b)(i) and (iii) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, Parent has not granted any options with respect to, or has otherwise encumbered or placed limitations on any Parent IPR or Parent's or its Subsidiaries' use thereof.
- (iv) The Parent IPR are enforceable and in full force and effect. Neither Parent nor its Subsidiaries have received in the past two (2) years any written notice alleging that any Parent IPR or any Parent IPR Agreements are invalid or unenforceable, or challenging Parent's or any of its Subsidiaries' ownership of or right to use any such rights. Each of the registrations and recordations of Parent IPR identified in Section 3.18(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule is held and/or recorded in the name of Parent or one of its Subsidiaries, is in full force, enforceable, has been duly applied for and registered in accordance with applicable Law, including without limitation in the case of Patents the duty of candor, and all past or outstanding maintenance obligations have been satisfied. All necessary and material registration, maintenance and renewal fees in connection with the Parent IPR have been paid and all necessary documents and certificates in connection with such Parent IPR have been filed with the relevant authorities in the jurisdictions in which such Parent IPR is registered for the purposes of maintaining such Parent IPR.
- (v) The Parent IPR Agreements are valid and are in full force and effect and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Parent, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, of the other parties thereto. Parent has not given or received any notice of default or any event which with the lapse of time would constitute a default under the Parent IPR Agreements.
- (vi) To the Knowledge of Parent, the products and services and the business of Parent and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted do not infringe, misappropriate or violate, the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party, and Parent has not received any written cease and desist, invitation to license or other notice in the past two (2) years alleging, expressly or implicitly, that Parent or any of its Subsidiaries requires any license with respect to, or is infringing, misappropriating or violating the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any Order barring or limiting the use of any Intellectual Property Rights, and neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any past, pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened, action, lawsuit, or any other judicial, arbitral or administrative proceeding relating to any Intellectual Property Rights, including without limitation involving any claim that Parent or any of its Subsidiaries infringed or infringes, misappropriated or is misappropriating or violated or is violating the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party.

- (vii) Parent has taken commercially reasonable and appropriate steps to protect and maintain all Parent IPR, including without limitation to preserve the confidentiality of any Trade Secrets. Any disclosure by Parent or its Subsidiaries of Trade Secrets to any third party has been pursuant to the terms of a written agreement with such Person or is otherwise lawful. Parent has in place appropriate written internal information security policies, which are published to employees and enforced, and which include guidelines for the use, processing, confidentiality and security of Parent, employee and other confidential data consistent with applicable Law, contractual commitments of Parent and its Subsidiaries. Parent's and its Subsidiaries' practices with regard to the collection, dissemination and use of data are and have been in accordance in all material respects with applicable Laws relating to data protection, contractual commitments of Parent or the applicable Subsidiary and any published privacy policies, and Parent has a written agreement with each third party service provider having access to such data requiring compliance with such applicable Laws and/or contractual commitments. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has suffered a material security breach with respect to their data or systems, and neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has notified or had reason to notify customers or employees of any information security breach.
- (viii) Except as set forth in Section 3.18(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, all rights of inventors, authors and other persons who participated in the development of the Parent IPR have been duly assigned to Parent pursuant to a written agreement, and such assignments have been duly recorded in accordance with applicable Law.
- (ix) To the Knowledge of Parent, no third party has or is infringing on, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Parent IPR. In the last six (6) years, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has sent any written notice to or asserted or threatened any action or claim against any Person involving or relating to any Parent IPR.
- (x) No Parent IPR were developed, in whole or in part (A) pursuant to or in connection with any professional, technical or industry standard setting organization, (B) under contract with any Governmental Authority, or (C) using any software, software development toolkits, databases, libraries, scripts, or other, similar modules of software that are subject to "open source" or similar license terms.
- (xi) All material Software owned or used by Parent or its Subsidiaries under license is, in good working order and condition and is sufficient in all material respects for the purposes for which it is used; neither Parent nor its Subsidiaries has experienced any material defects in design, workmanship or material in connection with the use of such Software that have not been corrected; to the Knowledge of Parent, no such Software contains any computer code or any other procedures, routines or mechanisms which may: (A) disrupt, disable, harm or impair in any material way such Software's operation, (B) cause such Software to damage or corrupt any data, storage media, programs, equipment or communications of Parent, its Subsidiaries or clients, or otherwise interfere with Parent's or its Subsidiaries' operations or (C) permit any third party to access any such Software to cause disruption, disablement, harm, impairment, damage or corruption (sometimes referred to as "traps", "access codes" or "trap door" devices).

# Section 3.19 Parent Material Contracts.

- (a) Section 3.19 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of each Contract (each a "Parent Material Contract") to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party as of the date of this Agreement or by which Parent, any of its Subsidiaries or any of its respective properties or assets is bound as of the date of this Agreement, which:
- (i) is a "material contract" within the meaning of Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act;
- (ii) contains covenants of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries not to compete or engage in any line of business or compete with any Person in any geographic area;
- (iii) pursuant to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has entered into a partnership or joint venture with any other Person (other than Parent or any of its Subsidiaries);
- (iv) relates to or evidences indebtedness for borrowed money or any guarantee of indebtedness for borrowed money by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of \$25,000;
  - (v) evidences any guarantee of obligations of any Person other than a wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent in excess of \$25,000;
- (vi) relates to any merger, acquisition or business combination to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries was a party that contains any obligation of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary that may be required to be performed after the Closing;
- (vii) contains provisions (a) restricting Parent or its Subsidiaries from freely setting prices for its products, services or technologies (including "most favored nations" terms and conditions (including with respect to pricing), (b) granting any exclusive rights, rights of refusal, rights of first negotiation or similar rights to any Person or (c) that limits or purports to limit in any material respect the ability of Parent or any of its Affiliates to own, operate, sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any material assets or businesses;
  - (viii) includes indemnification obligations of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries with a liability of \$25,000; or
- (ix) would require the consent of, or notice to, any other party thereto prior to or in connection with the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parent Benefit Plans shall not be deemed to be Parent Material Contracts for purposes of this Agreement.

(b) Parent has provided Diffusion with a true and correct copy of each Parent Material Contract.

(c) Each Parent Material Contract is (assuming due power and authority of, and due execution and delivery by the parties thereto other than Parent or any of its Subsidiaries) a valid and binding obligation of Parent or its Subsidiaries party thereto, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception, except for any failures to be valid and binding which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, any other party to any Parent Material Contract, is in breach of or in default under any Parent Material Contract, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, no event has occurred that, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute a default thereunder by any party thereto, and neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any claim of any such breach or default, except for such breaches and defaults which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.20 <u>Brokers' and Finders' Fees</u>. Except for Raymond James & Associates, Inc., the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Parent, there is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been retained by or is authorized to act on behalf of Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries who is entitled to any fee or commission from Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 3.21 <u>Takeover Laws</u>. No "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition," "interested stockholder" or other antitakeover statute or regulation is applicable to this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby by reason of Parent or Merger Subbeing a party to this Agreement, performing its obligations hereunder and consummating the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the applicable provisions of the VA LLC Act or the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware. There is no stockholder rights plan in effect, to which Parent is a party or otherwise bound.

Section 3.22 <u>Affiliate Transactions</u>. Except as set forth in Section 3.22 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, there are no transactions, agreements, arrangements or understandings between (i) Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and (ii) any directors, officers or stockholders of Parent, on the other hand, of the type that would be required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.

## Section 3.23 Regulatory Matters.

- (a) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary has Knowledge of any actual or threatened enforcement action by the FDA or any other Governmental Entity which has jurisdiction over the operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, and, since the Reference Date, none has received notice of any pending or overtly threatened claim by the FDA or any other Governmental Entity which has jurisdiction over the operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries against Parent or its Subsidiaries, and neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has any Knowledge of or reason to believe that any Governmental Entity is considering such an action.
- (b) Since the Reference Date, all material reports, documents, claims and notices required to be filed, maintained, or furnished to the FDA or any other Governmental Entity by Parent or its Subsidiaries have been so filed, maintained or furnished. All such reports, documents, claims, and notices were complete and correct in all material respects on the date filed (or were corrected in or supplemented by a subsequent filing prior to the date of this Agreement) such that no material liability exists with respect to the completeness or accuracy of such filing. All fees required to be paid to the FDA by Parent or its Subsidiaries have been timely paid in full.

- (c) Except as set forth on Section 3.23(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, Parent and its Subsidiaries have not received any FDA Form 483, Warning Letter, untitled letter or other correspondence or notice from the FDA or other Governmental Entity alleging or asserting noncompliance with any applicable Laws or Permits, and Parent and its Subsidiaries have no knowledge or reason to believe that the FDA or any other Governmental Entity is considering such an action.
- (d) Except as set forth in Section 3.23(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, all studies, tests and preclinical and clinical trials being conducted by Parent or its Subsidiaries have been and are being conducted in material compliance with experimental protocols, procedures and controls pursuant to accepted professional scientific standards and applicable Laws, rules, regulations and guidance, including, but not limited to the applicable requirements of Good Laboratory Practices or Good Clinical Practices, as applicable. To the Knowledge of Parent, there are no studies, tests or trials the results of which materially call into question the clinical results described or referred to in the Parent SEC Documents, when viewed in the context in which such results are described and the clinical state of development. Parent and Parent Subsidiaries have not received any written notices, correspondence or other communication from the FDA or any other Governmental Entity since the Reference Date, requiring the termination, suspension or material modification of any ongoing or planned clinical trials conducted by, or on behalf of, Parent or its Subsidiaries, or in which Parent or its Subsidiaries have participated, and Parent and its Subsidiaries have no Knowledge that the FDA or any other Governmental Entity will take such action. For the purposes of this Agreement, (i) "Good Clinical Practices" means the FDA's standards for the design, conduct, performance, monitoring, auditing, recording, analysis, and reporting of clinical trials contained in 21 C.F.R. Parts 50, 54, 56, 312, 314, 320, 812, and 814 and (ii) "Good Laboratory Practices" means the FDA's standards for conducting non-clinical laboratory studies contained in 21 C.F.R. Part 58.
- (e) Since the Reference Date, the manufacture of products by or on behalf of Parent and its Subsidiaries has been and is being conducted in material compliance with all applicable Laws including the FDA's current Good Manufacturing Practices, Good Laboratory Practices and Good Clinical Practices. In addition, since the Reference Date, Parent and its Subsidiaries have been and are in material compliance with all other applicable FDA requirements, including, but not limited to, registration and listing requirements set forth in 21 U.S.C. Section 360 and 21 C.F.R. Part 207 and 807. For the purposes of this Agreement, "Good Manufacturing Practices" means the requirements set forth in the quality systems regulations for medical devices contained in 21 C.F.R. Part 820, and current good manufacturing practices for drugs, including but not limited to the regulations for drugs and finished pharmaceutical products contained in 21 C.F.R. Part 210 and 211, respectively.

- (f) Parent and its Subsidiaries are and at all times since the Reference Date have been in material compliance with federal or state criminal or civil Laws (including without limitation the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)), Stark Law (42 U.S.C. §1395nn), False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. §3729 et seq.), Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (Pub. L. No. 104-191), the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992, and any comparable state Laws), or the regulations promulgated pursuant to such Laws, or which are cause for civil penalties or mandatory or permissive exclusion from Medicare, Medicaid or any other state or federal health care program ("Program"). There is no civil, criminal, administrative or other action, suit, demand, claim, hearing, proceeding, notice or demand pending, received by or, to the Knowledge of Parent, overtly threatened against Parent or any Parent Subsidiary which could reasonably result in its exclusion from participation in any Program or other third-party payment programs in which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary participates.
- (g) Neither Parent nor any Parent Subsidiary, and, to the Knowledge of Parent, none of their officers, employees, agents or clinical investigators has committed any act, made any statement or failed to make any statement that would reasonably be expected to provide a basis for the FDA to invoke its policy with respect to "Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities" set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) and any amendments thereto. None of Parent, any Parent Subsidiary or, to the Knowledge of Parent, any of their officers, employees, or agents has been convicted of any (i) debarment under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a or any similar Law or (ii) exclusion under 42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7 or any similar Law.
- (h) Neither Parent nor any of its Parent Subsidiaries is subject to any pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened investigation by the FDA, the United States Department of Health and Human Services' Office of Inspector General, or the United States Department of Justice pursuant to the Anti-Kickback Statute, the False Claims Act, the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended, or any other applicable Law, including without limitation any equivalent or similar statute or regulation of any state or foreign regulatory or Governmental Entities.

Section 3.24 Insurance. With respect to each insurance policy that is material to Parent and its Subsidiaries that is currently in place, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries is in material breach or default (including any such breach or default with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notice) and, to the Knowledge of Parent, no event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time, would constitute such a material breach or default, or permit termination or modification, under the policy. Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Parent Material Adverse Effect, Parent's insurance policies protect Parent's and its Subsidiaries' properties from losses and risks in a manner reasonable for its and their respective assets and properties and are of the types and in amounts customarily carried by Persons conducting similar businesses or operating similar assets in the area(s) in which Parent's business is conducted. Except as set forth on Section 3.24 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, there is no material claim pending under any of such policies as to which coverage has been denied by the underwriters of such policies. The foregoing representations shall not apply to insurance policies under the Parent Benefits Plans.

Section 3.25 <u>Disclosure</u>. No representation or warranty or other statement made by Parent or its Subsidiaries in this Agreement, the Parent Disclosure Schedule, or otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby contains any untrue statement or omits to state a material fact necessary to make any of them, in light of the circumstances in which it was made, not misleading.

### ARTICLE IV

#### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF DIFFUSION

Except as set forth in the disclosure letter delivered by Diffusion to Parent concurrently with this Agreement (the "<u>Diffusion Disclosure Schedule</u>"), Diffusion represents and warrants to Parent as set forth in this <u>Article IV</u>. For purposes of the representations and warranties of Diffusion contained herein, disclosure in any section of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule of any facts or circumstances shall be deemed to be disclosure of such facts or circumstances with respect to all representations or warranties by Diffusion to which the relevance of such disclosure to the applicable representation and warranty is reasonably apparent on the face thereof. The inclusion of any information in the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule or other document delivered by Diffusion pursuant to this Agreement shall not be deemed to be an admission or evidence of the materiality of such item, nor shall it establish a standard of materiality for any purpose whatsoever.

## Section 4.1 Corporate Organization.

- (a) Diffusion (i) is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the Commonwealth of Virginia, (ii) has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to own or lease its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now conducted and all material governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, consents and approvals required to carry on its business as now conducted and (iii) is duly qualified to do business as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where such qualification is necessary, except for such variances from the matters set forth in any of clauses (ii) or (iii) as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) True and complete copies of the Existing Diffusion Articles and the Existing Diffusion Operating Agreement have previously been made available to Parent.

## Section 4.2 <u>Capitalization</u>.

(a) As of the date of this Agreement, Diffusion has authorized and outstanding 18,083,369 membership units, represented by an equal number of Diffusion Units, all of which are voting units. As of December 14, 2015: (i) 5,366,649 Diffusion Units were issuable upon conversion of the outstanding Diffusion Convertible Notes, (ii) 4,100,000 Diffusion Units were subject to outstanding Diffusion Unit Options (of which Diffusion Unit Options to purchase an aggregate of 2,297,840 Diffusion Units were exercisable) and (iii) no Diffusion Units were reserved for issuance under the Diffusion Benefit Plans. Section 4.2 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and correct list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each outstanding Diffusion Unit Option, including, as applicable, the holder, date of grant, exercise price (to the extent applicable), vesting schedule and number of Diffusion Units subject thereto and each Diffusion Award Plan.

- (b) As of the date of this Agreement, except for this Agreement and the Diffusion Unit Options and Diffusion Convertible Notes, there are not issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding, and there are not any outstanding obligations of Diffusion to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any Equity Equivalents of Diffusion. Except for Forfeitures and Cashless Settlements in connection with the Diffusion Unit Options, there are not any outstanding obligations of Diffusion to directly or indirectly redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire membership interests or voting securities of, other equity interests in or Equity Equivalents of Diffusion. Diffusion is not a party to any voting agreement with respect to the voting of any membership interests or voting securities of, or other equity interests in, Diffusion. All outstanding membership interests of Diffusion have been, and all shares that may be issued pursuant to any employee option or other compensation plan or arrangement or warrant will be, when issued in accordance with the respective terms thereof, duly authorized, validly issued, non-assessable and fully paid, and have been, or will be, issued in accordance with applicable securities Laws. The consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby or taken in contemplation of this Agreement will not, as of the Effective Time, trigger any preemptive rights of any Person with respect to the membership interests of Diffusion, whether by law or otherwise. With respect to the Diffusion Unit Options, each grant of a Diffusion Unit Option was duly authorized no later than the Grant Date by all necessary company action, including, as applicable, approval by the Diffusion Board, or a committee thereof, or a duly authorized delegate thereof, and any required approval by the members of Diffusion by the necessary number of votes or written consents, and the award agreement governing such grant, if any, was duly executed and delivered by each party thereto within a reasona
- (c) No bonds, debentures, notes or other indebtedness of Diffusion having the right to vote on any matters on which members may vote are issued or outstanding.
- (d) As of the date of this Agreement, Diffusion does not beneficially own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock, membership interest, partnership interest, joint venture interest or other equity interest in any Person.

# Section 4.3 <u>Company Authorization</u>.

(a) Except as set forth on Section 4.3 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, Diffusion has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement, to perform its obligations hereunder and to consummate the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Diffusion of this Agreement and the consummation by Diffusion of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized and approved by the Diffusion Board. The Diffusion Board has, by resolutions duly adopted, unanimously determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby are in the best interests of Diffusion and its members, has approved and adopted this Agreement and the plan of merger herein providing for the Merger, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein, approved the execution, delivery and performance by Diffusion of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein. No other company proceedings on the part of Diffusion or any other vote by the holders of any class or series of membership interests of Diffusion or of the Diffusion Convertible Notes are necessary to approve or adopt this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby (except for the filing of the Articles of Merger, as required by applicable Law). The members of Diffusion have no dissenters' or appraisal rights in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby.

- (b) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Diffusion and, assuming due power and authority of, and due execution and delivery by, the other parties hereto, constitutes a valid and binding obligation of Diffusion, enforceable against Diffusion in accordance with its terms, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception.
- Section 4.4 <u>Governmental Authorization</u>. The execution, delivery and performance by Diffusion of this Agreement and the consummation by Diffusion of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby require at or prior to the Closing no consent or approval by, or filing with, or notification to any Governmental Entity, other than (a) the filing of the Articles of Merger with the VA Commission and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of other states in which Diffusion is qualified to do business, (b) compliance with any applicable requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any other applicable U.S. federal or state securities Laws or "blue sky" Laws, and any foreign securities Laws, and (c) any other consents, approvals or filings the failure of which to be obtained or made would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.5 Non-Contravention. The execution, delivery and performance by Diffusion of this Agreement do not, and the consummation of the transactions to which it is a party contemplated hereby will not, (a) violate or conflict with or result in any breach of any provision of the Organizational Documents of Diffusion; (b) assuming compliance with the matters referred to in Section 3.4 and Section 4.4 (and assuming the accuracy and completeness of Section 3.4), violate or conflict with any provision of any applicable Law; (c) violate or conflict with or result in any breach or constitute a default, or an event that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default under, or cause the termination, cancellation, acceleration or other change of any right or obligation or the loss of any benefit to which Diffusion is entitled, or require consent by any Person under, any loan or credit agreement, note, mortgage, indenture, lease, Diffusion Benefit Plan, or Diffusion Material Contract; or (d) result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) on any asset of Diffusion, except in the case of clause (b), (c) or (d), as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.6 <u>Diffusion Financial Statements</u>. Section 4.6 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule sets forth: (i) the unaudited balance sheet of Diffusion as of December 31, 2014 and the related statements of income and cash flows for the year then ended and (ii) the unaudited balance sheet of Diffusion as of November 30, 2015 and the related unaudited statements of income and cash flows for the 11-month period then ended (collectively, including with respect to the balance sheets and related statements of income and cash flows, any reports, notes and schedules thereto, the "<u>Diffusion Financial Statements</u>"). Except as set forth in the notes thereto, the Diffusion Financial Statements fairly present in all material respects the financial position of Diffusion as of the respective dates thereof, and the results of operations and cash flows of Diffusion for the respective periods then ended (subject to and except for the absence of footnotes and year-end adjustments in the case of interim periods) applied on a consistent basis (except as may be indicated therein or in the notes thereto). Diffusion maintains a standardized system of accounting established and administered in accordance with its past practices and methodologies. The books of accounts and records of Diffusion are complete and correct in all material respects, and there have been no transactions involving Diffusion which properly should have been set forth in business records and which have not been accurately so set forth. The Diffusion Financial Statements have not been prepared in accordance with GAAP and, for the avoidance of doubt, Diffusion makes no representation that the Diffusion Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP.

Section 4.7 <u>Insurance</u>. With respect to each insurance policy that is material to Diffusion that is currently in place, Diffusion is not in material breach or default (including any such breach or default with respect to the payment of premiums or the giving of notice) and, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, no event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time, would constitute such a material breach or default, or permit termination or modification, under the policy. Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect, Diffusion's insurance policies protect Diffusion's properties from losses and risks in a manner reasonable for its respective assets and properties and are of the types and in amounts customarily carried by Persons conducting similar businesses or operating similar assets in the area(s) in which Diffusion's business is conducted. Except as set forth on Section 4.7 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, there is no material claim pending under any of such policies as to which coverage has been denied by the underwriters of such policies. The foregoing representations shall not apply to insurance policies under the Diffusion Benefits Plans.

## Section 4.8 Absence of Certain Changes or Events.

- (a) Since December 31, 2014, no event or events or development or developments have occurred that have had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Except in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, from December 31, 2014 through the date of this Agreement, Diffusion has carried on its business in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice.

Section 4.9 <u>Undisclosed Liabilities</u>. There are no material liabilities or obligations of Diffusion of any nature, whether accrued, contingent, absolute, determined, determinable or otherwise, whether or not required by GAAP to be reflected on a balance sheet of Diffusion other than: (a) liabilities or obligations reflected or reserved against in Diffusion's balance sheet as of December 31, 2014 included in the Diffusion Disclosure Schedules or in the notes thereto, (b) liabilities or obligations that were incurred since December 31, 2014 in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, (c) liabilities or obligations under Contracts to which Diffusion is a party, other than liabilities or obligations with regard to which Diffusion has breached or is in default and (d) liabilities that have not resulted in and would not reasonably be expected to result in, individually or in the aggregate, a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 4.10 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>.

- (a) Since the Reference Date, the business and operations of Diffusion have been conducted in compliance with all applicable Laws (including Health Laws and Environmental Laws) except where the failure to so conduct such business and operations or comply with such Laws would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect, or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (b) All of the Diffusion Permits are in full force and effect in accordance with their terms and there is no proceeding or investigation to which Diffusion is subject before a Governmental Entity (including the FDA) that is pending or threatened in writing that would reasonably be expected to result in the revocation, failure to renew or suspension of, or placement of a restriction on, any such Diffusion Permits, except where the failure to be in full force and effect in accordance with their terms, revocation, failure to renew, suspension or restriction would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect, or prevent or materially delay the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (c) There is no proceeding to which Diffusion is subject before any Governmental Entity pending or threatened in writing regarding whether Diffusion has violated any applicable Laws (including Health Laws and Environmental Laws), nor, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any investigation by any Governmental Entity (including the FDA) pending or threatened in writing with respect to possible violations of any applicable Laws, which, if determined or resolved adversely against Diffusion, would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to Diffusion, or would reasonably be expected to result in a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Neither Diffusion, nor, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any director, officer, agent, employee or Affiliate of Diffusion is aware of any action, or any allegation made by any Governmental Entity of any action, or has taken any action, directly or indirectly, (i) that would constitute a violation by such Persons of the FCPA, including making use of the mails or any means or instrumentality of interstate commerce corruptly in furtherance of an offer, payment, promise to pay or authorization of the payment of any money, or other property, gift, promise to give, or authorization of the giving of anything of value to any "foreign official" (as such term is defined in the FCPA) or any foreign political party or official thereof or any candidate for foreign political office, in contravention of the FCPA, or (ii) that would constitute an offer to pay, a promise to pay or a payment of money or anything else of value, or an authorization of such offer, promise or payment, directly or indirectly, to any employee, agent or representative of another company or entity in the course of their business dealings with Diffusion, in order to unlawfully induce such person to act against the interest of his or her employer or principal. There is no current, pending, or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, threatened charges, proceedings, investigations, audits, or complaints against Diffusion or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any director, officer, agent, employee or Affiliate of Diffusion with respect to the FCPA or any other anti-corruption Law or regulation.

Section 4.11 <u>Litigation</u>. Except as set forth on Section 4.11 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, there is no Proceeding pending against or threatened in writing against Diffusion (or pending against or threatened in writing against any present or former officer, director or employee of Diffusion in connection with which Diffusion has an indemnification obligation) before any Governmental Entity (including the FDA), which, if determined or resolved adversely in accordance with the plaintiff's or claimant's demands, would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to be material to Diffusion or would reasonably be expected to result in a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect. There is no Order outstanding against Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.12 <u>Title to Properties</u>; <u>Absence of Liens</u>. Section 4.12 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete description (including address, and for each lease, sublease and license, all amendments, extensions, renewals, guaranties, modifications, supplements or other agreements, if any, with respect thereto) of all real property leased, subleased or licensed by Diffusion (collectively, the "<u>Diffusion Leased Real Property Leases</u>"). Diffusion has delivered or otherwise made available to Parent true, correct and complete copies of the Diffusion Real Property Leases, together with all amendments, extensions, renewals, guaranties, modifications, supplements or other agreements, if any, with respect thereto. Each of the Diffusion Real Property Leases is in full force and effect. Diffusion has a valid, binding and enforceable leasehold or subleasehold interest (or license, as applicable) in each Diffusion Leased Real Property, in each case as to such leasehold or subleasehold interest (or license, as applicable), free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens). Neither Diffusion nor, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any other party thereto is in material default or breach under the terms of any Diffusion Real Property Lease. Diffusion does not own and has not owned any real property and does not own any interests (other than Diffusion Real Property Leases) in real property. No consents or approvals are necessary under the terms of the Diffusion Real Property Leases in connection with the Merger.

# Section 4.13 Taxes.

- (a) All material Tax Returns required by applicable Law to be filed with any Taxing Authority by, or on behalf of, Diffusion have been duly filed when due (including extensions) in accordance with all applicable Laws, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects.
- (b) Diffusion has duly and timely paid or has duly and timely withheld and remitted to the appropriate Taxing Authority all material Taxes due and payable, or, where payment is not yet due, has established in accordance with the applicable accounting standard an adequate accrual for all material Taxes on the most recent financial statements contained in Section 4.6 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule.

- (c) There is no claim, audit, action, suit, request for written ruling, proceeding or investigation pending or threatened in writing against or with respect to Diffusion in respect of any Tax or Tax Return which (except in the case of a request for a written ruling) if determined adversely would, individually or in the aggregate, be expected to result in a material Tax deficiency, and there are no Liens for Taxes (other than Permitted Liens) upon any of the assets of Diffusion.
- (d) Diffusion has withheld all amounts required to have been withheld by it in connection with amounts paid or owed to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or any other third party; such withheld amounts were either duly paid to the appropriate Taxing Authority or set aside in accounts for such purpose. Diffusion has reported such withheld amounts to the appropriate Taxing Authority and to each such employee, independent contractor, creditor, shareholder or any other third party, as required under applicable Law.
- (e) Diffusion is not liable for any Taxes of any Person (other than Diffusion) as a result of being (i) a transferee or successor of such Person or (ii) a party to a tax sharing, tax indemnity or tax allocation agreement or any other agreement to indemnify such Person.
- (f) Diffusion shall not be required to include any item of income in, or exclude any item of deduction from, taxable income for any period (or portion thereof) ending after the Closing Date, as a result of (1) any change in method of accounting for a taxable period ending on or prior to the Closing Date under Section 481 of the Code (or any corresponding provision of state, local or foreign Law), (2) "closing agreement" as described in Section 7121 of the Code (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law) executed on or prior to the Closing Date, (3) installment sale or open transaction made on or prior to the Closing Date, (4) prepaid amount received on or prior to the Closing Date or (5) election under Section 108(i) of the Code (or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law).
- (g) Diffusion has not participated or engaged in any "reportable transaction" within the meaning of Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4 (or any corresponding or similar provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law). Diffusion is not a party to any understanding or arrangement described in Section 6662(d)(2)(C)(ii) of the Code or Treasury Regulations Section 1.6011-4(b) or is a material advisor as defined in Section 6111(b) of the Code.
- (h) Diffusion has not (a) been informed by any Taxing Authority in any jurisdiction in which it does not file a Tax Return that it may be required to file a Tax Return in such jurisdiction, or (b) consented to extend the time in which any Tax may be assessed or collected by any taxing authority.
- (i) As of the date hereof, Diffusion has not taken or agreed to take any action, nor does Diffusion have Knowledge of any fact or circumstance, that would prevent the Merger from qualifying as an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Code.
- (j) At all times since its formation, Diffusion has been treated as a partnership or an entity disregarded as separate from its owner under Treasury Regulation Section 301.7701-3(b)(1), and no election for Diffusion to be treated as a corporation pursuant to Treasury Section 301.7701-3(c) has been made.

## Section 4.14 Employee Benefit Plans.

- (a) Set forth on Section 4.14(a) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule is a true and complete list of each Diffusion Benefit Plan.
- (b) As applicable with respect to each Diffusion Benefit Plan, Diffusion has delivered or made available to Parent, true and complete copies of (i) each Diffusion Benefit Plan, including all amendments thereto, and in the case of an unwritten Diffusion Benefit Plan, a written description thereof, (ii) all current trust documents, investment management contracts, custodial agreements and insurance contracts relating thereto, (iii) the current summary plan description and each summary of material modifications thereto, (iv) the most recently filed annual reports with any Governmental Entity (e.g., Form 5500 and all schedules thereto), (v) the most recent IRS determination, opinion or advisory letter, (vi) the most recent summary annual reports, actuarial reports, financial statements and trustee reports and (vii) all records, notices and filings concerning audits or investigations by any Governmental Entity (e.g., the IRS or U.S. Department of Labor) or "prohibited transactions" within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.
- (c) Each Diffusion Benefit Plan has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance in all material respects with its terms and any related documents or agreements and the applicable provisions of ERISA, the Code and all other applicable Laws. The Diffusion Benefit Plans which are "employee pension benefit plans" within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA and which are intended to meet the qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code (each, a "Diffusion Pension Plan") have received a current determination, opinion or advisory letter from the IRS on which they may rely to the effect that such plans and the relates trusts are qualified and exempt from federal income taxes under Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code, respectively, and nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to materially and adversely affect the qualification or tax exempt status of such Diffusion Pension Plans or the related trusts.
- (d) Diffusion does not maintain, does not contribute to, is not required to contribute to, or does not have any liability or obligation with respect to, any plan, program, contract, agreement or arrangement that is (i) subject to Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a "multiemployer plan" (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA), (iii) a "multiple employer plan" (within the meaning of Section 413 of the Code or (iv) a "multiple employer welfare arrangement" (within the meaning of Section 3(40) of ERISA).
- (e) There are no pending audits or investigations by any Governmental Entity involving any Diffusion Benefit Plan, and no pending, or to the Knowledge of Diffusion, threatened claims (except for individual claims for benefits payable in the normal operation of the Diffusion Benefit Plans), suits or proceedings involving any Diffusion Benefit Plan, any fiduciary thereof or service provider thereto.

- (f) No Diffusion Benefit Plan provides benefits, including death or medical benefits, beyond termination of service or retirement other than (A) coverage mandated by law or (B) death or retirement benefits under a Diffusion Benefit Plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code or other Law, and Diffusion has not made a written or oral representation to any Person promising the same.
- (g) Diffusion's execution of, and performance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not either alone or in connection with any other event(s) (i) result in any payment or benefit becoming due to (or increase the amount of payments or benefits owed to) any current or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of Diffusion or (ii) result in the acceleration of the time of payment, funding or vesting of any benefits under any Diffusion Benefit Plan.
- (h) No payment or benefit which is or may be made by, from or with respect to any Diffusion Benefit Plan or otherwise to any "disqualified individual" (within the meaning of Code Section 280G and the regulations thereunder) of Diffusion and that is treated as being "contingent" on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement under Code Section 280G and the regulations thereunder will or could reasonably be characterized as a "parachute payment" under Section 280G of the Code.
- (i) Diffusion has, for purposes of each Diffusion Benefit Plan and for all other purposes, correctly classified all individuals performing services for Diffusion as common law employees, leased employees or independent contractors, as applicable.
- (j) Each Diffusion Benefit Plan primarily benefitting Persons outside of the United States that provides retirement, termination, long-service or other similar benefits is either fully funded, or the liability for such benefits is fully reflected in the Diffusion Financial Statements (determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and valuation techniques in the jurisdiction in which such Diffusion Benefit Plan is maintained).

## Section 4.15 Employees; Labor Matters.

- (a) Diffusion is not a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement, and there are no labor unions or other labor organizations representing, purporting to represent or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, attempting to represent any employees of Diffusion in their capacity as such.
- (b) Since the Reference Date, there has not occurred or been threatened in writing any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, concerted refusal to work overtime or other similar labor activity with respect to any employees of Diffusion. To the Knowledge of Diffusion, no labor union or other labor organization is engaged in any organizing campaign with respect to the employment by Diffusion of any employees of Diffusion, and to the Knowledge of Diffusion, no such organizing activity is threatened. There are no unfair labor practice charges or complaints, labor grievances or labor arbitrations pending or threatened in writing against Diffusion, and there is no representation petition or demand for recognition pending or threatened in writing with respect to the employment by Diffusion of any employee of Diffusion. Diffusion has not engaged in any plant closing or employee layoff activities since the Reference Date that would violate or give rise to an obligation to provide any notice under the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or any similar state or local Law.

- (c) Diffusion has been in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to employment and labor, including all applicable Laws relating to wages, hours, collective bargaining, employment discrimination, civil rights, safety and health, workers' compensation, pay equity, classification of employees, and the collection and payment of withholding and/or social security Taxes, except where noncompliance would not reasonably be expected to result in a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) Section 4.15(d) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule lists each employee of Diffusion who was terminated or laid off for any reason other than for cause, or whose hours were reduced by more than 50%, during the ninety (90) days preceding the date of this Agreement, and for each such employee, sets forth: (i) the date of such termination, layoff or reduction in hours; and (ii) the location to which the employee was assigned. No later than the Closing Date, Diffusion shall update Section 4.15(d) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule to reflect any employment terminations, layoffs, or reduction in hours by more than 50% effected by Diffusion between the date hereof and the Closing Date.

Section 4.16 <u>Environmental Matters</u>. Except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect, (a) Diffusion has not received any written notice, demand, request for information, citation, summons or Order, and no complaint has been filed, no penalty has been assessed, no liability has been incurred, and no investigation, action, written claim, suit or proceeding is pending or to the Knowledge of Diffusion, has been threatened in writing by any Governmental Entity or other Person with respect to or arising out of any applicable Environmental Law; (b) neither Diffusion nor any of its predecessors in interest has had a Release of a Hazardous Substance or exposed any Person to any Hazardous Substances at, on, under or from any properties currently or, (at the time owned, leased or operated by Diffusion or any predecessor in interest), properties formerly owned, leased, or operated by Diffusion or any predecessors in interest that are reasonably likely to result in any cost, liability or obligation of Diffusion under any applicable Environmental Law; (c) Diffusion has not transported, stored, treated, recycled or disposed, or arranged for the transportation, storage, treatment, recycling or disposal, of any Hazardous Substances at any off-site location that is reasonably likely to result in any cost, liability or obligation to remediate by Diffusion under any applicable Environmental Laws; and (d) Diffusion has not expressly assumed by contract or operation of law the environmental liabilities of any other Person.

## Section 4.17 <u>Intellectual Property</u>.

- (a) Section 4.17(a) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all (i) Patents, (ii) registered Trademarks, (iii) registered Copyrights and (iv) domain names owned or co-owned by Diffusion, specifying as to each such item, as applicable, the owner of record (and co-owner, where applicable), jurisdiction of application and/or registration and/or registration number, the date of application or registration, and the status of application or registration, including without limitation any deadlines for renewals, maintenance fees or other required filings.
- (b) Section 4.17(b) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all material agreements under which: (i) Diffusion uses or has the right to use any Intellectual Property Rights owned by a third party (other than off-the-shelf software licensed under shrink wrap agreements); (ii) Diffusion has granted a license or sublicense to any third party to use any Intellectual Property Rights; and (iii) any Intellectual Property Right is or have been developed for Diffusion, assigned to Diffusion, or assigned by Diffusion to a third party (the agreements listed in subsections (i) through (iii) above, the "Diffusion IPR Agreements").
  - (c) Except as set forth on Section 4.17(c) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule:
- (i) To the Knowledge of Diffusion, the Diffusion IPR, together with the Intellectual Property Rights licensed to Diffusion under the Diffusion IPR Agreements, constitutes all of the Intellectual Property Rights necessary to conduct and operate the businesses of Diffusion as currently conducted.
- (ii) Diffusion holds the exclusive right, title and interest to the Diffusion IPR, free and clear of all Liens (other than the Diffusion IPR Agreements, or non-exclusive licenses granted by Diffusion (expressly or implicitly) in the ordinary course of business in connection with the sale, lease or transfer of products), adverse claims or other restrictions, or any requirement of any past, present or future royalty payments. The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not result in a loss or impairment of, require payment of any amounts with respect to, nor require the consent of any other Person in respect of Diffusion's right to own, use or hold for use by Diffusion, any of the Diffusion IPR or to use any Intellectual Property Rights licensed under the Diffusion IPR Agreements in the conduct and operation of the business of Diffusion as currently conducted or conducted within the previous two fiscal years in all material respects.
- (iii) None of the Diffusion IPR is or has been involved in any opposition, cancellation, interference, reissue or reexamination proceeding; no material Software owned or co-owned by Diffusion, or any other Diffusion IPR, has been placed in escrow; and no Diffusion IPR is the subject of any Order (excluding rejections, orders or rulings issues in the context of the application for registration of Diffusion IPR) or Proceeding. Except for the license agreements listed in Section 4.17(b)(i) and (iii) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, Diffusion has not granted any options with respect to, or has otherwise encumbered or placed limitations on any Diffusion IPR or Diffusion's use thereof.

- (iv) The Diffusion IPR are enforceable and in full force and effect. Diffusion has not received in the past two (2) years any written notice alleging that any Diffusion IPR or any Diffusion IPR Agreements are invalid or unenforceable, or challenging Diffusion's ownership of or right to use any such rights. Each of the registrations and recordations of Diffusion IPR identified in Section 4.17(a) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule is held and/or recorded in the name of Diffusion, is in full force, enforceable, has been duly applied for and registered in accordance with applicable Law, including without limitation in the case of Patents the duty of candor, and all past or outstanding maintenance obligations have been satisfied. All necessary and material registration, maintenance and renewal fees in connection with the Diffusion IPR have been paid and all necessary documents and certificates in connection with such Diffusion IPR have been filed with the relevant authorities in the jurisdictions in which such Diffusion IPR is registered for the purposes of maintaining such Diffusion IPR.
- (v) The Diffusion IPR Agreements are valid and are in full force and effect and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Diffusion, and, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, of the other parties thereto. Diffusion has not given or received any notice of default or any event which with the lapse of time would constitute a default under the Diffusion IPR Agreements.
- (vi) To the Knowledge of Diffusion, the products and services and the business of Diffusion as currently conducted do not infringe, misappropriate or violate, the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party, and Diffusion has not received any written cease and desist, invitation to license or other notice in the past two (2) years alleging, expressly or implicitly, that Diffusion requires any license with respect to, or is infringing, misappropriating or violating the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party. Diffusion is not subject to any Order barring or limiting the use of any Intellectual Property Rights, and Diffusion is not a party to any past, pending or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, threatened, action, lawsuit, or any other judicial, arbitral or administrative proceeding relating to any Intellectual Property Rights, including without limitation involving any claim that Diffusion infringed or infringes, misappropriated or is misappropriating or violated or is violating the Intellectual Property Rights of any third party.
- (vii) Diffusion has taken commercially reasonable and appropriate steps to protect and maintain all Diffusion IPR, including without limitation to preserve the confidentiality of any Trade Secrets. Any disclosure by Diffusion of Trade Secrets to any third party has been pursuant to the terms of a written agreement with such Person or is otherwise lawful. Diffusion has in place appropriate written internal information security policies, which are published to employees and enforced, and which include guidelines for the use, processing, confidentiality and security of Diffusion, employee and other confidential data consistent with applicable Law, contractual commitments of Diffusion. Diffusion's practices with regard to the collection, dissemination and use of data are and have been in accordance in all material respects with applicable Laws relating to data protection, contractual commitments of Diffusion and any published privacy policies, and Diffusion has a written agreement with each third party service provider having access to such data requiring compliance with such applicable Laws and/or contractual commitments. Diffusion has not suffered a material security breach with respect to its data or systems, and Diffusion has not notified or had reason to notify customers or employees of any information security breach.

- (viii) Except as set forth in Section 4.17(a) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, all rights of inventors, authors and other persons who participated in the development of the Diffusion IPR have been duly assigned to Diffusion pursuant to a written agreement, and such assignments have been duly recorded in accordance with applicable Law.
- (ix) To the Knowledge of Diffusion, no third party has or is infringing on, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Diffusion IPR. In the last six (6) years, Diffusion has not sent any written notice to or asserted or threatened any action or claim against any Person involving or relating to any Diffusion IPR.
- (x) No Diffusion IPR were developed, in whole or in part (A) pursuant to or in connection with any professional, technical or industry standard setting organization, (B) under contract with any Governmental Authority, or (C) using any software, software development toolkits, databases, libraries, scripts, or other, similar modules of software that are subject to "open source" or similar license terms.
- (xi) All material Software owned or used by Diffusion under license is, in good working order and condition and is sufficient in all material respects for the purposes for which it is used; Diffusion has not experienced any material defects in design, workmanship or material in connection with the use of such Software that have not been corrected; to the Knowledge of Diffusion, no such Software contains any computer code or any other procedures, routines or mechanisms which may: (A) disrupt, disable, harm or impair in any material way such Software's operation, (B) cause such Software to damage or corrupt any data, storage media, programs, equipment or communications of Diffusion or its clients, or otherwise interfere with Diffusion's operations or (C) permit any third party to access any such Software to cause disruption, disablement, harm, impairment, damage or corruption (sometimes referred to as "traps", "access codes" or "trap door" devices).

### Section 4.18 <u>Diffusion Material Contracts.</u>

- (a) Section 4.18 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of each Contract (each a "<u>Diffusion Material Contract</u>) to which Diffusion is a party as of the date of this Agreement or by which Diffusion, or any of its properties or assets is bound as of the date of this Agreement, which:
- (i) would constitute a "material contract" within the meaning of Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act;
- (ii) contains covenants of Diffusion not to compete or engage in any line of business or compete with any Person in any geographic area;
  - (iii) pursuant to which Diffusion has entered into a partnership or joint venture with any other Person (other than Diffusion);
- (iv) relates to or evidences indebtedness for borrowed money or any guarantee of indebtedness for borrowed money by Diffusion in excess of \$25,000:

- (v) evidences any guarantee of obligations of any Person in excess of \$25,000;
- (vi) relates to any merger, acquisition or business combination to which Diffusion was a party that contains any obligation of Diffusion that may be required to be performed after the Closing;
- (vii) contains provisions (a) restricting Diffusion from freely setting prices for its products, services or technologies (including "most favored nations" terms and conditions (including with respect to pricing), (b) granting any exclusive rights, rights of refusal, rights of first negotiation or similar rights to any Person or (c) that limits or purports to limit in any material respect the ability of Diffusion or any of its Affiliates to own, operate, sell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of any material assets or businesses;
  - (viii) includes indemnification obligations of Diffusion with a liability of \$25,000; or;
- (ix) would require the consent of, or notice to, any other party thereto prior to or in connection with the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

<u>provided</u>, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Diffusion Benefit Plans shall not be deemed to be Diffusion Material Contracts for purposes of this Agreement.

- (b) Diffusion has provided Parent with a true and correct copy of each Diffusion Material Contract.
- (c) Each Diffusion Material Contract is (assuming due power and authority of, and due execution and delivery by the parties thereto other than Diffusion) a valid and binding obligation of Diffusion, subject to the Bankruptcy and Equity Exception, except for any failures to be valid and binding which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect. Neither Diffusion nor, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any other party to any Diffusion Material Contract, is in breach of or in default under any Diffusion Material Contract, and, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, no event has occurred that, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both, would constitute a default thereunder by any party thereto, and Diffusion has not received any claim of any such breach or default, except for such breaches and defaults which would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.19 <u>Brokers' and Finders' Fees</u>. Except for MTS Health Partners, L.P., the fees and expenses of which will be paid by Parent if the Merger is consummated, there is no investment banker, broker, finder or other intermediary that has been retained by or is authorized to act on behalf of Diffusion who is entitled to any fee or commission from Diffusion in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 4.20 <u>Takeover Laws</u>. No "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition," "interested stockholder" or other antitakeover statute or regulation is applicable to this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby by reason of Parent or Merger Subbeing a party to this Agreement, performing its obligations hereunder and consummating the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the applicable provisions of the VA LLC Act. There is no stockholder rights plan in effect, to which Parent is a party or otherwise bound.

Section 4.21 Affiliate Transactions. There are no transactions, agreements, arrangements or understandings between (i) Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and (ii) any directors, officers or stockholders of Parent, on the other hand, of the type that would be required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.

#### Section 4.22 Regulatory Matters.

- (a) Diffusion has no Knowledge of any actual or threatened enforcement action by the FDA or any other Governmental Entity which has jurisdiction over the operations of Diffusion, and, since the Reference Date, has not received notice of any pending or overtly threatened claim by the FDA or any other Governmental Entity which has jurisdiction over the operations of Diffusion against Diffusion, and Diffusion has no Knowledge of or reason to believe that any Governmental Entity is considering such an action.
- (b) Since the Reference Date, all material reports, documents, claims and notices required to be filed, maintained, or furnished to the FDA or any other Governmental Entity by Diffusion have been so filed, maintained or furnished. All such reports, documents, claims, and notices were complete and correct in all material respects on the date filed (or were corrected in or supplemented by a subsequent filing prior to the date hereof) such that no material liability exists with respect to the completeness or accuracy of such filing. All fees required to be paid to the FDA by Diffusion have been timely paid in full.
- (c) Except as set forth on Section 4.22(c) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, Diffusion has not received any FDA Form 483, Warning Letter, untitled letter or other correspondence or notice from the FDA or other Governmental Entity alleging or asserting noncompliance with any applicable Laws or Permits, and Diffusion has no knowledge or reason to believe that the FDA or any other Governmental Entity is considering such an action.
- (d) All studies, tests and preclinical and clinical trials being conducted by Diffusion have been and are being conducted in material compliance with experimental protocols, procedures and controls pursuant to accepted professional scientific standards and applicable Laws, rules, regulations and guidance, including, but not limited to the applicable requirements of Good Laboratory Practices or Good Clinical Practices, as applicable. To the Knowledge of Diffusion, there are no studies, tests or trials the results of which materially call into question the clinical results described or referred to in the Confidential Offering Memorandum, dated May 15, 2014, delivered to potential investors in connection with Diffusion's series E convertible note offering, when viewed in the context in which such results are described and the clinical state of development. Diffusion has not received any written notices, correspondence or other communication from the FDA or any other Governmental Entity since the Reference Date, requiring the termination, suspension or material modification of any ongoing or planned clinical trials conducted by, or on behalf of, Diffusion, or in which Diffusion has participated, and Diffusion has no Knowledge that the FDA or any other Governmental Entity will take such action.

- (e) Since the Reference Date, the manufacture of products by or on behalf of Diffusion has been and is being conducted in material compliance with all applicable Laws including the FDA's current Good Manufacturing Practices, Good Laboratory Practices and Good Clinical Practices. In addition, since the Reference Date, Diffusion has been and is in material compliance with all other applicable FDA requirements, including, but not limited to, registration and listing requirements set forth in 21 U.S.C. Section 360 and 21 C.F.R. Part 207 and 807.
- (f) Diffusion is and at all times since the Reference Date has been in material compliance with federal or state criminal or civil Laws (including without limitation the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)), Stark Law (42 U.S.C. §1395nn), False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. §3729 et seq.), Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (Pub. L. No. 104-191), the Veterans Health Care Act of 1992, and any comparable state Laws), or the regulations promulgated pursuant to such Laws, or which are cause for civil penalties or mandatory or permissive exclusion from any Program. There is no civil, criminal, administrative or other action, suit, demand, claim, hearing, proceeding, notice or demand pending, received by or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, overtly threatened against Diffusion which could reasonably result in its exclusion from participation in any Program or other third-party payment programs in which Diffusion participates.
- (g) Neither Diffusion nor, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any of its officers, employees, agents or clinical investigators has committed any act, made any statement or failed to make any statement that would reasonably be expected to provide a basis for the FDA to invoke its policy with respect to "Fraud, Untrue Statements of Material Facts, Bribery, and Illegal Gratuities" set forth in 56 Fed. Reg. 46191 (September 10, 1991) and any amendments thereto. None of Diffusion or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, any of its officers, employees, or agents has been convicted of any (i) debarment under 21 U.S.C. Section 335a or any similar Law or (ii) exclusion under 42 U.S.C. Section 1320a-7 or any similar Law.
- (h) Diffusion is not subject to any pending or, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, threatened investigation by the FDA, the United States Department of Health and Human Services' Office of Inspector General, or the United States Department of Justice pursuant to the Anti-Kickback Statute, the False Claims Act, the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended, or any other applicable Law, including without limitation any equivalent or similar statute or regulation of any state or foreign regulatory or Governmental Entities.

Section 4.23 <u>Disclosure</u>. No representation or warranty or other statement made by Diffusion in this Agreement, the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, or otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby contains any untrue statement or omits to state a material fact necessary to make any of them, in light of the circumstances in which it was made, not misleading.

#### ARTICLE V

#### COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Section 5.1 <u>Conduct of Businesses Prior to the Effective Time</u>. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>Article VIII</u> or the Effective Time, except (a) as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement (including by <u>Section 5.2</u> or <u>Section 5.3</u> below, as applicable), (b) as specifically set forth in Section 5.1 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule or Section 5.1 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, as applicable, or (c) with the prior written consent of the other party (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), each of Parent and Diffusion shall, and Parent shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to (i) conduct its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice in all material respects, (ii) use reasonable best efforts to maintain and preserve intact its business organization and advantageous business relationships and retain the services of its officers and key employees, and (iii) take no action that would prohibit or materially impair or delay the ability of either Parent or Diffusion to obtain any necessary approvals of any regulatory agency or other Governmental Entity required for the transactions contemplated hereby or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this <u>Section 5.1</u>, (i) neither party will take any action prohibited by <u>Section 5.2</u> or <u>Section 5.3</u>, as applicable, in order to satisfy such party's obligations under this <u>Section 5.1</u> to the extent such failure resulted, directly or indirectly, from such party's failure to take any action prohibited by <u>Section 5.2</u> or <u>Section 5.3</u>, as applicable.

Section 5.2 <u>Parent Forbearances</u>. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>Article VIII</u> or the Effective Time, except as set forth in Section 5.2 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and except as required by Law or the rules and regulations of the SEC or as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, Parent will not, and will not permit any of the Parent Subsidiaries to, without the prior written consent of Diffusion (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):

- (a) amend its Organizational Documents (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise);
- (b) except as contemplated by Section 6.8, (i) split, combine or reclassify any shares of its capital stock, or propose to split, combine or reclassify, any of its share capital, or issue or authorize or propose the issuance or authorization of any other securities in respect of, or in lieu of or in substitution for, shares of its share capital, (ii) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in respect of its capital stock, except dividends paid by a direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent or to any of Parent's other direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries (to the extent that any such dividends do not result in any Subsidiary of Parent breaching or otherwise violating any applicable regulatory capital requirements or becoming subject to any additional regulatory oversight or reporting requirements) or (iii) redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or offer to redeem, repurchase, or otherwise acquire any shares of Parent's (or any of its Subsidiaries') share capital or any securities convertible into or exercisable for any shares of Parent's (or any of its Subsidiaries') share capital, other than repurchases, redemptions or acquisitions by Parent or any wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent of share capital or such other securities, as the case may be, of any other wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent;

- (c) except as contemplated by Section 6.8, (i) issue, deliver, pledge or sell, or authorize the issuance, delivery or sale of, any Parent Stock, Equity Equivalents or shares of capital stock of any Parent Subsidiary, other than the issuance of (A) any Parent Stock upon the exercise of Parent Stock Options or Parent Warrants that are outstanding on the date of this Agreement in accordance with the terms of the Parent Stock Plans or Parent Warrants on the date of this Agreement and (B) any capital stock of any Parent Subsidiary to Parent or any other Parent Subsidiary or (ii) amend any term of any Parent Stock or Equity Equivalent (in each case, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise);
- (d) incur any capital expenditures or any obligations or liabilities in respect thereof, except for (i) those contemplated by the capital expenditure budget set forth in Section 5.2(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and (ii) any unbudgeted capital expenditures not to exceed \$25,000 in the aggregate;
- (e) acquire (by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise), directly or indirectly, any assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses, other than (i) supplies, equipment, inventory or other assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and/or (ii) acquisitions with a purchase price net of the total of assumed liabilities (including all operating liabilities, reserves and indebtedness) that does not exceed \$25,000 in the aggregate;
- (f) sell, lease, sublease, exchange or otherwise transfer, or create or incur any Lien, other than a Permitted Lien, on, any of Parent's or any of its Subsidiaries' assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses, or grant any option with respect to any of the foregoing, other than (i) sales of inventory in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and/or (ii) other sales of assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses with a sale price or carrying value net of the total of assumed liabilities (including all operating liabilities, reserves and indebtedness) that does not exceed \$25,000 in the aggregate;
- (g) other than in connection with actions permitted by <u>Section 5.2(d)</u> or <u>Section 5.2(e)</u>, make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice or loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, wholly owned Subsidiaries of Parent;
- (h) create, incur, assume, suffer to exist or otherwise be liable with respect to any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantees thereof (including reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit), other than (i) in replacement of existing or maturing debt, and (ii) draw downs pursuant to existing credit facilities and letters of credit in support of Parent's and its Subsidiaries' business consistent with past practice;

- (i) (i) increase the base salary, bonus or commission opportunity or other material compensation or material benefits of any (A) officer of (B) employee or independent contractor whose annual base salary or rate of pay is equal to or greater than \$50,000 (or would be equal to or greater than \$50,000 after such increase), (ii) other than in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice, increase the base salary, wages or annual bonus or commission opportunity of any employee or independent contractor not described in clause (i) above, (iii) increase or enhance the severance benefits, retirement benefits, change in control benefits, retention benefits, deferred compensation benefits, equity compensation benefits or other material compensation or material benefits of any employee, officer, director or independent contractor, (iv) establish, materially amend or terminate any Parent Benefit Plan (or any plan, program, contract or arrangement that would be a Parent Benefit Plan if it was in effect on the date of this Agreement), other than (A) amendments required by Law or to maintain Tax-qualified or registered status of any Parent Benefit Plan or (B) as set forth in Section 5.2(i) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule;
- (j) change Parent's methods of accounting, except as required by concurrent changes in GAAP, as agreed to by its independent public accountants;
- (k) settle, or offer or propose to settle, any material litigation, investigation, arbitration, proceeding or other claim involving or against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, except (i) where the amount paid in settlement or compromise, in each case, does not exceed \$10,000 or (ii) arising from ordinary course claims for insurance or reinsurance (but excluding material litigation relating to such claims) that are handled pursuant to Parent's normal claims handling process consistent with past practice;
- (l) (i) make, change or rescind (or file a request to make, change or rescind) any material Tax election, (ii) change any annual tax accounting period, (iii) adopt or change any method of tax accounting (or file a request to make any such change), except as required by applicable Law, (iv) materially amend any Tax Returns, (v) enter into any material closing agreement, (vi) settle or compromise any material Tax claim, audit or assessment, (vii) surrender any right to claim a material Tax refund, offset or other reduction in Tax liability or (viii) consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, except, in each case, as required by applicable Law;
- (m) amend or modify in any material respect or terminate (excluding terminations upon expiration of the term thereof in accordance with their terms) any Parent Material Contract or waive, release or assign any material rights, claims or benefits of it or its Subsidiaries under any Parent Material Contract, or enter into any Contract or agreement that would have been a Parent Material Contract had it been entered into prior to this Agreement, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (n) adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary (other than the Merger);
  - (o) granted any license or sublicense to any third party, or otherwise enter into any agreement, with respect to any Parent IPR;

- (p) enter into, modify or terminate any collective bargaining agreement or other contract with any labor union or other labor organization; or
- (q) agree, resolve or commit to (i) do any action restricted by this <u>Section 5.2</u> or (ii) accept any restriction that would prevent Parent or any of its Subsidiaries from taking any action required by this <u>Section 5.2</u>.
- Section 5.3 <u>Diffusion Forbearances</u>. During the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>Article VIII</u> or the Effective Time, except as set forth in <u>Section 5.3</u> of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule and except as required by Law or as expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement, Diffusion will not, without the prior written consent of Parent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed):
  - (a) amend its Organizational Documents (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise);
- (b) (i) split, combine or reclassify any of its membership interests, or propose to split, combine or reclassify, any of its membership interests, or issue or authorize or propose the issuance or authorization of any Diffusion Units or other securities in respect of, or in lieu of or in substitution for, the Diffusion Units outstanding on the date of this Agreement, (ii) declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in respect of its membership interests or (iii) redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or offer to redeem, repurchase, or otherwise acquire any Diffusion Units or any securities convertible into or exercisable for any Diffusion Units;
- (c) (i) issue, deliver, pledge or sell, or authorize the issuance, delivery or sale of, any Diffusion Units or Equity Equivalents, other than the issuance of any Diffusion Units upon (A) the exercise of Diffusion Unit Options that are outstanding on the date of this Agreement in accordance with the terms of Diffusion Award Plans on the date of this Agreement or (B) the conversion of any Diffusion Convertible Notes in accordance with the terms thereof, or (ii) amend any term of any Diffusion Unit or Equity Equivalent (in each case, whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise);
- (d) incur any capital expenditures or any obligations or liabilities in respect thereof, except for (i) those contemplated by the capital expenditure budget set forth in Section 5.3(d) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule and (ii) any unbudgeted capital expenditures not to exceed \$25,000 in the aggregate;
- (e) acquire (by merger, consolidation, acquisition of stock or assets or otherwise), directly or indirectly, any assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses, other than (i) supplies, equipment, inventory or other assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and/or (ii) acquisitions with a purchase price net of the total of assumed liabilities (including all operating liabilities, reserves and indebtedness) that does not exceed \$25,000 in the aggregate;

- (f) sell, lease, sublease, exchange or otherwise transfer, or create or incur any Lien, other than a Permitted Lien, on, any of Diffusion's assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses, or grant any option with respect to any of the foregoing other than sales of assets, securities, properties, interests or businesses with a sale price or carrying value net of the total of assumed liabilities (including all operating liabilities, reserves and indebtedness) that does not exceed \$25,000 in the aggregate;
- (g) other than in connection with actions permitted by <u>Section 5.3(d)</u> or <u>Section 5.3(e)</u>, make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any other Person, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (h) except as set forth on Section 5.3(h) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, create, incur, assume, suffer to exist or otherwise be liable with respect to any indebtedness for borrowed money or guarantees thereof (including reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit), other than (i) in replacement of existing or maturing debt, and (ii) draw-downs pursuant to existing credit facilities and letters of credit in support of Diffusion's business consistent with past practice;
- (i) (i) increase the base salary, bonus or commission opportunity or other material compensation or material benefits of any (A) officer of (B) employee or independent contractor whose annual base salary or rate of pay is equal to or greater than \$50,000 (or would be equal to or greater than \$50,000 after such increase), (ii) other than in the ordinary course of business, consistent with past practice, increase the base salary, wages or annual bonus or commission opportunity of any employee or independent contractor not described in clause (i) above, (iii) increase or enhance the severance benefits, retirement benefits, change in control benefits, retention benefits, deferred compensation benefits, equity compensation benefits or other material compensation or material benefits of any employee, officer, director or independent contractor, (iv) establish, materially amend or terminate any Diffusion Benefit Plan (or any plan, program, contract or arrangement that would be a Diffusion Benefit Plan if it was in effect on the date of this Agreement) other than (A) amendments required by Law or to maintain Tax-qualified or registered status of any Diffusion Benefit Plan or (B) as set forth in Section 5.3(i) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule;
- (j) change Diffusion's methods of accounting, except as required by concurrent changes in GAAP, as agreed to by its independent public accountants;
- (k) settle, or offer or propose to settle, any material litigation, investigation, arbitration, proceeding or other claim involving or against Diffusion, except (i) where the amount paid in settlement or compromise, in each case, does not exceed \$10,000 or (ii) arising from ordinary course claims for reinsurance (but excluding material litigation relating to such claims) that are handled pursuant to Diffusion's normal claims handling process consistent with past practice;
- (l) (i) make, change or rescind (or file a request to make, change or rescind) any material Tax election, (ii) change any annual tax accounting period, (iii) adopt or change any method of tax accounting (or file a request to make any such change), except as required by applicable Law, (iv) materially amend any Tax Returns, (v) enter into any material closing agreement, (vi) settle or compromise any material Tax claim, audit or assessment, (vii) surrender any right to claim a material Tax refund, offset or other reduction in Tax liability or (viii) consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations applicable to any claim or assessment in respect of Taxes, except, in each case, as required by applicable Law;

- (m) amend or modify in any material respect or terminate (excluding terminations upon expiration of the term thereof in accordance with their terms) any Diffusion Material Contract or waive, release or assign any material rights, claims or benefits of Diffusion under any Diffusion Material Contract, or enter into any Contract or agreement that would have been a Diffusion Material Contract had it been entered into prior to this Agreement, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (n) adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization of Diffusion (other than the Merger);
  - (o) grant any license or sublicense to any third party, or otherwise enter into any agreement, with respect to any Diffusion IPR;
- (p) enter into, modify or terminate any collective bargaining agreement or other contract with any labor union or other labor organization; or
- (q) agree, resolve or commit to (i) do any action restricted by this <u>Section 5.3</u> or (ii) accept any restriction that would prevent Diffusion from taking any action required by this <u>Section 5.3</u>.

Section 5.4 <u>Control of Other Party's Business</u>. Nothing contained in this Agreement will give Parent, directly or indirectly, the right to control Diffusion or direct the business or operations of Diffusion prior to the Effective Time. Nothing contained in this Agreement will give Diffusion, directly or indirectly, the right to control Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries or direct the business or operations of Parent or any of the Parent Subsidiaries prior to the Effective Time. Prior to the Effective Time, each of Parent and Diffusion will exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its respective operations and the operations of its respective Subsidiaries (if any). Nothing in this Agreement, including any of the actions, rights or restrictions set forth herein, will be interpreted in such a way as to place Diffusion or Parent in violation of any applicable Law.

### Section 5.5 Solicitation.

## (a) No Solicitation by Diffusion.

- (i) Subject to subsections (iii) and (v), during the period from the date of this Agreement to the earlier of the termination of this Agreement in accordance with Article VIII or the Effective Time (the "Interim Period"), Diffusion will not, nor will it authorize or permit any of its officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, advisors or other representatives (collectively, "Representatives") to, directly or indirectly, except as otherwise provided below: (i) solicit, initiate or encourage or facilitate (including by way of furnishing any non-public information relating to Diffusion), or induce or take any other action which would reasonably be expected to lead to the making, submission or announcement of, any proposal or inquiry that constitutes, or is reasonably likely to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal (as defined below); (ii) other than informing Persons of the provisions contained in this Section 5.5(a), enter into, continue or participate in any discussions or any negotiations regarding any Acquisition Proposal or otherwise take any action to facilitate or induce any effort or attempt to make or implement an Acquisition Proposal (including any Acquisition Proposal received prior to the date of this Agreement); (iii) approve, endorse or recommend an Acquisition Proposal or any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding or Contract contemplating an Acquisition Proposal or requiring Diffusion to abandon or terminate its obligations under this Agreement, or enter into any of the foregoing; or (iv) agree, resolve or commit to do any of the foregoing. Diffusion will, and will cause its Representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated all discussions or negotiations with any Person previously conducted with respect to any Acquisition Proposal. Diffusion will promptly deny to any third party access to any data room (virtual or actual) containing any confidential information previously furnished to any such third party relating to any Acquisition Proposal.
- (ii) For purposes of this Agreement, an "<u>Acquisition Proposal</u>" means, with respect to any party, any offer, proposal or indication of interest (other than an offer, proposal or indication of interest by another party to this Agreement) contemplating or otherwise relating to any transaction or series of related transactions involving any:
  - (A) merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, issuance of securities, direct or indirect acquisition of securities, recapitalization, tender offer, exchange offer or other similar transaction in which: (i) a Person or "group" (as defined in the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder) of Persons directly or indirectly acquires beneficial or record ownership of securities representing 20% or more of the outstanding shares of any class of voting securities of such party; or (ii) such party issues securities representing 20% or more of the outstanding shares of any class of voting securities of such party;
  - (B) sale, lease, exchange, transfer or disposition of any assets that constitute or account for: (i) 20% or more of the consolidated net revenues of such party, consolidated net income of such party or consolidated book value of such party; or (ii) 20% or more of the fair market value of the assets of such party; or
    - (C) liquidation or dissolution of such party.
- (iii) Diffusion will promptly, but in any event within twenty four (24) hours, notify Parent in writing if any proposal, offer or inquiry is received by, or any discussions or negotiations are sought to be initiated or continued with, Diffusion in respect of any Acquisition Proposal. Such notice will indicate the identity of the Person making such proposal, offer, inquiry or other contact and the material terms and conditions of any proposals or offers (and will include with such notice copies of any written materials received from or on behalf of such Person relating to such proposal, offer, inquiry or other request), and Diffusion thereafter will keep Parent informed promptly, but in any event within twenty four (24) hours, of all material developments affecting the status and the material terms of any such proposal, offer, inquiry or other request (including providing Parent with any additional written materials received relating to such proposal, offer, inquiry or other request).

(iv) Unless a Change in the Parent Board Recommendation has occurred, Parent has taken any of the actions permitted under Section 5.5(b)(ii), or this Agreement has been terminated pursuant to Article VIII, the Diffusion Board will not: (i) fail to make the Diffusion Board Recommendation to Diffusion's members; (ii) withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Parent, or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Parent, the Diffusion Board Recommendation; (iii) adopt, approve, recommend, endorse or otherwise declare advisable the adoption of any Acquisition Proposal; or (iv) resolve, agree or publicly propose to take any such actions (each such foregoing action or failure to act in clauses (i) through (iv) being referred to as a "Change in Diffusion Board Recommendation").

## (b) No Solicitation by Parent.

- (i) Subject to subsections (ii) and (iv), during the Interim Period, Parent will not, nor will it authorize or permit any of Parent Subsidiaries or any of its or their respective Representatives to, directly or indirectly, except as otherwise provided below: (i) solicit, initiate or encourage or facilitate (including by way of furnishing any non-public information relating to Parent or any Parent Subsidiary), or induce or take any other action which would reasonably be expected to lead to the making, submission or announcement of, any proposal or inquiry that constitutes, or is reasonably likely to lead to, an Acquisition Proposal; (ii) enter into, continue or participate in any discussions or any negotiations regarding any Acquisition Proposal or otherwise take any action to facilitate or induce any effort or attempt to make or implement an Acquisition Proposal (including any Acquisition Proposal received prior to the date of this Agreement); (iii) approve, endorse or recommend an Acquisition Proposal or any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding or Contract contemplating an Acquisition Proposal or requiring Parent or Merger Sub to abandon or terminate its obligations under this Agreement, or enter into any of the foregoing; or (iv) agree, resolve or commit to do any of the foregoing. Parent will, and will cause the Parent Subsidiaries and its and their respective Representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated all discussions or negotiations with any Person previously conducted with respect to any Acquisition Proposal. Parent will promptly deny to any third party access to any data room (virtual or actual) containing any confidential information previously furnished to any such third party relating to any Acquisition Proposal.
- (ii) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 5.5(b) to the contrary, in response to an unsolicited written Acquisition Proposal that the Parent Board determines in good faith (after consultation with its financial advisor and outside legal counsel) constitutes or would reasonably be expected to result in a Superior Proposal (and that did not result from a violation of Section 5.5(b)(i)), Parent may, upon a good faith determination by the Parent Board (after receiving the advice of its outside legal counsel) that failure to take such action would be inconsistent with the Parent Board's fiduciary duties to Parent's stockholders under applicable Law: (x) furnish information with respect to Parent to the Person making such Acquisition Proposal (and such Person's Representatives), provided that Parent and such Person first enter into a confidentiality agreement with confidentiality provisions that are not less restrictive to such Person than the provisions of the Diffusion Confidentiality Agreement are to Diffusion and that would not prohibit compliance by Parent with the provisions of this Section 5.5(b), provided further that all such information will have been previously provided to Diffusion; and (y) participate in discussions or negotiations with the Person making such Acquisition Proposal (and such Person's Representatives) regarding such Acquisition Proposal.

- (iii) Parent will promptly, but in any event within twenty four (24) hours, notify Diffusion in writing if any proposal, offer or inquiry is received by, or any discussions or negotiations are sought to be initiated or continued with, Parent in respect of any Acquisition Proposal. Such notice will advise Diffusion in writing of Parent's intention to participate or engage in discussions or negotiations with, or furnish non-public information to, such Person and will, in any such notice to Diffusion, indicate the identity of the Person making such proposal, offer, inquiry or other contact and the material terms and conditions of any proposals or offers (and will include with such notice copies of any written materials received from or on behalf of such Person relating to such proposal, offer, inquiry or other request), and thereafter will keep Diffusion informed promptly, but in any event within twenty four (24) hours, of all material developments affecting the status and the material terms of any such proposal, offer, inquiry or other request and of the status of any such discussions or negotiations relating thereto (including providing Diffusion with any additional written materials received relating to such proposal, offer, inquiry or other request).
- (iv) Unless a Change in Diffusion Board Recommendation has occurred or this Agreement has been terminated pursuant to Article VIII, the Parent Board will not: (i) fail to make the Parent Board Recommendation; (ii) withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Diffusion, or publicly propose to withhold, withdraw, amend, qualify or modify in a manner adverse to Diffusion, the Parent Board Recommendation; (iii) adopt, approve, recommend, endorse or otherwise declare advisable the adoption of any Acquisition Proposal; or (iv) resolve, agree or publicly propose to take any such actions (each such foregoing action or failure to act in clauses (i) through (iv) being referred to as a "Change in Parent Board Recommendation"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parent Board may take any of the actions set forth in Section 5.5(b)(iv)(A)-(B) below, provided that prior to taking any such action, Parent complies with Sections 5.5(b)(v) and 8.2 of this Agreement:
  - (A) effect a Change in Parent Board Recommendation in response to an Acquisition Proposal if the Board of Directors of Parent concludes in good faith: (A) after consultation with outside legal counsel, that the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its fiduciary duties to Parent's stockholders under applicable Law; and (B) after consultation with Parent's financial advisor and outside legal counsel, that the Acquisition Proposal constitutes a Superior Proposal; and
  - (B) following such a Change in Parent Board Recommendation, terminate this Agreement for the purpose of causing Parent to enter into an acquisition agreement with respect to such Acquisition Proposal.

- (v) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in Section 5.5(b)(iv), the Parent Board will not be entitled to make a Change in Parent Board Recommendation as contemplated by Section 5.5(b)(iv)(A) or terminate this Agreement and enter into another acquisition agreement as contemplated by Section 5.5(b)(iv)(B) unless: (i) Parent has first provided prior written notice to Diffusion that it intends to take any of the foregoing actions (a "Parent Notice"), which Parent Notice will contain a description of the material terms and conditions of such Superior Proposal, including a copy of the definitive acquisition agreement in the form to be entered into (it being understood and agreed that the delivery of such Parent Notice will not, in and of itself, be deemed to be a Change in Parent Board Recommendation); and (ii) Diffusion does not make, within five (5) Business Days after the receipt of such Parent Notice, a proposal that would, in the good faith judgment of the Parent Board (after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisor), cause the Acquisition Proposal previously constituting a Superior Proposal to no longer constitute a Superior Proposal, as the case may be; provided, however, that (x) any amendment to any material term of such Superior Proposal or (y) with respect to any previous Change in Parent Board Recommendation, any material change in the principal stated rationale of the Parent Board for such previous Change in Parent Board Recommendation, will, in the case of either (x) or (y), require a new Parent Notice and a new three (3) Business Day period.
- (vi) Nothing contained in this Section 5.5(b) or elsewhere in this Agreement will prohibit Parent or the Parent Board from: (i) taking and disclosing to Parent's stockholders a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9, Rule 14e-2(a) or Item 1012(a) of Regulation M-A promulgated under the Exchange Act; or (ii) making any disclosure to Parent's stockholders if, in the good faith judgment of the Parent Board, after consultation with outside legal counsel, the failure to make such disclosure would be inconsistent with the Parent Board's fiduciary duties to Parent's stockholders under applicable Law; provided, however, that this Section 5.5(b)(vi) will not affect the obligations of Parent and the Parent Board and the rights of Diffusion under Section 5.5(b)(vi) and Section 5.5(b)(v) to the extent applicable to such disclosure (it being understood that neither any "stop, look and listen" letter or similar communication of the type contemplated by Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act, nor any accurate disclosure of factual information (other than Parent or the Parent Board taking any action set forth in Section 5.5(b)(vi) and Section 5.5(b)(v) of this Agreement) to Parent's stockholders that is required to be made to such stockholders under applicable Law or in satisfaction of the Parent Board's fiduciary duties under applicable Law, will be deemed to be a Change in Parent Board Recommendation).

## Section 5.6 Fees and Expenses; Transfer Taxes.

(a) All fees and expenses incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including all legal, accounting, financial advisory, consulting and all other fees and expenses of third parties incurred by a party in connection with the negotiation and effectuation of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any costs associated with the Parent Tail Policy, the Diffusion Tail Policy, the services of the Rights Agent pursuant to the CVR Agreement, any filings pursuant to the HSR Act and the fees, if any, of the Independent Accountant (collectively, the "<u>Transaction Expenses</u>") shall be paid by the party incurring such Transaction Expenses if the Merger is not consummated, except as otherwise set forth in this <u>Section 5.6</u>; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Parent or the Surviving Company will pay the Transaction Expenses of each party if the Merger is consummated. All applicable sales, use, transfer, stock transfer recording, documentary, deed, stamp and other similar taxes and fees, including any real property transfer or gains taxes (if any), and any deficiency, interest or penalty asserted with respect thereto (collectively, "<u>Transfer Taxes</u>") shall be paid by Parent or the Surviving Company if the Merger is consummated. All necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to Transfer Taxes will be prepared and filed, at Parent's expense, by the party required to file such Tax Returns under applicable law and, if required by applicable law, the applicable non-filing parties will join in the execution of any such Tax Returns or other documentation.

- (b) If this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 8.1(b)(iii), 8.1(d)(i) or 8.1(d)(ii) or by Diffusion pursuant to Section 8.1(b)(iii), then Diffusion will reimburse Parent for up to \$400,000 of Parent's Transaction Expenses in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Parent in writing, either concurrently with any such notice of termination given by Diffusion or within five (5) Business Days of any such notice of termination given by Parent provided, however, that Diffusion will not be required to reimburse Parent for its Transaction Expenses if, at the time this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 8.1(b)(iii), Diffusion also had the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(ii) or 8.1(c)(iii).
- (c) If this Agreement is terminated by Diffusion pursuant to <u>Section 8.1(c)</u> or by Parent pursuant to <u>Section 8.1(d)(iii)</u>, then Parent will reimburse Diffusion for up to \$400,000 of Diffusion's Transaction Expenses, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Diffusion in writing, either concurrently with any such notice of termination given by Parent or within five (5) Business Days of any such notice of termination given by Diffusion; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Parent will not be required to reimburse Diffusion for its Transaction Expenses if, at the time this Agreement is terminated by Diffusion pursuant to <u>Section 8.1(d)(i)</u> or <u>8.1(d)(ii)</u>.
- (d) Diffusion agrees and acknowledges that that the failure of the Closing Cash Condition to be satisfied will not be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement and, except in connection with a termination by Diffusion pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(iv), Parent will not be required to reimburse Diffusion's Transaction Expenses as a result of the failure of the Closing Cash Condition to be satisfied.
- (e) Subject to the parties' right to specifically enforce the terms of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.8 prior to the valid termination of this Agreement, but notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, each of Diffusion and Parent agree that (i) such party's right to receive the reimbursement of Transaction Expenses as and when set forth in Section 5.6(b) or (c), will be the sole and exclusive remedy of such party against the other party, any of such other party's Subsidiaries or any of their respective former, current or future representatives, stockholders, members, managers, directors, officers, employees, agents, assignees or Affiliates (collectively, the "Other Parties") for all losses and damages suffered as a result of the failure of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement to be consummated or for any other breach or failure to perform hereunder or otherwise, and (ii) none of the Other Parties will have any liability or obligation, in any such case (clause (i) or (ii)) relating to, arising out of or with respect to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby (whether relating to, arising out of or with respect to any matter(s)forming the basis for such termination or otherwise), other than with respect to fraud on behalf of such Other Party. Without limitation of the foregoing, neither party nor any of its respective Affiliates or any other Person will be entitled to bring or maintain any proceeding, claim, suit or action against, or seek damages from, any of the Other Parties in contravention of the preceding sentence.

## ARTICLE VI

#### Additional Agreements

Section 6.1 <u>Issuance of Merger Consideration</u>. Parent shall take any action required to be taken under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, any applicable foreign or state securities or "blue sky" laws and the rules and regulations thereunder in connection with the Merger, the issuance of the Merger Consideration and the issuance of Parent Common Stock in respect of Diffusion Unit Options; <u>provided, however</u>, that the parties agree and acknowledge that (a) the shares of Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to the terms of this Agreement are intended to be issued in a transaction exempt from registration under the Securities Act by reason of Section 4(a)(2) thereof and/or Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act and (b) Parent will not be required to register the issuance of the shares of Parent Common Stock issued pursuant to the terms of this Agreement on Form S-4 or otherwise prior to the Closing. Diffusion shall furnish all information concerning Diffusion and the holders of the Diffusion Units and rights to acquire Diffusion Units pursuant to the Diffusion Award Plans as may be reasonably requested in connection with any such action.

Section 6.2 Access to Information; Confidentiality. Upon reasonable notice and subject to applicable Law, each of Diffusion and Parent shall, and shall cause each of its respective Subsidiaries to, afford to the other party and to the Representatives of such other party reasonable access during the period prior to the Effective Time to all their respective properties, books, Contracts, commitments, personnel and records and, during such period, each of Diffusion and Parent shall, and shall cause each of its respective Subsidiaries to, furnish promptly to the other party (a) a copy of each report, schedule, registration statement and other document filed by it during such period pursuant to the requirements of federal or state securities Laws or Health Laws (other than such documents that such party is not permitted to disclose under applicable Law) and (b) all other information concerning its business, properties and personnel as such other party may reasonably request; provided, however, that either party may withhold any document or information (i) that is subject to the terms of a confidentiality agreement with a third party entered into prior to the date of this Agreement or entered into after the date of this Agreement in the ordinary course of business (provided that the withholding party shall use reasonable best efforts to obtain the required consent of such third party to provide such access or disclosure), (ii) the disclosure of which would violate any Law or fiduciary duty (provided that the withholding party shall use reasonable best efforts to make appropriate substitute arrangements to permit reasonable disclosure not in violation of any Law or fiduciary duty) or (iii) that is subject to any attorney-client privilege (provided that the withholding party shall use reasonable best efforts to allow for such access or disclosure to the maximum extent that does not result in a loss of attorney-client privilege); provided that the foregoing grant of access to real property shall not include any right to conduct any environmental sampling, testing or other intrusive investigations. Furthermore, the parties acknowledge that with respect to the "Confidential Information" (as defined in the Diffusion Confidentiality Agreement), the Diffusion Confidentiality Agreement imposes additional restrictions as to the manner in which such information will be exchanged by the parties. All information exchanged pursuant to this Section 6.2 shall be subject to the Mutual Confidential Nondisclosure Agreement, dated September 4, 2015, between Parent and Diffusion (as supplemented and amended from time to time, the "Diffusion Confidentiality Agreement"). No investigation pursuant to this Section 6.2 or information provided, made available or delivered to Diffusion or Parent pursuant to this Section 6.2 or otherwise shall affect any representations or warranties of Parent or Diffusion or conditions or rights of Parent or Diffusion contained in this Agreement.

## Section 6.3 Required Actions.

- (a) Each of the parties shall use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and do, or cause to be done, and assist and cooperate with the other parties in doing, all things necessary to consummate and make effective, as soon as reasonably possible, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof, including: (i) Diffusion soliciting and obtaining the Required Diffusion Consent and (ii) Parent filing with the SEC and mailing to Parent's stockholders an information statement containing the information required by Section 14(f) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14f-1 promulgated thereunder (the "Schedule 14f-1"); provided, however, that nothing in this Section 6.3 shall prohibit either party from taking any action expressly contemplated by Section 5.5. Diffusion and Parent have each provided the other party (or will each provide the other party within five (5) Business Days after the date of this Agreement or, with respect to any reasonable request of the other party after the date of this Agreement, within three (3) Business Days of such request) with the information relating to it or its directors and officers required under Section 14(f) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14f-1, in the case of Diffusion, or deemed necessary or advisable for inclusion in the materials to be provided to the holders of Diffusion Units in connection with the solicitation of the Required Diffusion Consent (the "Diffusion Information Statement"), in the case of Parent, and will take all such other actions as may reasonably be requested by the other party in connection with the preparation and filing of the Schedule 14f-1, in the case of Diffusion, or the preparation and mailing of the Diffusion Information Statement, in the case of Parent, including, in each case, correcting any information provided that later becomes false or misleading.
- In connection with and without limiting Section 6.3(a), subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, each party will use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, to file, or cause to be filed, all documents and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including preparing and filing as promptly as practicable all documentation to effect all necessary filings, consents, waivers, approvals, authorizations, permits or orders from all third parties and Governmental Entities, including those required to satisfy the conditions set forth in Section 7.1(c), so as to enable the Closing to occur as soon as reasonably practicable. If the actions taken by Diffusion and Parent pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence do not result in the conditions set forth in Section 7.1(c) being satisfied, then each of Diffusion and Parent shall jointly (to the extent practicable) initiate and/or participate in any proceedings, whether judicial or administrative, in order to (i) oppose or defend against any action or proceeding by any Governmental Entity or other Person to challenge, prevent or enjoin the consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) take such action as is necessary to overturn any regulatory action or proceeding by any Governmental Entity or other Person to challenge or block, in whole or in part, consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including by defending any suit, action or other legal proceeding brought by any Governmental Entity or other Person in order to avoid the entry of, or to have vacated, overturned or terminated, including by appeal if necessary, any Injunction or other prohibition resulting from any suit, action or other legal proceeding that would cause any condition set forth in Section 7.1(c) not to be satisfied, provided that Diffusion and Parent shall cooperate with one another in connection with, and shall jointly control, all proceedings related to the foregoing. Nothing in this Section 6.3 shall require Parent, Merger Sub or Diffusion or any of Parent's other Subsidiaries to sell, hold separate, license or otherwise dispose of any assets or conduct their business in a specified manner, or agree or proffer to sell, hold separate, license or otherwise dispose of any assets or conduct their business in a specified manner, or permit or agree to the sale, holding separate, licensing or other disposition of, any assets of Parent, Merger Sub, Diffusion or any of Parent's other Subsidiaries, whether as a condition to obtaining any approval from, or to avoid potential litigation or administrative action by, a Governmental Entity.

- (c) In connection with and without limiting the generality of the foregoing:
- (i) Parent and Diffusion shall make or cause to be made, in consultation and cooperation with the other party hereto and as promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement (but in any event, with respect to clause (A) below, within fifteen (15) Business Days following the date of this Agreement), (A) if applicable, an appropriate filing of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act relating to the Merger and (B) all other necessary registrations, declarations, notices and filings relating to the Merger with any other Governmental Entities under any other antitrust, competition, trade regulation or similar Laws
- (ii) each of Parent and Diffusion shall use its reasonable best efforts to furnish to the other all assistance, cooperation and information required for any such registration, declaration, notice or filing and in order to achieve the effects set forth in Section 6.3(b);
- (iii) each of Parent and Diffusion shall keep the other apprised of the status of its filings, registrations and submissions with any Governmental Entity and give the other reasonable prior notice of any such registration, declaration, notice or filing and, to the extent reasonably practicable, of any communication with any Governmental Entity regarding the Merger (including with respect to any of the actions referred to in Section 6.3(b)), and permit the other to review and discuss in advance, and consider in good faith the views of, and secure the participation of, the other in connection with, any such registration, declaration, notice, filing or communication;
- (iv) each of Parent and Diffusion shall respond as promptly as practicable under the circumstances to any inquiries received from any Governmental Entity or any other authority enforcing applicable antitrust, competition, trade regulation or similar Laws for additional information or documentation in connection with antitrust, competition, trade regulation or similar matters; and

- (v) unless prohibited by applicable Law or by the applicable Governmental Entity, (A) to the extent reasonably practicable, neither Parent nor Diffusion shall participate in or attend any meeting, or engage in any substantive conversation with any Governmental Entity in respect of the Merger (including with respect to any of the actions referred to in Section 6.3(c)) without the other, (B) to the extent reasonably practicable, each of Parent and Diffusion shall give the other reasonable prior notice of any such meeting or conversation, (C) in the event one party is prohibited by applicable Law or by the applicable Governmental Entity from participating or attending any such meeting or engaging in any such conversation, the attending party shall keep the other reasonably apprised with respect thereto, (D) each of Parent and Diffusion shall cooperate in the filing of any substantive memoranda, white papers, filings, correspondence or other written communications explaining or defending this Agreement and the Merger, articulating any regulatory or competitive argument, and/or responding to requests or objections made by any Governmental Entity, and (E) each of Parent and Diffusion shall furnish the other party with copies of all correspondence, filings and communications (and memoranda setting forth the substance thereof) between it and its Affiliates and their respective Representatives on the one hand, and any Governmental Entity or members of any Governmental Entity's staff, on the other hand, with respect to this Agreement and the Merger.
- (d) Diffusion shall give prompt notice to Parent, and Parent shall give prompt notice to Diffusion, of (i) any representation or warranty made by it contained in this Agreement that is qualified as to materiality becoming untrue or inaccurate in any respect or any such representation or warranty that is not so qualified becoming untrue or inaccurate in any material respect or (ii) the failure by it to comply with or satisfy in any material respect any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it under this Agreement; provided, however, that no such notification shall affect the representations, warranties, covenants or agreements of the parties or the conditions to the obligations of the parties under this Agreement; provided, further, that a failure to comply with this Section 6.3(d) will not constitute the failure of any condition set forth in Article VII to be satisfied, unless the underlying inaccuracy or breach would independently result in the failure of a condition set forth in Article VII to be satisfied.

#### Section 6.4 <u>Indemnification and Directors and Officers Insurance</u>.

### (a) <u>Indemnification of Parent Directors and Officers</u>.

(i) Parent agrees that all rights to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring prior to the Effective Time now existing in favor of the current or former directors or officers of Parent (each, a "Parent Indemnified Party") as provided in the Parent Certificate of Incorporation, the Existing Parent Bylaws, the indemnification agreements between Parent and each of its current or former directors and officers or pursuant to any other Contracts in effect on the date hereof and disclosed on Section 6.4 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, shall survive the Merger and continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

- (ii) At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall purchase a "tail" directors' and officers' liability insurance policy (the "Parent Tail Policy") for Parent and its current or former directors and officers who are currently covered by the directors' and officers' liability insurance coverage currently maintained by Parent that shall provide Parent and such directors and officers with coverage for six years following the Effective Time of not less than the existing coverage and have other terms not less favorable to the insured persons than the directors' and officers' liability insurance coverage currently maintained by Parent with respect to claims arising out of or relating to events which occurred before or at the Effective Time (including in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement); provided, however, that in no event shall Parent be required to expend for such policy an amount in excess of 300% of the annual aggregate premiums currently paid by Parent for such insurance (the "Parent Maximum Premium"). Parent shall maintain such policy in full force and effect, and continue to honor the obligations thereunder. If such insurance coverage cannot be obtained at all, or can only be obtained at an annual premium in excess of the Parent Maximum Premium, Parent will cause to be maintained the most advantageous policies of directors' and officers' insurance obtainable for an annual premium equal to the Parent Maximum Premium.
- (iii) The provisions of this <u>Section 6.4(a)</u> will survive the Effective Time and are intended to be for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each Parent Indemnified Party and his or her heirs and representatives. Parent shall pay or cause to be paid (as incurred) all expenses, including reasonable fees and expenses of counsel, that a Parent Indemnified Party may incur in enforcing the indemnity and other obligations provided for in this <u>Section 6.4(a)</u> (subject to reimbursement if the Parent Indemnified Party is subsequently determined not to be entitled to indemnification under <u>Section 6.4(a)</u>(i)).
- (iv) If Parent or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, to the extent necessary, proper provision will be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent, as the case may be, will assume the obligations set forth in this <u>Section 6.4(a)</u>.
  - (v) The current and former directors and officers of Parent are express third party beneficiaries of this Section 6.4(a).
  - (b) <u>Indemnification of Diffusion Directors and Officers</u>.
- (i) Parent agrees that all rights to indemnification, advancement of expenses and exculpation from liabilities for acts or omissions occurring prior to the Effective Time now existing in favor of the current or former directors or officers of Diffusion (each, a "<u>Diffusion Indemnified Party</u>.") as provided in the Existing Diffusion Articles and Existing Diffusion Operating Agreement or pursuant to any other Contracts in effect on the date hereof and disclosed on Section 6.4 of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, shall be assumed by the Surviving Company in the Merger without any further action by any party, and shall survive the Merger and continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

- (ii) At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall purchase a "tail" directors' and officers' liability insurance policy (the "Diffusion Tail Policy") for Diffusion and its current and former directors and officers who are currently covered by the directors' and officers' liability insurance coverage currently maintained by Diffusion, in a form reasonably acceptable to Diffusion, that shall provide Diffusion and such directors and officers with coverage for six years following the Effective Time of not less than the existing coverage and have other terms not less favorable to the insured persons than the directors' and officers' liability insurance coverage currently maintained by Diffusion with respect to claims arising out of or relating to events which occurred before or at the Effective Time (including in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement); provided, however, that in no event shall Parent be required to expend for such policy an amount in excess of 300% of the annual aggregate premiums currently paid by Diffusion for such insurance (the "Diffusion Maximum Premium"). Parent shall maintain such policy in full force and effect, and continue to honor the obligations thereunder. If such insurance coverage cannot be obtained at all, or can only be obtained at an annual premium in excess of the Diffusion Maximum Premium, Parent will cause to be maintained the most advantageous policies of directors' and officers' insurance obtainable for an annual premium equal to the Diffusion Maximum Premium.
- (iii) The provisions of this  $\underline{\text{Section } 6.4(\underline{b})}$  will survive the Effective Time and are intended to be for the benefit of, and will be enforceable by, each Indemnified Party and his or her heirs and representatives. Parent shall pay or cause to be paid (as incurred) all expenses, including reasonable fees and expenses of counsel, that a Diffusion Indemnified Party may incur in enforcing the indemnity and other obligations provided for in this  $\underline{\text{Section } 6.4(\underline{b})}$  (subject to reimbursement if the Diffusion Indemnified Party is subsequently determined not to be entitled to indemnification under  $\underline{\text{Section } 6.4(\underline{b})}$  (in).
- (c) If Parent or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates with or merges into any other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, to the extent necessary, proper provision will be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent, as the case may be, will assume the obligations set forth in this <u>Section 6.4(b)</u>.
  - (d) The current and former directors and officers of Diffusion are express third party beneficiaries of this Section 6.4(b).

Section 6.5 <u>Transaction Litigation</u>. Parent shall give Diffusion the opportunity to participate in the defense or settlement of any stockholder litigation against Parent and/or its directors relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no such settlement shall be agreed to without the prior written consent of Diffusion, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. For purposes of this paragraph, "participate" means that the non-litigating party will be kept apprised of proposed strategy and other significant decisions with respect to the litigation by the litigating party, consistent with the common interest of Parent and Diffusion in these matters and the applicable privileges and protections provided therein, and the non-litigating party may offer comments or suggestions with respect to the litigation, but will not be afforded any decision making power or other authority over the litigation except for the settlement consent set forth above.

#### Section 6.6 Governance Matters.

- (a) <u>Board of Directors</u>. Parent shall take all necessary action to cause, effective at the Effective Time, (i) the size of its board of directors to consist of six members and (ii) the board of directors of Parent to be comprised of the individuals listed on <u>Exhibit D</u> (the "<u>Reconstituted Parent Board</u>"); <u>provided</u> that if any such individual is unable or unwilling to serve on the Reconstituted Parent Board immediately after the Effective Time, a replacement individual shall be selected by Diffusion.
- (b) <u>Governance Matters</u>. Parent, Merger Sub and Diffusion shall take all actions necessary so that the matters set forth on <u>Exhibit D</u> occur on the Closing Date.

Section 6.7 <u>Public Announcements</u>. The initial press release with respect to the execution of this Agreement shall be a joint press release to be reasonably agreed upon by Parent and Diffusion. Thereafter, neither Parent nor Diffusion, nor any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives shall issue or cause the publication of any press release or other public announcement (to the extent previously issued or made in accordance with this Agreement) with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior consent of the other party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), except as may be required by Law or, with respect to Parent, the rules and regulations of the OTCQB marketplace or OTC Markets Group, Inc., as determined in the good faith judgment of the party proposing to make such release (in which case such party shall not issue or cause the publication of such press release or other public announcement without prior consultation with the other party). Parent shall provide Diffusion the opportunity to review and comment prior to any publication or dissemination of any other press release or other public announcement or statement, except as required by applicable Law or, with respect to Parent, the rules and regulations of the OTCQB marketplace or OTC Markets Group, Inc. Parent and Diffusion shall cooperate to ensure that all such press releases or public announcements comply with the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules promulgated thereunder.

### Section 6.8 Contingent Value Rights.

- (a) Subject to this <u>Section 6.8</u>, Parent will have the right to issue, prior to the Closing Date, to the holders of CVR Eligible Securities (as defined in the CVR Agreement) a dividend of one contingent value right (a "<u>CVR</u>," and collectively the "<u>CVRs</u>,") with respect to each CVR Eligible Security then issued and outstanding held by such holder. Subject and pursuant to the terms of the CVR Agreement (which will not be amended or modified without the prior written consent of Diffusion), each CVR shall entitle the holder thereof to certain payments on the terms set forth therein.
- (b) At least five (5) Business Days prior to the issuance of the CVRs, Parent shall provide to Diffusion a draft of any additional documents related to the issuance of the CVRs to the holders of CVR Eligible Securities, including, but not limited to, the resolutions of the Parent Board authorizing and approving such issuance, and Parent agrees to consider in good faith any reasonable comments of, and make any reasonable revisions requested by, Diffusion with respect thereto.

#### Section 6.9 <u>Certain Tax Matters.</u>

- (a) The parties intend, that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, (1) the Merger shall qualify as a contribution by the holders of the Diffusion Units to Parent in exchange for Parent Common Stock, which contribution shall be governed by Section 351(a) of the Code and (2) the foregoing contribution of the Diffusion Units to Parent shall cause the termination of Diffusion as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Parent and Diffusion shall each use their respective reasonable best efforts to cause the Merger to be treated as an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Code.
- (b) The parties shall treat the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in a manner consistent with the intended tax treatment described in (a) above, and no party hereto will take any position inconsistent with the foregoing on any U.S. federal, state or local income Tax Return, or take any other Tax reporting position unless otherwise required by a "determination" (as defined in Section 1313(a)(1) of the Code) or by applicable federal, state or local income Tax law.
  - (c) In furtherance of the foregoing:
    - (i) Diffusion hereby represents, warrants and covenants as follows:
  - (A) Diffusion has not taken any action, nor, to the Knowledge of Diffusion, does there exist any fact or circumstance, that would prevent or impede, or would be reasonably likely to prevent or impede, the Merger from qualifying as an "exchange" within the meaning of Section 351(a) of the Code (other than such gain recognized in connection with the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.2(f)); and
  - (B) Diffusion has no current plan or intention to, and is not a party to a binding agreement or obligation or subject to any requirement to, and will not, take any action that, in each instance, it knows or reasonably should know could adversely affect the treatment of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Code.
    - (ii) Parent hereby represents, warrants and covenants as follows:
  - (A) Neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken any action, nor, to the Knowledge of Parent, there does not exist any fact or circumstance, that would prevent or impede, or would be reasonably likely to prevent or impede, the Merger from qualifying as an "exchange" within the meaning of Section 351(a) of the Code (other than such gain recognized in connection with the receipt of cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to Section 2.2(f));
  - (B) Parent has no current plan or intention, and is not a party to a binding agreement or obligation or subject to any requirement, to issue, grant, distribute, sell, cancel, redeem, acquire, assign, transfer, recapitalize or amend (however accomplished) the terms of any shares of Parent Stock (or other equity rights, including Parent Stock Options and Parent Warrants), including any transaction treated as a sale of Parent equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes, to the extent such actions would cause the Former Diffusion Holders to no longer be in Control of Parent, and will not take any such action within one (1) year of the Closing to the extent such action would cause the Former Diffusion Holders to no longer be in Control of Parent;

- (C) Parent has no current plan or intention, and is not party to any binding agreement or obligation or subject to any requirement, to be liquidated, merged, or converted to a limited liability company (or other non-corporate entity), or to enter into any other transaction pursuant to which Parent ceases to exist as a separate entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes;
- (D) Parent has no current plan or intention to, and is not a party to a binding agreement or obligation or subject to any requirement to, and will not, take any action that, in each instance, it knows or reasonably should know could adversely affect the treatment of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement as an exchange governed by Section 351(a) of the Code;
  - (E) Parent is not an Investment Company; and
- (F) Merger Sub was formed solely to effectuate the Merger, and (I) has not held, and will not hold at any time prior to the Merger, any assets (other than cash contributed by Parent upon formation), and (II) has not conducted, and will not conduct at any time prior to the Merger, any business activities or operations of any kind, other than activities in connection with the Merger.
  - (iii) Diffusion and Parent hereby represent that there are substantial non-tax corporate business purposes for the Merger.
  - (iv) For purposes of this Section 6.9(c):
- (A) "Control" of a corporation means ownership of (I) at least 80% of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of such corporation entitled to vote, and (II) at least 80% of the total number of shares of each other class of stock of such corporation; and
- (B) "Investment Company" has the meaning given to such term in Section 351(e) of the Code and Treasury Regulations Section 1.351-1(c).
- Section 6.10 <u>FIRPTA Certificate</u>. On the Closing Date, Diffusion shall deliver to Parent a properly executed statement (a "<u>FIRPTA Compliance Certificate</u>") in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent for purposes of certifying that the Diffusion Units do not constitute United States real property interests under Code Sections 897(g) and 1445(e).

# Section 6.11 <u>Diffusion Registration Rights.</u>

(a) Subject to the provisions of this Section 6.11, after the Effective Time, Parent will use its commercially reasonable efforts to file with the SEC no later than the two hundred seventieth (270th) day following the Closing Date, a Registration Statement to register, under and in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act, all Registrable Securities (the "Parent Registration"); provided, that if Parent determines in good faith that it would be materially adverse to Parent for a Registration Statement to be filed on or before the date such filing would otherwise be required pursuant to the foregoing, Parent shall have the right to defer such filing for a period of not more than one hundred eighty (180) additional days.

- (b) Parent will use its commercially reasonable efforts to effect within one hundred eighty (180) days of the filing of such Registration Statement the registration under the Securities Act (including appropriate qualification under applicable blue sky or other state securities laws and appropriate compliance with the applicable regulations promulgated under the Securities Act) of the Registrable Securities that Parent has been so required to register; provided that Parent shall not be required to qualify to do business or to file a general consent to service of process in any such states or jurisdictions, unless Parent is already subject to service in such jurisdiction and except as may be required by the Securities Act.
- (c) <u>Registration Obligations and Procedures</u>. Any registration pursuant to this <u>Section 6.11</u> shall be on such appropriate SEC Registration Statement form as shall be selected by Parent. Parent shall use its best efforts to keep such Registration Statement effective for as long as is necessary for the Former Diffusion Holders to dispose of the Registrable Securities.

### (d) Provision of Information.

- (i) Any participation by the Former Diffusion Holders in a Parent Registration shall be in accordance with the applicable plan of distribution. Parent shall have sole discretion to select the underwriters for any such offering, if any.
- (ii) In connection with any Parent Registration in which any Former Diffusion Holder includes Registrable Securities pursuant to this <u>Section 6.11</u> (any such Former Diffusion Holder, a "<u>Participating Stockholder</u>"), such Participating Stockholder agrees (A) to supply any information reasonably requested by Parent in connection with the preparation of a Registration Statement and/or any other documents relating to such registered offering and (B) to execute and deliver any agreements and instruments being executed by all holders on substantially the same terms reasonably requested by Parent to effectuate such registered offering, including underwriting agreements, custody agreements, lock-ups, "hold back" agreements pursuant to which such Participating Stockholder agrees not to sell or purchase any securities of Parent for the same period of time following the registered offering as is agreed to by the other participating holders, powers of attorney and questionnaires.
- (iii) If Parent requests that the Former Diffusion Holders take any of the actions referred to in paragraph (ii) of this Section 6.11(e), the Former Diffusion Holders shall take such action promptly but in any event within three (3) Business Days following the date of such request. If such Former Diffusion Holder fails to take such action within such three (3) Business Day period, Parent shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to exclude any Registrable Securities held by such Former Diffusion Holder from any such Registration Statement. Furthermore, Parent agrees that it shall use commercially reasonably efforts to obtain any waivers to the restrictive sale and purchase provisions of any "hold back" agreement that are reasonably requested by a Former Diffusion Holder.

#### Section 6.12 <u>Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount; Post-Closing Adjustment.</u>

#### (a) Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount.

- (i) Section 6.12 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule sets forth, in reasonable detail, Parent's good faith estimate of the Parent Net Cash Amount and the components thereof, calculated as if the Closing had occurred on December 31, 2015. Parent and Diffusion agree that the Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount and Final Parent Net Cash Amount will each be calculated based on the same assumptions and methodologies used in preparing Section 6.12 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.
- (ii) At least three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, Parent will deliver to Diffusion a schedule (the "Estimated Net Cash Schedule") that sets forth, in reasonable detail, Parent's good faith estimate of the Parent Net Cash Amount and the components thereof, together with the work papers and back-up materials supporting the basis for such schedule.
- (iii) Diffusion will use its commercially reasonable efforts to notify Parent of any objections to the Estimated Net Cash Schedule at least one (1) Business Day prior to Closing and Parent and Diffusion will use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to promptly meet and attempt in good faith to resolve any such objections prior to Closing.
- (iv) For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount" means (1) Parent's good faith estimate of the Parent Net Cash Amount as set forth on the Estimated Net Cash Schedule or (2) such other amount as agreed upon in writing by Parent and Diffusion prior to Closing.

## (b) Post-Closing Adjustment.

(i) Within the thirty (30) day period immediately following the Closing Date, Parent will have the right to dispute (a "<u>Dispute</u>") any part of the Estimated Net Cash Schedule by delivering a written notice (a "<u>Dispute Notice</u>") to the Independent Accountant with a copy to the Parent Representative. Any Dispute Notice will identify in reasonable detail the nature of any proposed revisions to the Estimated Net Cash Schedule and Parent's good faith estimate of the final Parent Net Cash Amount and the components thereof (any such items, the "<u>Disputed Items</u>"), and will be accompanied by reasonably detailed work papers and back-up materials supporting the basis for such proposed revisions.

- (ii) The Independent Accountant will be instructed to make a written determination with respect to the Disputed Items as promptly as practicable, but in any event within thirty (30) calendar days after the date on which the Dispute is referred to the Independent Accountant. The Independent Accountant shall determine, based solely on the Estimated Net Cash Schedule, the Dispute Notice and the work papers and back-up materials supporting the basis for each, and not by independent review, only the Disputed Items. In resolving any Disputed Item, the Independent Accountant shall be bound by the assumptions and methodologies used in preparing Section 6.12 of the Parent Disclosure Schedule, the definitions of Parent Net Cash Amount, Parent Working Capital Liability Amount, Parent Indebtedness Amount, Parent Other Liability Amount, Parent Bonus Payment Amount, Transaction Expenses and Transfer Taxes and the other applicable requirements of this Section 6.12 (and related definitions) and shall not assign a value to any item greater than the greatest value for such item claimed by either party or less than the smallest value for such item claimed by either party. No party hereto nor the Parent Representative shall have any *ex parte* conversations or meetings with the Independent Accountant without the prior consent of the other party. Notwithstanding any provisions hereof to the contrary, the Independent Accountant shall be deemed to be acting as an expert and not as an arbiter.
- (iii) For purposes of this Agreement, the term "<u>Final Parent Net Cash Amount</u>" means (1) in the event there is no Dispute, the Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount or (2) in the event there is a Dispute, the Parent Net Cash Amount as finally determined by the Independent Accountant pursuant to <u>Section 6.12(b)(iii)</u>.

#### ARTICLE VII

#### CONDITIONS

- Section 7.1 <u>Conditions to Each Party's Obligation to Effect the Merger</u>. The respective obligations of the parties to effect the Merger shall be subject to the satisfaction, or waiver by each of the parties, at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:
- (a) Regulatory Approvals. (i) All consents of Governmental Entities set forth in Section 7.1(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and Section 7.1(c) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect at the Closing (including any applicable waiting period (and any extension thereof) applicable to the Merger under the HSR Act having expired or been earlier terminated); and (ii) all filings with Governmental Entities set forth in Section 7.1(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule and Section 7.1(c) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule shall have been made and any applicable waiting period thereunder shall have expired or been terminated, as the case may be (all such expirations, terminations, consents and filings collectively, the "Requisite Regulatory Approvals").
  - (b) Requisite Diffusion Consent. The Requisite Diffusion Consent shall have been obtained.
- (c) <u>No Injunctions or Restraints</u>. No statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent Injunction or other order enacted, entered, promulgated, enforced or issued by any Governmental Entity, or other legal restraint or prohibition shall be in effect preventing, the consummation of the Merger and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
  - (d) <u>Governance Matters</u>. The actions set forth on <u>Exhibit D</u> shall have been taken.

Section 7.2 <u>Conditions to Obligations of Parent</u>. The obligation of Parent to effect the Merger is also subject to the satisfaction, or waiver by Parent, at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:

- (a) Representations and Warranties. (i) Each of the representations and warranties of Diffusion set forth in Section 4.1, Section 4.2, Section 4.3 and Section 4.5(a) shall be true and correct in all material respects on the date of this Agreement, and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent that any such representation or warranty speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), and (ii) the other representations and warranties of Diffusion set forth in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects on the date of this Agreement, and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent that any such representation or warranty speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to "materiality" or "Diffusion Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein), individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect, and Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Diffusion by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of Diffusion to the foregoing effects.
- (b) <u>Performance of Obligations of Diffusion</u>. Diffusion shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date, and Parent shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Diffusion by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of Diffusion to such effect.
  - (c) MAE. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall have been no Diffusion Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) <u>No Proceedings</u>. No new material Proceeding shall have been instituted against or threatened in writing against Diffusion after the date hereof (or have been instituted against or threatened in writing against any present or former officer, director or employee of Diffusion after the date hereof in connection with which Diffusion has an indemnification obligation).
  - (e) Parent Closing Ownership Percentage. The Parent Percentage shall be no less than 10%.
- (f) <u>Agreements</u>. Diffusion shall have delivered to Parent the Voting and Lock-Up Agreements executed by each of the Diffusion Lock-Up Parties.

#### Section 7.3 Conditions to Obligations of Diffusion.

(a) Representations and Warranties. (i) Each of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in Section 3.1, Section 3.2, Section 3.3 and Section 3.5(a) of this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on the date of this Agreement, and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent that any such representation or warranty speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), and (ii) the other representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects on the date of this Agreement, and as of the Closing Date, as if made at and as of such date (except to the extent that any such representation or warranty speaks as of an earlier date, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date), except where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct (without giving effect to any limitation as to "materiality" or "Parent Material Adverse Effect" set forth therein), individually or in the aggregate, has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, a Parent Material Adverse Effect, and Diffusion shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Parent by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of Parent to the foregoing effects.

- (b) <u>Performance of Obligations of Parent</u>. Parent shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date, and Diffusion shall have received a certificate signed on behalf of Parent by the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of Parent to such effect.
  - (c) MAE. Since the date of this Agreement, there shall have been no Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) <u>Agreements</u>. Parent shall have executed and delivered, or caused to be executed and delivered, the Voting and Lock-Up Agreements executed by Parent and each of the Parent Lock-Up Parties, the CVR Agreement and the Parent Board Resignations.
- (e) <u>No Proceedings</u>. No new material Proceeding shall have been instituted against or threatened in writing against Parent, Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries after the date hereof (or have been instituted against or threatened in writing against any present or former officer, director or employee of Parent or any Parent Subsidiary after the date hereof in connection with which Parent or any Parent Subsidiary has an indemnification obligation); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Diffusion agrees and acknowledges that any Proceeding instituted against or threatened in writing against Parent or any of its officers or directors by or on behalf of any stockholder of Parent in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall not be deemed to be a material Proceeding for purposes of this <u>Section 7.3(e)</u> and, subject to <u>Section 7.1(c)</u>, it is not a condition to the obligation of Diffusion to effect the Merger that no such Proceeding be so instituted or threatened.
  - (f) <u>Closing Cash Condition</u>. The Closing Cash Condition shall have been satisfied.
- (g) <u>Diffusion Closing Ownership Percentage</u>. Immediately following the Effective Time, Former Diffusion Holders will own, on an issued and outstanding basis, at least 80% of the shares of Parent Common Stock.
- (h) <u>Form S-1 Registration Statement</u>. Parent shall have delivered to Diffusion evidence reasonably satisfactory to Diffusion that Parent's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-197409), originally filed with the SEC on July 14, 2014, has been effectively withdrawn.
- Section 7.4 <u>Frustration of Closing Conditions</u>. Neither Parent nor Diffusion may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in <u>Section 7.1, 7.2</u> or <u>7.3</u>, as the case may be, to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such party's failure to use its reasonable best efforts to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby, or other breach of or noncompliance with this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE VIII

#### TERMINATION

Section 8.1 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated and the transactions contemplated hereby abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time:

- (a) by the mutual written consent of Parent and Diffusion.
- (b) by either of Diffusion or Parent:
- (i) if the Closing shall not have been consummated on or before February 29, 2016 (the "Outside Date"); provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1(b)(i) shall not be available to a party if the inability to satisfy such condition was due to the failure of such party to perform in any material respect any of its obligations under this Agreement;
- (ii) if any restraint having the effect set forth in <u>Section 7.1(c)</u> shall be in effect and shall have become final and non-appealable; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this <u>Section 8.1(b)(ii)</u> shall not be available to a party if such restraint was due to the failure of such party to perform in any material respect any of its obligations under this Agreement; or
  - (iii) if the Requisite Diffusion Consent shall not have been obtained by January 15, 2016.
  - (c) by Diffusion:
- (i) if Parent shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement (or if any of the representations or warranties of Parent set forth in this Agreement shall fail to be true), which breach or failure (A) would (if it occurred or was continuing as of the Closing Date) give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.3(a) or (b) and (B) is incapable of being cured, or is not cured, by Parent within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice from Diffusion of such breach or failure; provided, that Diffusion shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.1(c)(i) if Diffusion is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement;
  - (ii) if Parent shall have breached its obligations under Section 5.5(b);
  - (iii) if Parent shall have entered into a definitive agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal; or
  - (iv) if the Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount is less than \$4,700,000.

### (d) by Parent:

- (i) if Diffusion shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements set forth in this Agreement (or if any of the representations or warranties of Diffusion set forth in this Agreement shall fail to be true), which breach or failure (A) would (if it occurred or was continuing as of the Closing Date) give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 7.2(a) or (b) and (B) is incapable of being cured, or is not cured, by Diffusion within thirty (30) days following receipt of written notice from Parent of such breach or failure; provided, that Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(d)(i) if Parent is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement;
  - (ii) if Diffusion shall have breached its obligations under Section 5.5(a); or
- (iii) if (A) the Parent Board shall have authorized Parent to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal and (B) Parent has complied in all material respects with <u>Section 5.5</u>; <u>provided</u> that substantially concurrently with such termination, Parent enters into such definitive agreement and fulfills its obligations under <u>Section 8.2</u>.

Section 8.2 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in <u>Section 8.1</u>, written notice thereof shall be given to the other party or parties, specifying the provision of this Agreement pursuant to which such termination is made, and this Agreement shall forthwith become null and void (other than the provisions in <u>Sections 5.6</u> and <u>8.2</u>, and the provisions in <u>Article IX</u>, all of which shall survive termination of this Agreement), and there shall be no liability on the part of Diffusion or Parent or their respective directors, officers and Affiliates.

#### ARTICLE IX

#### MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.1 <u>Survival of Representations and Warranties</u>. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the representations, warranties and agreements of each party hereto shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of any other party hereto, whether prior to or after the execution of this Agreement. The representations, warranties and agreements in this Agreement shall terminate at the Effective Time or, except as otherwise provided in <u>Section 8.2</u>, upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 8.1</u>, as the case may be, except those set forth in <u>Sections 5.6</u> and <u>8.2</u> and this <u>Article IX</u> shall survive termination of this Agreement <u>provided</u>, that this <u>Section 9.1</u> shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the parties that by its terms contemplates or requires performance after the Effective Time. The Diffusion Confidentiality Agreement shall (i) survive termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms and (ii) terminate as of the Effective Time.

Section 9.2 <u>Amendment or Supplement.</u> At any time prior to the Effective Time, this Agreement may be amended or supplemented in any and all respects by written agreement of the parties hereto.

Section 9.3 Extension of Time; Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, any party may, subject to applicable Law, (a) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of any other party hereto, (b) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or acts of any other party hereto or (c) waive compliance by the other party with any of the agreements contained herein or, except as otherwise provided herein, waive any of such party's conditions. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by Parent or Diffusion in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right hereunder. Any agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party.

Section 9.4 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of Law or otherwise, by any of the parties without the prior written consent of the other parties. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement shall be binding upon, inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Any purported assignment not permitted under this Section shall be null and void.

Section 9.5 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (each of which shall be deemed to be an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement) and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties and delivered to the other parties. The exchange of copies of this Agreement and of signature pages by e-mail or facsimile transmission, PDF or other electronic file will constitute effective execution and delivery of this Agreement as to the parties and may be used in lieu of the original Agreement for all purposes. Signatures of the parties transmitted by e-mail or facsimile, PDF or other electronic file will be deemed to be their original signatures for all purposes.

Section 9.6 Entire Agreement; No Third-Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement, the Parent Disclosure Schedule, the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, the Voting and Lock-Up Agreements and the CVR Agreement (a) constitute the entire agreement, and supersede all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and thereof and (b) shall not confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights (including third-party beneficiary rights or otherwise) or remedies hereunder, except for, in the case of clause (b), as set forth in Section 6.4.

#### Section 9.7 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a) This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed entirely within that State.

- (b) Each of the parties hereto irrevocably agrees that any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder, or for recognition and enforcement of any judgment in respect of this Agreement and the rights and obligations arising hereunder brought by the other party hereto or its successors or assigns, shall be brought and determined exclusively in the Delaware Court of Chancery and any state appellate court therefrom within the State of Delaware (or, if the Delaware Court of Chancery declines to accept jurisdiction over a particular matter, any state or federal court within the State of Delaware). Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably submits with regard to any such action or proceeding for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, to the personal jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts and agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any court other than the aforesaid courts. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise, in any action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement, (i) any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above named courts for any reason other than the failure to serve in accordance with this Section 9.7, (ii) any claim that it or its property is exempt or immune from the jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise) and (iii) to the fullest extent permitted by the applicable Law, any claim that (x) the suit, action or proceeding in such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, (y) the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is improper or (z) this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts.
- (c) EACH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THE ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY IN THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT.

Section 9.8 Specific Performance. The parties agree that irreparable damage would occur and that the parties would not have any adequate remedy at law in the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached and it is accordingly agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement, in each case, in accordance with this Section 9.8 in the Delaware Court of Chancery or any federal court sitting in the State of Delaware, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief as provided herein on the basis that (x) either party has an adequate remedy at law or (y) an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or equity.

Section 9.9 <u>Notices</u>. Any notice, request, instruction, or other document to be given hereunder by any party hereto to any other party shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally, by overnight courier service, by electronic mail in portable document format or sent by certified, registered or express air mail, postage prepaid (and shall be deemed given when, delivered if delivered by hand, one Business Day after deposited with an overnight courier service if delivered by overnight courier, upon electronic confirmation of receipt if sent by electronic mail during normal business hours and otherwise upon the opening of business on the next Business Day, and five days after mailing if mailed), as follows:

### If to Parent or Merger Sub:

2150 East Lake Cook Road, Suite 750 Buffalo Grove, Illinois 60089 Attention: Stephen M. Simes, Chief Executive Officer E-mail: ssimes@restorgenex.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Oppenheimer Wolff & Donnelly LLP
222 South Ninth Street, Suite 2000
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402
Attention: Amy E. Culbert, Esq.
Brett R. Hanson, Esq.
E-mail: aculbert@oppenheimer.com
bhanson@oppenheimer.com

If to Diffusion:

2020 Avon Court, #4
Charlottesville, Virginia 22902
Attention: David G. Kalergis, Chief Executive Officer
Ben Shealy, Chief Financial Officer
E-mail: dkalergis@diffusionpharma.com
wshealy@diffusionpharma.com

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Dechert LLP 1095 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10036 Attention: David S. Rosenthal, Esq. E-mail: david.rosenthal@dechert.com or to such other address or e-mail address as any party hereto shall notify the other parties hereto (as provided above) from time to time.

Section 9.10 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law or public policy, all other terms, provisions and conditions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible.

Section 9.11 <u>Definitions</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings ascribed thereto below:

"Accredited Holders" means (i) the holders of Diffusion Units listed on Section 9.11(a) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule except for any holder listed thereon that Parent notifies Diffusion prior to the Closing is being removed because the parties have agreed in good faith that evidence reasonably satisfactory to affirm that the holder is an "accredited investor" (as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act) has not been received by Diffusion or provided to Parent), (ii) any other holder of Diffusion Units that executes and delivers to Diffusion or Parent prior to the Closing an accredited investor questionnaire in the form of Exhibit E that indicates that such holder is an accredited investor and that Parent, in its reasonable discretion determines is, in fact, an "accredited investor" (as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act) and (iii) any other holder of Diffusion Units that Parent in its reasonable discretion determines is an "accredited investor" (as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act) without having received such a questionnaire.

"Affiliate" of any Person means another Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person.

"Benefit Plan" means each (i) "employee benefit plan," as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, (ii) pension, retirement, deferred compensation, profit sharing, bonus, incentive, equity or equity-based, employment, consulting, severance, termination, change-of-control, health, life, disability, group insurance, retention, welfare and paid time off plan, program, contract or arrangement and (iii) other material compensation plan, program, contract or arrangement.

"Business Day." means any day other than (i) a Saturday or a Sunday or (ii) a day on which banking and savings and loan institutions are authorized or required by Law to be closed in New York City.

"Closing Cash Condition" means that the Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount is equal to or greater than \$6,500,000 or such other amount agreed to in writing between Parent and Diffusion.

"Contract" means all oral or written contracts, agreements, commitments, arrangements, leases and other instruments to which any Person is a party.

"CVR Agreement" means the Contingent Value Rights Agreement in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit F to be entered into by and between Parent and the Rights Agent, subject to review by the Rights Agent.

"Diffusion Award Plans" means the equity-based compensation plans identified in Section 9.11(b) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule.

"<u>Diffusion Benefit Plan</u>" means each Benefit Plan maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by Diffusion for the benefit of any current or former employee, director, officer or independent contractor of Diffusion, or under which Diffusion has any liability.

"<u>Diffusion Convertible Notes</u>" means, collectively, the 1.50% Amended Convertible A Promissory Notes, 1.00% Convertible B Promissory Notes, 1.00% Convertible C Promissory Notes, 1.00% Convertible E Promissory Notes and 1.00% Convertible F Promissory Notes, in each case, of Diffusion.

"Diffusion IPR" means any Intellectual Property Rights owned, in whole or in part, by Diffusion.

"Diffusion Material Adverse Effect" means any change, state of facts, circumstance, event or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, is materially adverse to (A) the financial condition, properties, assets, liabilities, obligations (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise), businesses or results of operations of Diffusion and/or (B) the ability of Diffusion to perform its obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, that any change, state of facts, circumstance, event or effect arising from or related to: (i) conditions generally affecting the United States economy or generally affecting one or more industries in which Diffusion operates; (ii) national or international political or social conditions, including terrorism or the engagement by the United States in hostilities or acts of war; (iii) financial, banking or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index); (iv) changes in GAAP or other accounting requirements; (v) changes in any Laws, rules, regulations, orders, or other binding directives issued by any Governmental Entity; (vi) the public announcement, pendency or completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (vii) any failure, in and of itself, by Diffusion to meet any internal or disseminated projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period (it being understood that the facts and circumstances giving rise or contributing to such failure may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Diffusion Material Adverse Effect), in each case, shall not be taken into account in determining whether a "Diffusion Material Adverse Effect" has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur with respect to Diffusion.

"<u>Diffusion Permits</u>" means all governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, certificates, registrations, consents, franchises, variances, exemptions, Orders and approvals required to own, lease and operate Diffusion's properties and to carry on its business as currently conducted.

"<u>Diffusion Related Parties</u>" means (1) Diffusion and (2) the former, current and future (A) Affiliates, (B) directors, officers, managers, employees, agents, attorneys, consultants, advisors or other representatives and (C) general or limited partners, managers, shareholders, members, partners, successors, permitted assigns, in each case, of Diffusion or any Affiliate of Diffusion.

"Diffusion Unit Option" means any option to purchase Diffusion Units granted under any Diffusion Award Plan.

"Environmental Law" means any foreign, federal, state or local law, treaty, statute, rule, regulation, Order, ordinance, decree, Injunction, judgment, governmental restriction, binding agreement with any Governmental Entity or any other requirement of Law (including common law) regulating or relating to the protection of human health from exposure to any Hazardous Substance, natural resource damages or the protection of the environment or species, including Laws relating to the protection of wetlands, pollution, contamination or the use, generation, management, handling, transport, treatment, recycling, disposal, storage, Release or threatened Release of Hazardous Substances.

"Estimated Per Share Exchange Ratio" means the ratio of the Estimated Per Share Number to one (1).

"<u>Estimated Per Share Number</u>" means the Closing Diffusion Share Amount divided by the Diffusion Fully Diluted Share Amount; <u>provided</u>, that for purposes of calculating the Estimated Per Share Number, the term "Final Parent Net Cash Amount" in the definitions of "Parent Net Cash Difference" and "Parent Percentage" shall be replaced by the term "Estimated Parent Net Cash Amount."

"Equity Equivalents" of any Person means (x) any securities convertible into or exchangeable for, or any warrants or options or other rights to acquire, any capital stock, voting securities or equity interests of such Person, (y) any warrants or options or other rights to acquire from such Person, or any other obligation of such Person to issue, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, delivered or sold, any capital stock, voting securities or other equity interests in such Person or (z) any rights that are linked in any way to the price of any capital stock or equity interests of, or to the value of or of any part of, or to any dividends or distributions paid on any capital stock or other equity interests of, such Person.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"FDA" means the United States Food and Drug Administration.

"Final Parent Net Cash Amount" means the Parent Net Cash Amount as finally determined pursuant to Section 6.12(b).

"<u>Forfeitures and Cashless Settlements</u>" by any Person means (x) the forfeiture or satisfaction of Equity Equivalents of such Person, (y) the acceptance by such Person of shares of common stock of such Person as payment for the exercise price of Equity Equivalents of such Person and (z) the acceptance by such Person of shares of common stock of such Person for withholding Taxes incurred in connection with the exercise of Equity Equivalents of such Person or the vesting or satisfaction of Equity Equivalents of such Person, in each case, in accordance with past practice of such Person and the terms of the applicable award agreements.

"Former Diffusion Holder" means any Person that receives Merger Consideration pursuant to this Agreement.

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied.

"Governmental Entity" means any nation or government, any state, agency, commission, or other political subdivision thereof, any insurance regulatory authority, any self-regulatory authority, or any entity (including a court) of competent jurisdiction properly exercising executive, legislative, judicial or administration functions of the government.

"Grant Date" means, with respect to any Parent Stock Option or Diffusion Unit Option, the date on which such Parent Stock Option or Diffusion Unit Option was granted to the holder of such Parent Stock Option or Diffusion Unit Option, respectively.

"Health Laws" means all healthcare laws, including any and all federal, state and local fraud and abuse laws, including the federal Anti-Kickback Statute (42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7(b)), the civil False Claims Act (31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq.) and the regulations promulgated pursuant to such statutes.

"HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended.

"Independent Accountant" means the New York, New York office of one of the following accounting firms as selected by Parent in its sole discretion: PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC US), Ernst & Young LLP, McGladrey LLP, Grant Thornton LLP, BDO USA LLP, Crowe Horwath LLP, CliftonLarsonAllen LLP or Baker Tilly Virchow Krause LLP; provided, that if any such firm informs Parent that it is unwilling or unable to serve as the Independent Accountant, Parent may select another firm from the foregoing list.

"Injunction" means any Order, injunction or decree issued by any court or agency of competent jurisdiction or other legal restraint or prohibition.

"Intellectual Property Rights" means any and all intellectual and industrial property rights and other similar proprietary rights, in any jurisdiction, whether registered or unregistered, including without limitation all rights pertaining to or deriving from: (a) patents and patent applications, utility models, design registrations and certificates of invention and other grants for the protection of inventions or industrial designs by any Governmental Entity (including all related continuations, continuations-in-part, divisions, reexaminations, extensions reissues, and counterparts claiming priority therefrom) (collectively, "Patents"); (b) inventions, invention disclosures, discoveries and improvements, whether or not patented or patentable; (c) works of authorship, including designs, data and database rights and registrations and applications for registration thereof and all rights associated with works of authorship, including moral rights of authors ("Copyrights"); (d) computer software and firmware, including without limitation without limitation data files, source code, object code and software-related specifications and documentation (collectively "Software"); (e) trademarks, trade names, service marks, certification marks, service names, brands, trade dress slogans, logos and other similar source or origin indicators, whether registered or unregistered, and all registrations and applications for registration therefor, and the goodwill associated therewith (collectively, "Trademarks"); (f) trade secrets (including without limitation without limitation those trade secrets defined in the Uniform Trade Secrets Act and under corresponding foreign statutory Law and common law), non-public information, and confidential information, business, technical and know-how information, and rights to limit the use or disclosure thereof by any Person (collectively "Trade Secrets"); (g) domain names; and (h) proprietary databases and data compilations and all documentation relating to the foregoing with or by any Governme

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

"Knowledge of Parent" or "Knowledge" when used in reference to Parent means the knowledge after reasonable inquiry with respect to such individual's areas of primary responsibility of those individuals listed in Section 9.11(a) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

"Knowledge of Diffusion" or "Knowledge" when used in reference to Diffusion means the knowledge after reasonable inquiry with respect to such individual's areas of primary responsibility of those individuals listed in Section 9.11(c) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule.

"Law" means any statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation (domestic or foreign) issued, promulgated or entered into by or with any Governmental Entity.

"Order" means any order, writ, Injunction, decree, judgment or stipulation issued, promulgated or entered into by or with any Governmental Entity.

"Organizational Documents" means, with respect to any Person, as applicable, its certificate of incorporation, articles of organization, bylaws, operating agreement and/or other similar organizational documents.

"<u>Parent Benefit Plan</u>" means each Benefit Plan maintained, contributed to, or required to be contributed to, by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries for the benefit of any current or former employee, director, officer or independent contractor of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or under which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries has any liability.

"Parent Board Resignations" means the resignations delivered by the current directors of Parent in the form attached hereto as Exhibit G.

"Parent Bonus Payment Amount" means the aggregate amount of any stay bonus, retention bonus, change in control bonus or transaction completion bonus required to be paid to any current or former directors, officers or employees of Parent or its Subsidiaries as a result of or in connection with the consummation of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including as a result of a "double trigger" provision where the Closing is the first such trigger and the second trigger occurs within sixty (60) days of the Closing Date), including, for the avoidance of doubt, the payments set forth on Section 9.11(b) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

"Parent Indebtedness Amount" means, as of the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the Closing Date, without duplication, the amount of all principal, interest, premiums or other obligations of Parent and its Subsidiaries related to (a) any indebtedness for borrowed money, (b) any obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than trade accounts payable in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice), (c) any obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments, and the amount of all checks drawn in excess of balances, (d) any indebtedness created or arising under a conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to acquired property, (e) any obligations as lessee under leases that have been or should be recorded as capital leases, (f) any obligations, contingent or otherwise, under acceptance, letter of credit or similar facilities, (g) any obligations owing pursuant to factoring agreements for accounts receivable and all obligations under swap or derivative agreements, (h) any Parent Indebtedness Amount of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (g) above guaranteed directly or indirectly in any manner by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (i) any Parent Indebtedness Amount of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (g) above that is secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any lien on property (including accounts and contract rights) owned by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, even though such Person has not assumed, become liable for or guaranteed the payment of such Indebtedness, and (j) all accrued but unpaid interest (or interest equivalent) to the date of determination, and all prepayment premiums or penalties, related to any items of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (i) above.

"Parent IPR" means any Intellectual Property Rights owned, in whole or in part, by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.

"Parent Material Adverse Effect" means any change, state of facts, circumstance, event or effect that, individually or in the aggregate, is materially adverse to (A) the financial condition, properties, assets, liabilities, obligations (whether accrued, absolute, contingent or otherwise), businesses or results of operations of Parent and the Parent Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and/or (B) the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement; provided, however, that any change, state of facts, circumstance, event or effect arising from or related to: (i) conditions generally affecting the United States economy or generally affecting one or more industries in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate; (ii) national or international political or social conditions, including terrorism or the engagement by the United States in hostilities or acts of war; (iii) financial, banking or securities markets (including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index); (iv) changes in GAAP or other accounting requirements; (v) changes in any Laws, rules, regulations, orders, or other binding directives issued by any Governmental Entity; (vi) the public announcement, pendency or completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; or (vii) any failure, in and of itself, by Parent to meet any internal or disseminated projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions for any period (it being understood that the facts and circumstances giving rise or contributing to such failure may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Parent Material Adverse Effect), in each case, shall not be taken into account in determining whether a "Parent Material Adverse Effect" has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur with respect to Parent or Merger Sub.

"Parent Net Cash Amount" means, as of the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the Closing Date, the cash and liquid funds of Parent and its Subsidiaries <u>less</u>, without duplication, (i) the Parent Working Capital Liability Amount, (ii) the Parent Indebtedness Amount, (iii) the Parent Other Liability Amount, (iv) the Parent Bonus Payment Amount, (v) the amount of Transaction Expenses incurred by Parent or Merger Sub (but specifically excluding any Transaction Expenses incurred by Diffusion that are paid by Parent or the Surviving Company on behalf of Diffusion if the Merger is consummated (including any costs associated with the Diffusion Tail Policy)), (vi) 50% of the amount of Transfer Taxes, (vii) the amount of outstanding checks of Parent and its Subsidiaries and (viii) the amounts set forth on Section 9.11(c) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

"Parent Other Liability Amount" means, as of the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the Closing Date, without duplication, the amount of the following, in each case, of Parent and its Subsidiaries: (a) restructuring and remediation accruals or financial instrument liabilities (e.g. swaps, hedges, etc.); (b) intercompany payables; and (c) severance obligations owing or payable by Parent or its Subsidiaries.

"<u>Parent Permits</u>" means all governmental licenses, authorizations, permits, certificates, registrations, consents, franchises, variances, exemptions, Orders and approvals required to own, lease and operate Parent and its Subsidiaries' respective properties and to carry on their respective businesses as currently conducted.

"<u>Parent Representative</u>" means Stephen M. Simes or, if Stephen M. Simes is unable to serve after the date hereof or resigns as the Parent Representative, Phillip B. Donenberg.

"Parent Stock" means, collectively, the Parent Common Stock and the Parent Preferred Stock.

"Parent Stock Option" means any option to purchase Parent Stock granted under any Parent Stock Plan.

"Parent Stock Plans" means the equity-based compensation plans identified in Section 9.11(d) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule.

"Parent Subsidiaries" means Canterbury Laboratories, LLC, Hygeia Therapeutics, Inc., ProElite, Inc., VasculoMedics, Inc., Paloma Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Pro Sports & Entertainment, Inc., Merger Sub and any other Subsidiary of Parent.

"Parent Warrants" means warrants to purchase Parent Common Stock.

"Parent Working Capital Liability Amount" means, as of the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the Closing Date, the following, in each case, of Parent and its Subsidiaries, without duplication: (a) accounts payable, which shall include all liabilities historically included by Parent and its Subsidiaries in their accounts payable accounts, including all payment obligations (evidenced by a received invoice) in respect of goods and services received on or prior to the date of determination), in each case unpaid as of the date of determination; (b) accrued expenses, which shall include all liabilities historically included by Parent and its Subsidiaries in their accrued expenses accounts, including accrued payroll and related liabilities, incurred on or prior to the date of determination but unpaid as of such date, but not including current payments of indebtedness; (c) customer deposits; (d) deferred revenue; (e) current Tax liabilities (and specifically excluding deferred Tax liabilities); and (f) other current liabilities, which shall include any current liability not specifically excluded under clauses (a) through (d) of this definition, to the extent consistent with Parent and its Subsidiaries' past practices and methodologies, including any subcontractor costs, employee expenses, advisory fees, and rent payments.

"Per Share Exchange Ratio" means the ratio of the Per Share Number to one (1).

"Per Share Number" means the Closing Diffusion Share Amount divided by the Diffusion Fully Diluted Share Amount, where:

- (a) "Closing Diffusion Share Amount" means the Total Post-Closing Share Amount minus the Parent Fully Diluted Share Amount;
- (b) "Parent Fully Diluted Share Amount" means a number equal to the sum of: (i) the number of outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock as of the date of this Agreement (18,614,968), plus (ii) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to outstanding Parent Stock Options as of the date of this Agreement with an exercise price of \$2.00 per share or less, as adjusted for any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or reorganization (6,650), plus (iii) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to outstanding Parent Warrants as of the date of this Agreement with an exercise price of \$2.00 per share or less, as adjusted for any stock split, stock dividend, recapitalization or reorganization (351,060), plus (iv) (without duplication to (i) through (iii)) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to any issuances after the date of this Agreement of Parent Common Stock, Parent Preferred Stock, Parent Stock Options, Parent Warrants or other securities convertible into or exercisable for Parent Common Stock, less (v) the number of shares of Parent Common Stock subject to Parent Stock Options, Parent Warrants or other securities convertible into or exercisable for Parent Common Stock that expire or are forfeited after the date of this Agreement but prior to the Effective Time, if any;
- (c) "<u>Parent Percentage</u>" means 0.17; <u>provided</u>, that if the Final Parent Net Cash Amount is greater than \$8,100,000 or less than \$7,900,000, the Parent Percentage shall instead mean (x) 0.17 <u>multiplied</u> by (y) an amount equal to the quotient of (i) the Parent Net Cash Amount and (ii) \$8,000,000.

- (d) "<u>Total Post-Closing Share Amount</u>" means the quotient (rounded down to the nearest whole number) of (i) the Parent Fully Diluted Share Amount, divided (ii) by the Parent Percentage; and
- (e) "Diffusion Fully Diluted Share Amount" means a number equal to the sum of: (i) the number of issued and outstanding Diffusion Units as of the date of this Agreement (18,083,369), plus (ii) the number of Diffusion Units subject to outstanding Diffusion Unit Options as of the date of this Agreement (4,100,000), plus (iii) the number of Diffusion Units issuable upon conversion of outstanding Diffusion Convertible Notes as of the date of this Agreement (5,366,649), plus (iv) (without duplication to (i) through (iii)) the number of Diffusion Units subject to any issuances after the date of this Agreement of Diffusion Units, Diffusion Unit Options or other securities convertible into or exercisable for Diffusion Units, less (v) the number of Diffusion Units subject to Diffusion Unit Options or other securities convertible into or exercisable for Diffusion Units that expire or are forfeited after the date of this Agreement but prior to the Effective Time, if any.

"Permitted Liens" means (a) any Liens for Taxes or other governmental charges not yet due and payable or the amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (b) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, repairmen's, workmen's, landlords' or other similar Liens not yet due and payable or the amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (c) pledges or deposits in the ordinary course of business and on a basis consistent with past practice in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance or other social security legislation, (d) non-monetary Liens that do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair the continued or contemplated use or operation of the property to which they relate, (e) statutory Liens arising by operation of Law with respect to a liability incurred in the ordinary course of business on a basis consistent with past practice which is not yet due or payable or which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings, (f) immaterial easements, rights of way or other similar matters or restrictions or exclusions that would be shown by a current title report or other similar report and that do not, individually or in the aggregate, materially impair the continued or contemplated use or operation of the property to which they relate, (g) transfer restrictions imposed by applicable securities laws and (h) Liens listed on Section 9.11(d) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule, as applicable.

"Person" means any natural person, firm, corporation, partnership, company, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, Governmental Entity or other entity.

"Registrable Securities" means shares of Parent Common Stock held or otherwise beneficially owned by a Former Diffusion Holder, including any shares of Parent Common Stock which are acquired by such a Former Diffusion Holder upon consummation of the Merger and any other securities issued or issuable with respect to such Parent Common Stock by way of a share dividend or share split or in connection with a combination of shares, recapitalization, merger, consolidation or reorganization; provided that any Registrable Security will cease to be a Registrable Security when (a) a Registration Statement covering such Registrable Security has been declared effective by the SEC and such Registrable Security has been disposed of pursuant to such effective Registration Statement, (b) such time as Rule 144 (or any similar provisions then in force) promulgated under the Securities Act or another similar exemption under the Securities Act is available for the sale of such Registrable Security without any volume limitations or (c) such Registrable Security shall have been otherwise transferred and a new certificate for it not bearing a legend restricting further transfer under the Securities Act shall have been delivered by Parent; provided, further, that any security that has ceased to be a Registrable Security shall not thereafter become a Registrable Security and any security that is issued or distributed in respect of securities that have ceased to be Registrable Securities shall also not be Registrable Securities.

"Registration Expenses" means all expenses incurred by Parent in complying with Section 6.11, including all registration and filing fees, printing expenses, road show expenses, fees and disbursements of counsel and independent public accountants for Parent, fees and expenses (including counsel fees) incurred in connection with complying with state securities or "blue sky" laws, fees of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., transfer taxes, fees of transfer agents and registrars, and the reasonable fees and disbursements of one legal counsel for the selling holders of Registrable Securities selected by holders of a majority of such Registrable Securities, but excluding any underwriting discounts and selling commissions only to the extent applicable on a per share basis to Registrable Securities of the selling holders.

"Registration Statement" means any registration statement of Parent filed or to be filed with the SEC under the rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act, including the related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, and including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.

"Release" means any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring, dumping, emptying, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration on or into the indoor or outdoor environment.

"Rights Agent" means Computershare Inc. or one of its Affiliates, in its capacity as the initial Rights Agent under the CVR Agreement.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Subsidiary", with respect to any Person, means any corporation, partnership, limited liability company or other organization, whether incorporated or unincorporated, (A) of which such Person or any other Subsidiary of such Person is a general partner (excluding partnerships, the general partnership interests of which held by such Person or any Subsidiary of such Person do not have a majority of the voting interests in such partnership) or (B) a majority of the securities or other interests of which having by their terms ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors or others performing similar functions with respect to such corporation or other organization is directly or indirectly owned or controlled by such Person or by any one or more of its Subsidiaries, or by such Person and one or more of its Subsidiaries.

"Superior Proposal" means a bona fide written Acquisition Proposal (provided, that for purposes of this definition, references to 20% in the definition of "Acquisition Proposal" are deemed to be references to 50%) which the board of directors or sole member, as applicable, of the party that is the subject of the Acquisition Proposal determines in good faith (after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisor): (i) to be reasonably likely to be consummated if accepted; and (ii) to be more favorable to such party's equityholders from a financial point of view than the Merger, in each case, taking into account at the time of determination all relevant circumstances, including the various legal, financial and regulatory aspects of the proposal, all the terms and conditions of such proposal and this Agreement, any changes to the terms of this Agreement offered by the other party in response to such Acquisition Proposal and the ability of the Person making such Acquisition Proposal to consummate the transactions contemplated by such Acquisition Proposal (based upon, among other things, expectation of obtaining required approvals).

"<u>Tax</u>" means all income, gross receipts, franchise, sales, use, ad valorem, property, payroll, withholding, excise, severance, transfer, employment, estimated, alternative or add-on minimum, value added, stamp, occupation, premium, environmental and windfall profits taxes, and other taxes, charges, fees, levies, imposts, customs, duties, licenses or other assessments, together with any interest, additions to tax, and any penalties.

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means any statement, report, return, information return or claim for refund relating to Taxes (including any elections, declarations, schedules or attachments thereto), including, if applicable, any combined or consolidated return for any group of entities that includes Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or Diffusion.

"<u>Taxing Authority</u>" means, with respect to any Tax, the Governmental Entity that imposes such Tax, and the agency (if any) charged with the collection of such Tax for such Governmental Entity.

"<u>Treasury Regulations</u>" means the regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department of the Treasury (whether in final, proposed or temporary form), as the same may be amended from time to time.

"<u>Voting and Lock-Up Agreements</u>" means the voting and lock-up agreements in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit H</u> to be entered into by and between Parent and each of (i) the current directors and executive officers of Parent set forth on Section 9.11(e) of the Parent Disclosure Schedule (the "<u>Parent Lock-Up Parties</u>") and (ii) the current directors and executive officers of Diffusion set forth on Section 9.11(e) of the Diffusion Disclosure Schedule (the "<u>Diffusion Lock-Up Parties</u>").

Section 9.12 <u>Waiver of Conflict Regarding Representation; Non-Assertion of Attorney-Client Privilege</u>. Diffusion waives and will not assert, and agrees to cause Parent and the Surviving Company to waive and to not assert after the Effective Time, any conflict of interest arising out of or relating to the representation after the Closing of Parent or any former officer, employee or director of Parent (any such Person, a "<u>Designated Person</u>") in any matter or Proceeding involving this Agreement, any agreements entered into pursuant hereto or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby by Oppenheimer Wolff & Donnelly LLP or any other legal counsel currently representing Parent in connection with this Agreement, any agreements entered into pursuant hereto or the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (the "<u>Current Representation</u>").

#### Section 9.13 <u>Interpretation</u>.

- (a) When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, a Section, Exhibit or Schedule, such reference shall be to an Article of, a Section of, or an Exhibit or Schedule to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation" (regardless of whether the words "without limitation" appear in such instance). The words "hereof," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term. References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns.
- (b) The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement with the assistance of counsel and other advisors and, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as jointly drafted by the parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement or interim drafts of this Agreement.

\*\*\*\*\*

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement and Plan of Merger to be duly executed as of the day and year first above written.

## RESTORGENEX CORPORATION

By: /s/ Stephen M. Simes Name: Stephen M. Simes Title: Chief Executive Officer

## ARCO MERGER SUB, LLC

By: /s/ Stephen M. Simes

Name: Stephen M. Simes

Title: Chief Executive Officer & President

## DIFFUSION PHARMACEUTICALS LLC

By: /s/ David G. Kalergis
Name: David G. Kalergis
Title: Chief Executive Officer

[Signature Page to Merger Agreement]





FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE OTCQX: RESX

### RestorGenex and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Announce Merger Agreement

--Proposed Merger Would Create an Oncology-focused Biotechnology Company --

--Combined Company Expects to Initiate Phase III Clinical Trial in GBM for Orphan Drug-designated TSC in 2016--

Buffalo Grove, Illinois and Charlottesville, Virginia (December 15, 2015) — RestorGenex Corporation (OTCQX: RESX) and Diffusion Pharmaceuticals LLC, a privately-held biotechnology company, announced today that they have entered into a definitive merger agreement under which a newly formed subsidiary of RestorGenex will merge with and into Diffusion in an all-stock transaction, with Diffusion surviving as a wholly owned subsidiary of RestorGenex. Upon completion, RestorGenex will issue to Diffusion equity holders shares of RestorGenex common stock such that the current equity holders of Diffusion will own approximately 83% of the combined company's outstanding shares and current stockholders of RestorGenex will own approximately 17%. These percentage ownerships are subject to potential adjustment depending upon the amount of net cash of RestorGenex at closing as provided in the merger agreement. In addition, immediately prior to the merger, RestorGenex plans to distribute to its then current stockholders contingent value rights (CVRs) providing payment rights with respect to the first \$50 million of net proceeds arising from a future sale, transfer, license or similar transaction involving RestorGenex's RES-440 product candidate for the treatment of acne vulgaris. Any current RestorGenex option or warrant holder would, at the time of exercise, be entitled to receive one CVR for each share of RestorGenex common stock issued upon exercise of the option and warrant, which would entitle the holder to a pro rata portion of any CVR payments made.

The current directors and executive officers of RestorGenex will resign from their positions with RestorGenex upon the closing of the proposed merger, and the combined company will be under the leadership of Diffusion's current executive management team with David G. Kalergis serving as chief executive officer. The board of directors of the combined company is expected to consist of six members, all of whom will be designated by Diffusion. The corporate headquarters of the combined company will be located in Charlottesville, Virginia. Following completion of the merger, the combined company will be renamed Diffusion Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

The proposed merger will create a clinical-stage company with a diversified development portfolio of product candidates addressing novel targets in oncology, including several orphan indications. Initially, the combined company will be focused on the development of Diffusion's lead molecule *trans sodium crocetinate* (TSC). TSC has received orphan drug designation for the treatment of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) and expects to enter a Phase III study in newly diagnosed GBM patients in 2016. Future development of TSC includes other orphan indications such as pancreatic cancer and brain metastases. TSC's novel mechanism of action enhances the diffusion of oxygen to cancerous tumors, improving the effects of cancer treatments such as radiation therapy and chemotherapy.

Stephen M. Simes, RestorGenex's chief executive officer, stated, "We have chosen to combine with Diffusion in order to add a clinical-ready product to our oncology portfolio. Specifically the key Diffusion product is scheduled to enter a Phase III clinical trial in 2016 thereby accelerating our product development dramatically. The board and management of RestorGenex conducted an extensive process and thorough review of strategic alternatives and we believe the proposed merger provides an attractive opportunity for value appreciation for RestorGenex's stockholders."

David Kalergis, chief executive officer of Diffusion Pharmaceuticals, added, "We expect to be positioned to move forward with a pivotal Phase III trial of TSC in newly diagnosed GBM patients, with plans to begin enrollment in 2016. We also are planning to commence a Phase II/III trial in pancreatic cancer in 2016 with a Phase II/III study in brain metastases to follow. The merger between Diffusion and RestorGenex will provide improved access to the capital markets, in order to obtain the resources necessary to accelerate development of TSC in multiple clinical programs and continue to build an oncology-focused company."

The transaction has been approved unanimously by the boards of directors of both companies. The proposed merger is expected to close in the first quarter of 2016, subject to customary closing conditions, including the approval of Diffusion's members.

Raymond James & Associates, Inc. is acting as exclusive financial advisor to RestorGenex and Oppenheimer Wolff & Donnelly LLP is acting as legal counsel for RestorGenex. MTS Securities, LLC. is acting as exclusive financial advisor to Diffusion and Dechert LLP is acting as legal counsel to Diffusion.

The offer and sale of RestorGenex common stock and any other securities in connection with the merger have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the securities laws of any other jurisdiction. Because the securities are not registered, the securities may not be offered or sold in the United States absent registration or an exemption from registration. This release shall not constitute an offer to sell, or the solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities, nor shall there be any sales of the securities mentioned in this release in any state in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such state.

#### **About Diffusion Pharmaceuticals**

Diffusion Pharmaceuticals is a clinical stage biotechnology company focused on extending the life expectancy of cancer patients by improving the effectiveness of current standard-of-care treatments including radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Diffusion is developing its lead drug, *trans sodium crocetinate* (TSC), for use in the many cancers types in which tumor hypoxia (oxygen deprivation) is known to diminish the effectiveness of current treatments. TSC targets the cancer's hypoxic micro-environment, re-oxygenating treatment-resistant tissue and making the cancer cells more vulnerable to the therapeutic effects of treatments such as radiation therapy and chemotherapy, without the apparent addition of any serious side effects. TSC has potential application in other indications involving hypoxia, such as stroke and neurodegenerative diseases.

A Phase II clinical program, completed in the second quarter of 2015, evaluated 59 patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma multiforme (GBM). The study demonstrated a favorable safety and efficacy profile for TSC combined with standard of care. This trial has been the basis for discussions with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. A Phase III program in newly diagnosed GBM is expected to commence in 2016. Additional planned studies include a Phase II/III trial in pancreatic cancer, also expected to commence in 2016. A Phase II/III study in brain metastases is also being planned. TSC's novel mechanism safely re-oxygenates a range of tumor types, so its therapeutic potential is not limited to specific tumors, thereby making it potentially useful to improve current standard-of-care treatments of many life-threatening cancers.

#### **About Treatment-Resistant Cancers and TSC**

Oxygen deprivation at the cellular level ("hypoxia") is the result of rapid tumor growth, causing the tumor to outgrow its blood supply. Cancerous tumor cells thrive on hypoxia and the resultant changes in the tumor microenvironment confer "treatment-resistance" to radiation therapy and chemotherapy. Using a novel, proprietary mechanism of action, Diffusion's lead drug TSC counteracts tumor hypoxia – and therefore treatment-resistance – by safely re-oxygenating tumor tissue, thus enhancing tumor kill and potentially prolonging patients' life expectancy. Oxygen levels of normal brain tissue remain unaffected upon administration of TSC, thereby avoiding the introduction of harmful side effects.

## **About TSC Clinical Trial Programs in Brain and Pancreatic Cancers**

Glioblastoma (GBM) is the most common and aggressive form of primary brain cancer and is also considered one of the most hypoxic of solid tumors. In 2015, Diffusion completed a Phase I/II study of TSC in 59 patients with newly diagnosed GBM. The results demonstrated that people who received TSC plus standard-of-care radiotherapy and temozolomide chemotherapy had an improvement in survival compared to an historical control group. Median survival in the TSC treated patients was 16.3 months with a one year survival of 71.2% and a two year survival of 36.3%.

Health-related quality of life measures, including global health status and physical, social and motor functioning, remained stable or improved in TSC-treated patients during the trial. No serious negative safety findings attributed to TSC were observed in the study and adverse events were consistent with those seen in previous trials of GBM featuring radiation therapy and temozolomide chemotherapy.

In August 2015, agreement was reached with the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) on the design of a single 400 patient Phase III study that would support registration of TSC for the treatment of newly diagnosed GBM patients in combination with radiation and/or chemotherapy.

Discussion is currently underway with the FDA regarding design of a planned Phase II/III trial in pancreatic cancer. Pancreatic cancer is among the most deadly of cancers, showing an average 5-year survival rate of less than 10%. It is also considered to be one of the most hypoxic cancers.

A Phase II/III trial in brain metastases is being planned. Metastatic brain cancer is a form of cancer that has spread from a primary tumor location elsewhere to the brain. The median survival following conventional radiation therapy is three to six months, demonstrating the substantial unmet medical need.

GBM, pancreatic cancer and brain metastases are all rare conditions considered eligible for FDA Orphan Drug Designation. For additional information about Diffusion, please visit <a href="https://www.diffusionpharma.com">www.diffusionpharma.com</a>.

#### **About RestorGenex Corporation**

RestorGenex is a specialty biopharmaceutical company focused on developing a portfolio of first-in-class therapeutic products to treat diseases across the oncologic, ophthalmologic and dermatologic space. RestorGenex's lead product is a novel PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway inhibitor, which has completed two Phase I clinical trials for age-related macular degeneration and is in pre-clinical development for glioblastoma multiforme. The current pipeline also includes a "soft" anti-androgen compound for the treatment of acne vulgaris. RestorGenex's novel inhibition of the PI3K pathway and unique targeting of the androgen receptor show promise in a number of additional diseases, which RestorGenex is evaluating for the purpose of creating safe and effective treatments and innovative therapies. For additional information please see: <a href="https://www.restorgenex.com">www.restorgenex.com</a>.

#### Where to Find Additional Information about the Proposed Merger

In connection with the proposed merger, RestorGenex will file relevant materials with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including one or more Current Reports on Form 8-K and a Schedule 14f-1. INVESTORS AND SECURITY HOLDERS OF RESTORGENEX AND DIFFUSION ARE URGED TO READ THESE MATERIALS CAREFULLY WHEN THEY BECOME AVAILABLE BECAUSE THEY CONTAIN OR WILL CONTAIN IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT RESTORGENEX, DIFFUSION, THE PROPOSED MERGER AND THE OTHER TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE MERGER AGREEMENT. The relevant materials (when they become available), and any other documents filed by RestorGenex with the SEC, may be obtained free of charge at the SEC web site at <a href="https://www.sec.gov">www.sec.gov</a>. In addition, investors and security holders may obtain free copies of the documents filed with the SEC by RestorGenex by directing a written request to: RestorGenex Corporation, 2150 East Lake Cook Road, Suite 750, Buffalo Grove, IL 60089, Attention: Investor Relations.

### **Forward-Looking Statements**

To the extent any statements made in this news release deal with information that is not historical, these are forward-looking statements under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the proposed transaction between RestorGenex and Diffusion, the terms, timing, conditions to and anticipated completion of the proposed transaction, the expected ownership of the combined company and the composition of the combined company's board of directors and management team; the anticipated distribution to RestorGenex stockholders of contingent value rights (CVRs) immediately prior to the merger and the terms, timing and value of such CVRs, the potential benefits of the proposed transaction to the RestorGenex stockholders and Diffusion members, the combined company's plans, objectives, expectations and intentions with respect to future operations and products, the potential of the combined company's technology and product candidates, the anticipated timing of future clinical trials, the anticipated financial position, operating results and growth prospects of the combined company and other statements that are not historical in nature, particularly those that utilize terminology such as "would," "will," "plans," "possibility," "potential," "future," "expects," "anticipates," "believes," "intends," "continue," "expects," other words of similar meaning, derivations of such words and the use of future dates. Forward-looking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees, uncertain. Uncertainties and risks may cause RestorGenex's and the combined company's actual results to be materially different than those expressed in or implied by such forward-looking statements. Particular uncertainties and risks include, among others, the failure of the Diffusion members to approve the transaction, the risk that RestorGenex's net cash at closing will be lower than currently anticipated or the failure of either party to meet the other conditions to the closing of the transaction; delays in completing the transaction and the risk that the transaction may not be completed at all; the failure to realize the anticipated benefits from the transaction or delay in realization thereof; the businesses of RestorGenex and Diffusion may not be combined successfully, or such combination may take longer, be more difficult, time-consuming or costly to accomplish than expected; operating costs and business disruption during the pendency of and following the transaction, including adverse effects on employee retention and on business relationships with third parties; the risk that the CVRs may not be distributed prior to the completion of the merger or at all or may not be paid out or result in any value to RestorGenex's stockholders; general business and economic conditions; the combined company's need for and ability to obtain additional financing; and the difficulty of developing pharmaceutical products, obtaining regulatory and other approvals and achieving market acceptance. More detailed information on these and additional factors that could affect RestorGenex's actual results are described in RestorGenex's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including its most recent quarterly report on Form 10-Q. All forward-looking statements in this news release speak only as of the date of this news release and are based on RestorGenex's current beliefs and expectations. RestorGenex undertakes no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

# **Diffusion Pharmaceuticals Contacts**

David Kalergis Chief Executive Officer Diffusion Pharmaceuticals (434) 220-0718 dkalergis@diffusionpharma.com

Stephanie Carrington ICR Inc. (646) 277-1282 Stephanie.Carrington@icrinc.com

# **RestorGenex Contacts**

Stephen M. Simes Chief Executive Officer RestorGenex <u>ssimes@restorgenex.com</u>

Phillip B. Donenberg Chief Financial Officer RestorGenex pdonenberg@restorgenex.com